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Composition and Strength of Columns, Transvaal War, mid-1901
composition and strength of columns engaged in major-general bruce-hamilton's operations in

southern orange river colony .1

columns engaged in major-general charles knox's operations in central orange river colony. colonel
pilcher's column.

The Transvaal War

columns engaged in major-general elliot's operations in northern orange river colony.
columns engaged in lieut.-colonel western's operations on the vaal river.
Composition and Strength of Columns

columns engaged in clearing the east of the orange river colony.

columns engaged in operations in the south-west transvaal.

The Transvaal War

columns engaged in operations between the delagoa and natal lines.

columns engaged in brigadier-general plumer's operations in south-eastern transvaal.

Composition and Strength of Columns
MAJOR-GENERAL BEATSON'S OPERATIONS.

columns engaged in lieut.-general sir bindon blood's operations in the eastern transvaal.
columns engaged in operations on the pietersburg line.
OPERATIONS IN THE STANDERTON-HEIDELBERG DISTRICT.
The Transvaal War

columns engaged in operations in cape colony.
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Foreword

This encyclopedia has been arranged so that the reader can access the information in more than one
way. If a particular topic is dealt with under a headword, it is possible to go immediately to the
relevant page within the A—Z section. Alternatively, the headwords can be found in the chronology,
where they are shown in bold type, and thus the entries can be consulted in the sequence of the events
they describe. The Introduction attempts to discuss some of the broader issues that are of interest in
the study of the Anglo-Boer War of 1899-1902 and the Index provides access to references to
people, places or things which are not necessarily the principal subject of the main entries, but which
can be found within the entries.

The appendix material at the end of the book includes first-hand reports of a number of incidents
which reflect not only something of the experience described but also something of the attitudes
common at the time which are, perhaps, a little strange to the modern reader. There are also some
original documents, chosen because they are commonly misquoted or misrepresented, either by
accident or design, by writers with a particular view to promote.

I have tried to remain objective in what [ have written, but in some instances I have certainly
failed. Where contrary views of substance are known to me, I have pointed them out. The critical
reader will have no difficulty in guessing that, for example, I think Sir Redvers Buller has been
unjustly treated by some historians. The references cited include works providing views which differ
from my own as well as books that go more deeply into the issues than is possible here. The main
entries are linked to other entries by see alsosuggestions which I hope will lead to unexpected and
satisfying new information as well as offering a narrative thread to follow.

The preparation of this book owes much to those to whom I have spoken and to whom I have
listened in recent years. They are many, and too many to list here. However, it is impossible to omit
words of appreciation to Dr Stephen Badsey, Fiona Barbour, Professor Ian Beckett, David Bryant,
Brigit Carlstein, George Durrant, Johan Hattingh, Colonel F. J. Jacobs, Professor John Laband, Pam
McFadden, Doug McMaster, Professor William Nasson, Colonel Mike Nolan, Colonel J. E. Nowers,
Professor Fransjohan Pretorius, Maggie Lindsay Roxburgh, Thomas B. Smyth, Professor André
Wessels, Lieutenant-commander Brian Witts and Colonel P. Worthy.

For permission to reproduce illustrations I am grateful to the Bodleian Library, Oxford, the
McGregor Museum, Kimberley, Northern Cape, the Museum of the Northamptonshire Regiment, The
Royal Engineers Museum, Chatham, and the Talana Museum, Dundee, Natal. I have benefited from
the generosity of owners of private collections, and I am indebted to Dermot Bambridge, Doug
McMaster, Deirdre Mobbs and Jan Deneys Reitz. The papers of Lord Methuen are the property of the
Trustees of the Corsham Estate and I thank James Methuen-Campbell for permitting the use of the
annotated map of the Modder River Bridge.
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Introduction

The White Men Arrive

The vast landscape of South Africa has been the setting for innumerable battles since the Dutch first
landed in the Cape in 1652, and no doubt many more before that time of which we have little or no
knowledge. The mission of Jan van Riebeeck, the leader of the first Dutch arrivals of around ninety
men, was to establish a staging point for ships of the Dutch East India Company to reprovision. Van
Riebeeck was to set up a fort and arrange for vegetables to be grown and to purchase cattle from the
indigenous Khoikhoi (known to the Europeans as Hottentots). The scheme was not a success and van
Riebeeck persuaded the directors of the Company to allow Dutch settlers to come unconditionally.
The first of them arrived in 1657. The settlement of Dutch market gardeners was an unhappy
experiment, for those willing to leave their homes and sail so far away were not content with hoeing
rows of beans. They wanted to farm and trade in good earnest which meant expanding beyond the first
little settlement at the Cape of Good Hope. At the south-western tip of the land a peninsula shaped
like a hammer-head divides Table Bay in the north from False Bay in the south and it was seriously
proposed that a channel should be dug between the two to separate the European settlement from
Africa itself. The notion was evidently ridiculous.

Stability was attained for a time under the expansionist reforms of Simon van der Stel in the
1680s. The boundaries of the settlement increased and the village of Stellenbosch was founded.
Modern farming methods produced greater yields of wheat and led to the establishment of vineyards.
The population was swelled with Dutch and German Protestants and, after the Revocation of the
Edict of Nantes in 1685, French Huguenots. Now about 800 strong, they overflowed beyond the
limitations of the original settlement around Cape Town. The van der Stel family became amazingly
wealthy and dominated the economy of the Cape, drawing the disparate nationalities of the farmers
together in resistance to them. This, and their Calvinist religious beliefs, nurtured an independence of
mind in the settlers, which was coupled with a simple faith that they were a chosen people in the eyes
of the Lord, free to go where they pleased and for whom the bounty of the land, including the black
people in it, was a gift from Him.

The search for grazing lands and the quest for game to hunt encouraged the settlers to push
eastwards, putting pressure on the San (Bushmen) of the interior and bringing them into contact with
the Xhosa on the Fish River to the east. It was to meet the challenge of the black African warriors that
the commando was developed, a unit in which all white men over 16 years of age were obliged to
serve, bringing their own horse and rations, and often their own gun. Expeditions were mounted
against the San and continued for more than 100 years. By the end of the 18th century the San had been
virtually exterminated. Khoikhoi society had also been destroyed by the expansion of the Afrikaners
to whom they became servants, after disease had been added to the decay consequent on the steady
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depletion of their herds of cattle. Slaves were imported, some from East Africa and
Mozambique, others Malays from the Dutch colonies in the Far East. They were said to have been
well-treated because of their scarcity, but it was not until the end of the 18th century that various
punishments of medieval cruelty were abolished — breaking on the wheel and slow strangulation
among them. By this time there were more slaves than whites in the colony.

The British Presence

The British entered the picture in 1795, a year after the Dutch East India Company went bankrupt, and
at a time when the British were at war with France, from whom the Dutch settlement was “protected”.
At the end of hostilities twenty years later the Cape became British permanently. During the 1820s in
a series of great battles, the mfecane,the Zulu nation was established in the east of what is now South
Africa. Then, in the 1830s, the British abolished slavery, which was the last straw for the Dutch
farmers, or Boers as they now called themselves. Under leaders including Piet Retief and Piet Uys,
they migrated in what became known as the Great Trek. Between 1836 and 1846 some 14,000 people
left Cape Colony with their herds of cattle and goats, their furniture loaded into great wagons. They
crossed the Orange and Vaal rivers, pushing into the interior and down into Natal to find land. In
doing so they encountered more black Africans. Hendrick Potgieter fought the Ndebele in the north
and Piet Retief and Andries Pretorius fought the Zulu in the east. Numerous little republics were
founded as the Voortrekkerssquabbled amongst themselves, broke up and moved on. They were by no
means a united or harmonious group, coming together to resist external threats before dividing once
more in ill-temper and pride.

Meanwhile the British colonised the coast, founding Port Elizabeth and expanding Port Natal to
become Durban. The Sand River Convention of 1852 recognised the republic of Transvaal and the
Bloemfontein Convention of 1854 did the same for the republic of Orange Free State. Both the British
and the Boers lived in a state of intermittent warfare with the Africans around them. A new danger
arose in 1867 when a diamond was found on the banks of the Orange River at Hopetown. The
subsequent rush of prospectors can be analysed by examining the gravestones in the burial ground
there. Two years later the much greater riches of Kimberley were discovered and the Keate Award of
1871 declared the land to be part of Cape Colony — a very dubious finding that later led to the
payment of £90,000 to the Orange Free State in compensation. By this time there were 15,000 whites
in the area and in the next twenty-five years the black African population grew to half a million, of
whom a quarter were labourers, employed by the mine owners in competition with Boer farmers who
were hard pressed to afford even the miserable wages paid in the diamond diggings.

Boer Independence

The inability of the Boer Republics to dominate their black African neighbours led the British to
enforce a confederation and take up the fight against their former allies, the Zulu. The Zulu, after
inflicting heavy and humiliating defeats on the
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British, were eventually defeated in their turn. The relations between British and Boer
governments had, through the imposition and maladministration of taxes, decayed to such a point that
the latter sued for independence. When it was refused, they fought and, in the First Boer War or First
War of Independence, 1880-81, won. The defeats suffered at Langs Nek and Majuba Hill would be
remembered with bitterness by British regiments who were prevented from avenging themselves
because the Liberal government in Britain was eager to seek peace.

The stability of the Boer independence was overturned by the pressures that followed the
discovery of gold on the Witwatersrand in 1886. Huge numbers of foreigners, uitlanders,poured in
and, after a time, demanded political recognition. Cecil Rhodes, by now a diamond and gold magnate
of immense wealth and influence, put further pressure on the Boers by occupying Mashonaland, now
part of Zimbabwe, as an individual imperialist and then, in 1895, attempting to overthrow the
government of the South African Republic (formerly Transvaal) with the raid commanded by his
crony, Dr Jameson. Although the raid was unsuccessful and Rhodes was subsequently discredited, the
British, in the shape of Sir Alfred Milner, maintained their political pressure on the Boer President
Kruger, and, in 1899, the Second Boer War began.

The Anglo-Boer War 1889—1902

The Boers had made good use of the revenues generated by gold and were well armed, both with
modern high-velocity rifles and with up-to-date artillery. They were able to put some 40,000 men in
the field against half the number of British and soon had Mafeking, on the western border with
Bechuanaland, Kimberley in the Northern Cape and Ladysmith in Natal under siege. However, this
was an error on the part of the Boers. Although British supply lines were long and relief would take
immense time and effort, the Boers had abandoned the strategy that made best use of their mobility.

The British government appears to have been rather neglectful of the problems that the army
would face in dealing with the farmers of the Boer republics. Only Sir Redvers Buller, the British
Commander-in-Chief, appeared to have any doubts about a swift defeat for the Boers as Britain went
to war in October 1899. Innumerable colonial wars had been fought and won all over the world, and
this was, most thought, just like the rest. By the end of December their error was evident. Three
problem areas could be identified at that stage: logistics; the lack of new weapons; and the lack of
good maps. Later in the war two further problems had to be solved: the containment and defeat of
mobile forces; and the care of refugees and prisoners.

Before the war broke out Buller had written to the Prime Minister, Lord Salisbury, to point out
the deficiency of troops: “We have, say, 13,000 men in South Africa . . . I estimate that . . . we could
get 5,000 men from India in five weeks . . . 10,000 men from England in eleven weeks. . .”. The
number he estimated necessary for the immediate conduct of war was 50,000, nearly twice the
number that were actually in South Africa when the war began. In addition, men, rations, munitions of
war, guns, horses and carts all had to be brought up on
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The Progress of the War

The war can be considered as falling into a number of phases and the chronology given in this book
has been arranged accordingly. The opening phase was that of the Boer offensive when their
commandos invaded Cape Colony and Natal. In the Cape the action was restricted to besieging
Kimberley and Mafeking, but in Natal the Boers went south of Ladysmith once the siege there was
established and obliged the British to fortify Pietermaritzburg in anticipation of their arrival. Indeed,
Durban itself, on the coast, was made ready for defence. The Boer leaders, older men who had fought
in the previous war against the British, decided to rely on the strategy that had won them their victory
in 1881: to wait for the British to attack, defeat them or hold them off and thus cause them to lose the
will to fight on. They therefore adopted static positions in place of the fluid front for which they were
so well suited and waited for their enemies.

The British reply began at the end of November 1899. Buller had advised against the attempt to
hold a line further north than the Tugela River in Natal, and was furious that he had been ignored and
that the siege of Ladysmith was taking place at all. His preference had been to strike at once and hard
for the Boer republics’ capitals of Bloemfontein and Pretoria from Cape Colony and ignore the rest
for the time being. As it was, Cecil Rhodes had contrived to get himself caught inside Kimberley and
was squawking for rescue and General White had managed to lock up a considerable number of
British troops in Ladysmith. Meanwhile the Boers had taken a number of towns in the north-eastern
Cape. Buller decided to adopt a holding stance in the case of the latter and to divide the rest of his
force in order to relieve Kimberley and Ladysmith.

On the western front, towards Kimberley, Lord Methuen made progress until, on 11 December,
he was stopped by the Boers at Magersfontein. In the centre General Gatacre was not content to adopt
a defensive approach and tried to improve his position by taking the railway junction at Stormberg.
He failed. Buller, apprehensive about the security of his lines of supply, attempted a frontal attack at
Colenso which he had the sense to call off before intolerable losses were sustained. These defeats
made up the events of “Black Week” and gave the Minister of War in London, Lord Lansdowne, the
chance he was waiting for to replace Buller with his former colleague in India, Lord Roberts.

As Roberts arrived on 10 January 1900 with his Chief of Staff, the man who had won fame in
Egypt and the Sudan, Lord Kitchener, the western and central fronts were inactive and the Natal front
was being prepared for an effort to outflank the Boers on the Tugela River by going to the west. The
attempt failed dramatically at Spioenkop and a second time at Vaalkrans. The Boer artillery
dominated the first of these battles, although at the end of the day both sides thought that they had lost
the action. The Boers reoccupied Spioenkop more through luck and a taste for early rising than by
force of arms. In the second of these two battles, the British artillery was much better handled, but the
Boers still had the advantage and Buller withdrew, rather than accept heavy casualties.

The third phase of the war was the offensive undertaken by Roberts. He had brought with him
substantial reinforcements, especially cavalry, and the British
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Roberts’s armies broke the final Boer entrenched positions at Bergendal (or Dalmanutha), well
to the east of Pretoria, on 27 August. Buller pursued some of the Boers to Lydenburg and eastwards
over Long Tom Pass while General Pole-Carew spent the next month pushing along the railway to
eject Kruger from his country by 24 September.

Guerrilla War

The fifth, the guerrilla, phase of the war now began. It was to last from September 1900 to the end of
May 1902. The Boers scattered from the eastern Transvaal and banded together under a number of
commanders. The major groups were those of Louis Botha in the south and eastern Transvaal, Koos
De le Rey in the western Transvaal, and Christiaan De Wet in the Orange Free State, although they
moved as freely outside these territories as within them. In addition to attacking any small group of
British they found, they derailed and ransacked trains and kept as many soldiers marching about in
futile pursuit of them as they could. In an attempt to add to British problems, the decision was taken to
send parties into Cape Colony and raise Afrikanders resident there in opposition to their British
colonial masters. Although about 10,000 responded, the vast majority decided they had no argument
with the British.

When the war entered the guerrilla phase, the British had to devise ways of catching the roving
commandos. The cumbersome British columns of marching infantry, ox-drawn supply wagons and
droves of black African servants gave way to more mobile mounted infantry and mounted black
Africans, but the vast open spaces of the veldt and the local knowledge of the Boers still gave the
latter the advantage. The construction of blockhouses, mainly along the railway lines, reduced the
territory open to the commandos, although to begin with the building of massive forts took too long
and was too expensive. Lord Kitchener was by now in command, and he turned to Major Spring R.
Rice, RE, who devised a circular corrugated iron structure that could be built in a day. These
blockhouses, with barbed wire fences between them, eventually spread like a spider’s web across the
land. More British soldiers arrived to man the blockhouse lines and more black Africans were
recruited and armed to patrol the intervals between the fortlets. The other step taken to curtail Boer
freedom of movement was to lay waste the farms. The policy created another problem for the British.

The old people, women, children and black people displaced by the scorched earth programme
joined the other refugees, those chased off the land by the Boers for co-operating with the British and
those fleeing the scenes of war. They were housed in camps. There the administration was
incompetent, the food and water inadequate or contaminated and the sanitation unequal to the task. A
few camps were well run, but, as Emily Hobhouse found to her surprise and horror, the majority were
death traps. The failure of the British to meet the challenge of the refugees (over 27,000 Boers died in
the concentration camps, and at least half as many black people) left an enduring bitterness in Boer
minds. Although, eventually, the worst of the errors were corrected, it was the abandonment of the
internment policy that helped to end the war. Who could be away on

I 4






Page xxi

Chronology

Bold type shows that an entry 1s given for this topic in the A—Z section. Place is expressed in terms of
place-names in common English usage at the outbreak of the 1899—1902 war.

Year Date/Month Place
Events before the Anglo-Boer War of 18991902

1652
1795
1815
1834

1836
46

1838 16 Dec.

1840
1843
1848

1852
1854

1867
1868

1871
1879
1880
1881 28 Jan.
1881 27 Feb.

1884

Cape
Cape
Cape
Cape
OFS

Zululand

Natal
Natal
OFS

Transvaal
OFS

N. Cape

Basutoland
becomes British
possession.

N. Cape
Transvaal

Natal
Natal

Event

Dutch colonisation begins.

First arrival of British at Cape Town.
British colonisation begins.

Slavery abolished.

In the Great Trek Boers migrate inland.

Boers under Pretorius win decisive victory over Zulus at
Blood River .

Boer Republic of Natalia (in Natal ) established.
British annex Natal .

Republic of Transorangia annexed by British, becoming
Orange River Sovereignty.

Sand River Convention gives Transvaal autonomy.

Bloemfontein Convention gives Orange Free State
autonomy.

Diamonds found at Hopetown .

British acquire diamond fields in Griqualand .

British annex Transvaal and, after losses, win Zulu War .
First Boer War (First War of Independence) begins.
Boer victory at Langs Nek .

Boers win at Majuba Hill, British general Colley killed.
Peace concluded.

The London Convention defines British/Boer
relationship.



1884

1886

1888

1893

1895
1895

1896

1897
1897

2 Jan.

Transvaal

Transvaal

Britain

Britain
Transvaal

Transvaal

N. Cape
Cape

Lucas Meyer becomes president of the Boer New
Republic, later merged with Transvaal.

Gold discovered in Transvaal; Uitlanders arrive.
British South Africa Company established by Cecil
Rhodes, gets charter to exploit Mashonaland and
Matabeleland .

The .303 Maxim-Vickers machine-gun goes into
production.

Joseph Chamberlain becomes British Colonial Secretary.
Delagoa Bay Railway completed, ending British control
of railway system .

Jameson Raid defeated at Doornkop . Reform Committee
in Johannesburg, including Karri Davies, arrested.
Railway built through Bechuanaland .

Milner appointed Governor of Cape, High Commissioner
to South Africa.
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A
Abraham’s Kraal, Battle of,

10 March 1900

See Driefontein, Battle of.

Acton Homes, Action at,

18 January 1900

The approach to the town of Ladysmith (which was held by the British) from the west was poorly
defended by the Boers in January 1900, but the British under Lieutenant-general Warren were not
flexible enough to seize the advantage. The attempt to break through the Boer line was therefore made
at Spioenkop, but, prior to this, Warren also missed an opportunity to outmanoeuvre the Boers at
Acton Homes.

Acton Homes, seven-and-a-half miles north-west of Spioenkop in Natal, was a farm which had
been garrisoned by the Boers. It commanded the approach to Ladysmith on the western flank of the
Boer line on the Tugela River, and when General Sir Redvers Buller was making the moves
preliminary to the battle at Spioenkop, Major H. W. G. Graham of the 5th (Royal Irish) Lancers saw
Boer reinforcements approaching and ambushed them. The ambush failed, but the weakness of the
Boer position was exposed and Lord Dundonald, the brigade commander, was keen to attack in force.
Lieutenant-general Sir Charles Warren, the divisional commander, would have none of it and recalled
the cavalry. The opportunity to outflank the Boers was missed and the bloodbath of Spioenkop
followed.

See also:
Spioenkop, Battle of.

Reference:

Carver, Michael, The NAM Book of the Boer War (London, Sidgwick & Jackson, 1999); Jones, Huw
M. and Meurig G. M. Jones, Gazetteer of the Second Anglo-Boer War 1899—1902 (Milton
Keynes, The Military Press, 1999).

Africans, Black



The 1dea that the South African War of 1899—-1902 was a white man’s war was a myth nurtured by
both the British and the Boers. Black Africans living in the British colonies, the Boer republics and
the surrounding colonies and protectorates played an active part in the war both as servants and as
members of the armed forces. Those in British service were, relatively speaking, well paid and they
expected their service to be recognised when the British were victorious, through the granting of
political rights after the war. In fact, they found themselves unemployed
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his army. In the Cape there were 2,496 blacks and 2,939 coloureds (of mixed race) and a further
4,618 blacks in the rest of South Africa, a total of 10,053 men.

The black Africans not in war service were not exempt from the effects of the war. They were
displaced from the farms either by Boer raids or by British clearances, ending up in refugee camps of
one kind or another, often in concentration camps. At least 14,154 died in the camps.

In the early peace negotiations a British requirement was that the black people should be at least
as advantaged politically as those in Cape Colony, but this provision was later dropped, largely with
the acquiescence of the British High Commissioner, Lord Milner. The end of the war was not only
disappointing in this respect, but also in economic terms. The black African economies had, like the
Boers’, been shattered by the war, but, unlike the Boers, they were given no support afterwards.
Furthermore, the war was the final blow to economic self-sufficiency for many black families and
tribes and they had no alternative to seeking work for wages from the white population. Politically
deprived and economically dependent, they were destined for the oppression of apartheid.

See also:
Agterryer; Concentration Camps, black; Esau, Abraham; Leliefontein, Massacre at.

Reference:

Hall, Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer
War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999); Jackson, Tabitha, The Boer War
(London, Macmillan, 1999); Nasson, William, “Africans at War”, Boer War: Direction,
Experience and Image,ed. J. Gooch (London, Frank Cass, 2000); Nasson, William, The South
African War 1899-1902 (London, Arnold, 1999); Pretorius, Fransjohan, The Anglo-Boer War
1899-1902 (Cape Town, Don Nelson, 1985); Warwick, Peter, Black People and the South
African War 1899-1902 (Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1983).

Afrikander Uprisings

The term Afrikander was used to describe people of Dutch descent, people termed Boers in the
Transvaal and Orange Free State republics, who were resident in, and subjects of, the British
colonies of Cape Colony and Natal. Part of the Boer purpose in invading Cape Colony was to recruit
Afrikanders to their cause. In the event, the response was very poor and, indeed, many Afrikanders
served in the British ranks.

See also:
Boer; Brabant, Major-general Sir Edward; Joiners.




Agterryer

A servant, literally an ‘after-rider’. Boer fighters were frequently accompanied by black African
servants who occasionally fought alongside their masters. They were not counted as part of the
fighting force and, although present in significant numbers, are rarely mentioned in accounts of the
campaigns. British forces also used black African labour and they
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were equally invisible to those recording events, except when something went wrong that could
be attributed to them.

Deneys Reitz, who wrote the best personal narrative account of the war, recounts that before the
Pretoria commando crossed the Natal border in October 1899, his father sent a family servant,
Charley, to him and his brother. They were delighted to turn over their cooking and the care of their
horses to him, and later, at Ladysmith, to benefit from his claimed relationship with local
tribespeople in order to acquire better rations than their comrades could get.

See also:
Africans, Black; Provisions; Reitz, Action at; Reitz, Deneys.

Reference:

Labuschagne, Pieter, Ghostriders of the Anglo-Boer War (Pretoria, Unisa Press, 1999); Reitz,
Deneys, Commando: A Boer Journal of the Boer War (London, Faber & Faber, 1929);
Warwick, Peter, Black People and the South African War 1899—1902 (Cambridge, Cambridge
University Press, 1983).

Albrecht, Major F. W. R.,

18461926

Albrecht was born in Potsdam, Prussia, in 1848 and joined the artillery in his own country in 1867.
He came to the Orange Free State in 1879 and became a captain in the Vrystaatse
Artilleriekorps,which he made into an effective force. He served against the British in the north-
eastern Cape, giving Lord Methuen’s troops some difficult fighting up to the Battle of Magersfontein.
He was amongst those captured at the Battle of Paardeberg, as were his fellow Orange Free State
artillerymen, the six foot, seven inch (2m) tall Baron van Dewitz and Lieutenant van Heister. He
returned to Bloemfontein after the war and was in public service until 1910.

See also:
Belmont, Battle of; Graspan, Battle of; Magersfontein, Battle of; Paardeberg, Battle of.

Reference:

Hall, Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer
War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999).

Aliwal North



A railway terminus and town on the Orange River, the border between Cape Colony and the Orange
Free State, eighty miles (130km) east of Norval’s Pont on the railway from Cape Town to
Bloemfontein. The town was occupied by the Boers at the start of the war but was taken by Brigadier-
general Brabant’s Colonial Division on 11 March 1900. Assistant Chief-commandant Kritzinger
threatened the town briefly during the Boer invasion of the Cape in January 1901. A concentration
camp for white people was set up here and had 4,437 inmates in August 1901.

See also:
Labuschagnes Nek, Battle of.

Reference:

Jones, Huw M. and Meurig G. M. Jones, A Gazetteer of the Second Anglo-Boer War 1899—1902
(Milton Keynes, The Military Press, 1999).
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Alleman Nek, Action at,

11 June 1900

After the relief of the siege of Ladysmith (which was held by the British), the Boers withdrew through
northern Natal with the intention of holding the British at Langs Nek. However, General Sir Redvers
Buller outflanked them to the west by way of Botha’s Pass and Alleman Nek. The Boer position
became untenable and they were forced to permit the British to enter the Transvaal.

The Iketeni Ridge, through which the road to Volkrust passes by Alleman Nek, was not heavily
defended by the Boers as Commandant-general Louis Botha had expected the British effort to be
concentrated further east. He moved his men quickly once Buller’s intentions became evident, but
they were able to do no more than throw up sangars to protect the 3,000 men, one 12-pounder and
three Pom-Poms (37mm Maxim-Nordenfelts) sent to hold the line. Buller’s scouts found positions for
the British artillery 2,500 yards (2,286m) from the Boers’ defences on the ridge either side of the
Nek. From there the two 4.7-inch guns and six 12-pounders of the Royal Navy were able to lay down
close support for the infantry. In the first rush the 2nd The Dorsetshire Regiment pushed up the
southern side of the Nek against the Lydenburg Commando, paused to return fire and then surged
forward once more with the Middlesex in support, to take the first of the two summits. The
Lydenburgers had fallen back across the saddle in the hill to join the Carolina, Pretoria and
Swaziland commandos but the Royal Navy’s guns were putting down another daunting blanket of
shellfire to enable the Dorsets to complete the advance some forty minutes later. Meanwhile, on the
British right flank, an attempt by the Boers to turn the flank was halted with the support of the Maxim
Detachment.

The grass had caught fire, either by accident or design, and Captain A. Fitzpatrick, an Australian
on Buller’s staff, wrote “The Boers burned the grass to cover their retreat. . . During the march we
came across many wounded and dead Boers terribly burnt . . . caught in their own grass fires and
burnt to death.” The Boers completed their retreat both from the area of the Nek and from their
positions at Langs Nek during the night.

See also:
Botha’s Pass, Action at; Langs Nek.

Reference:

Carver, Michael, The NAM Book of the Boer War (London, Sidgwick & Jackson, 1999);
Droogleever, R.W.F., “Alleman’s Nek”, Soldiers of the Queen,no. 58/59, January 1990;
Wallace, R.L., The Australians at the Boer War (Canberra, Australian War Memorial and the
Australian Government Publishing Service, 1976).



Allenby, Colonel E. H. H.,

1861-1936

Edmund Allenby joined the 6th (Inniskilling) Dragoons in 1882 and served in Bechuanaland in 1884—

85 and in Zululand in 1888. He became one of the leading young commanders of the sweeps
conducted in the guerrilla
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phase of the war. The skills he acquired in mobile warfare were to serve him well when, as
commander of the British army on the Palestine front in the First World War, he took Damascus in
October 1918.

Anti-Semitism

The motivation for supporting the Boers, or merely opposing the war against them, was not always
based on a sympathy for the Afrikaners, but sometimes grew from anti-semitism. A French volunteer
declared that he was in South Africa to support the Boers because he opposed the international
Jewish conspiracy to take over the sources of mineral wealth. Similarly, pro-Boer Liberal and
Socialist anti-capitalist propaganda in Britain had more than a mere colouring of anti-Jewish
sentiment. Paradoxically, however, some people who supported the British shared the same
antisemitic prejudices. For example, the populist anti-semitic and militarist movement in London,
known as the British Brothers League, was vehemently anti-Boer and worked towards a British
victory. British officers were known casually to refer to Johannesburg as Jewburg. At the time a
distaste for Jewish people was quite common, and lacked any of the genocidal extremism it acquired
in the mid-20th century.

Reference:
Warwick, Peter, ed., The South African War (Harlow, Longman, 1980).

Armoured Train Incident,

15 November 1899

The British dependency on the railways for the movement of supplies led them to convert railway
wagons into mobile mini-forts. Their extreme limitations of manoeuvre — either forwards, backwards
or standstill — made them vulnerable to well-planned attacks unless they had supporting troops. On 15
November 1899 a train was sent by Colonel C. J. Long from Frere northwards to Colenso. It was
halted at Chieveley where the Boers had destroyed the line and then started back but it was ambushed
by the Boers and partially derailed at the crossing of the Blaawkrantz River. The young Winston
Churchill was a passenger and he helped get part of the train moving once more but was himself
captured. He was imprisoned in the prisoner-of-war camp in Pretoria from which he managed to
escape to Lourengo Marques in Portuguese East Africa. He made his way back to Durban where he
received a hero’s welcome which did much for his political career.



This particular train was scarcely armoured, but was armed. There was an open ordinary wagon
in front (when going north) with a 7-pounder muzzle-loading gun crewed by men of HMS Tartar,an
open wagon modified with some armour and with loopholes in front of the engine, and two armoured
wagons behind which a regular wagon was attached with line repair equipment. Under Captain J. A.
L. Haldane 120 men of the Dublin Fusiliers and Durban Light Infantry manned the train. The
photographs of
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the wreck suggest that no explosive shells were used and shells found recently have their fuses
set at safety. It appears that in their haste and excitement, the Boer gunners forgot to arm their shells.
Later in the war locomotives were protected with elaborate ropework jackets and railway wagons
were modified to provide stronger protection for armed men. Trains were also converted to hospital
carriages for the transportation of the wounded.

See also:
Churchill, Winston; Colenso, Battle of; Naboomspruit, Ambush near; Willow Grange, Battle of.

Reference:

Churchill, Winston S., London to Ladysmith via Pretoria (London, Longmans Green, 1900; London,
Leo Cooper, 1989); Marix Evans, Martin, The Boer War: South Africa 1899—1902 (Oxford,
Osprey Publishing, 1999); Bushmans River Tourism Association, The Armoured Train Incident,
www.battlefields.co.za/history/angloboer_war.

Artillery, Boer

The Boer artillery units in the Orange Free State and the Transvaal republic were composed of
professional soldiers with a significant number of experienced German officers who were able to
train their men to a high degree of efficiency. The Transvaal was enriched by tax revenues from the
healthy mining industry and, under the direction of Lieutenant-colonel Trichardt, made considerable
expenditures to acquire the newest and best weapons. When the war broke out they were significantly
better equipped than the British.

The modern guns the Boers had were the 155mm Creusot, known by the British as the Long Tom
(of which there were four), the 120mm Krupp howitzer (four), 75mm Krupp and Creusot QFs, i.e.
quick-firing guns (twenty-eight) and the 37mm Maxim-Nordenfelt, known as the Pom-Pom (twenty-
two). The latter was not considered to be an artillery piece by the British. Quick-firing guns had the
propellant charge in a cartridge case, rather than a separate bag, which increased the speed of
reloading. Still greater rates of fire were achieved with a recoil-absorbing device on the Creusot
which enabled the gun-carriage to stay still and thus removed the requirement to re-lay (aim) the gun
after every shot. The Transvaal, being the richer state, had the most modern weapons. There were
also forty-one other guns of various calibres and vintages, and the Boers naturally made use of any
British guns they could capture.

The Long Toms were used in the sieges of Kimberley, Ladysmith and Mafeking to bombard the
towns. It was not possible to limit their fire to purely military targets, but neither side appears to have
thought it irregular to kill civilians in the process. The howitzers, usually considered short-range
weapons for accurate shelling of defensive works, actually out-ranged the older British field and
horse artillery. Indeed, it was generally the case that the Boer guns out-ranged British guns of similar


http://www.battlefields.co.za/history/angloboer_war

calibre and type, demonstrating that French and German manufacture was superior to that of the
British at this time.
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Hall, Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer
War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999).

Artillery, British, Field and Naval

British artillery of the time was less sophisticated and less powerful than that of the Boers.
Comparable Boer guns also had longer ranges as is shown by a comparison of the performance
characteristics given above and below. In the case of the modern rifle and machine-gun, the
sophistication of weaponry in enemy hands was a new experience for the British from which it took
some time to recover.

At the outbreak of the war the British army had some 100 guns available of which only twenty-
seven were standard field artillery pieces of a reasonably modern design. The Royal Navy was able
to contribute seven 12-pounders carried for use ashore. The rest had to be improvised and, as a result
of the resourcefulness of Captain Percy Scott, shipboard 12-pounders, known as Long 12s, and 4.7-
inch guns were given emergency carriages or mounts and rushed to the front. The defence of
Ladysmith thus became possible. In the course of the war the Royal Field Artillery’s 15-pounders
were augmented by another 322 guns, fifty Pom-Poms, eighteen 5-inch breech-loaders, thirty-nine 5-
inch
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6.35kg. Range: time fuse — 4,100 yards/3,750m; percussion — 5,600 yards/5,120m.

5-inch Howitzer: Weight of shell — 501b/22.68kg. Range — 4,900 yards/4,480m. 5-inch gun:
Weight of shell — 501b/22.68kg. Range: time fuse — 5,400 yards/4,940m; percussion — 10,500
yards/9,600m.

12-pounder (Long 12) Naval gun: Weight of shell: common — 12.51b/5.7kg; shrapnel —
141b/6.4kg. Range: time fuse — 4,500 yards/4,110m; percussion — 9,000 yards/8,230m.

4.7-inch Naval gun: Weight of shell — 451b/20.4kg. Range: time fuse — 6,500 yards/5,940m;
percussion — 9,800 yards/8,960m. Range at 24 degree elevation — 12,000 yards/10,973m.

6-inch Naval gun (rail truck mounted): Weight of shell — 1001b/45.4kg. Range — 15,000
yards/13,750m.

See also:
Artillery, Boer; Colenso, Battle of, Magersfontein, Battle of; Scott, Captain Percy.

Reference:

Hall, Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer
War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999).

Artillery Shells

Three types of shell were used in the war: common, case and shrapnel. Common shell was a steel
case filled with high explosive for use against defensive positions set off by impact with the target.
Case shot was a cylinder or case filled with metal balls. The case broke open on leaving the barrel
and sprayed the shot at random at anything or anyone in front of the gun. Shrapnel was a shell filled
with shot-like musket balls which was thrown forward by an explosive charge ignited by a time fuse.

Common shell was used by howitzers and the larger guns. The British used Lyddite in them, a
new explosive which was not very satisfactory, and which was replaced with TNT after the war,
when the shells became known as High Explosive shells. The design of shell cases led to their
remaining either largely intact or breaking into a few big pieces. Therefore a few, slow-moving
fragments were created which did minimal damage but made a lot of noise. More modern shells break
into innumerable fragments that move fast and far. The howitzers hurled their shell high in the air to
drop on the enemy while 155mm and 75mm guns fired in a flatter trajectory. The former were,
therefore, of greater use against entrenched positions provided the aim was good.

Case shot was recorded as having been used four times by the British and just once by the Boers
throughout the war.

Shrapnel was the invention of Lieutenant Henry Shrapnel of the Royal Artillery in 1784 and it
was first used by the British against the Dutch in Surinam in 1804. The shell has a time fuse at the
nose which is set at what is calculated to be the interval between firing and the arrival of the shell



some twenty feet (6m) short of the target. A charge at the foot of the shell goes off and the balls within
are thrown forward in an expanding cone of bullets. Assuming the time fuse has been
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B
Baden-Powell, Major-General Robert,

1857-1941

Robert Baden-Powell attained world-wide fame as the commander of the besieged town of Mafeking
and, subsequently, as the founder of the Scout movement. His leadership during the siege has been
questioned ever since the siege was lifted, both in the gossip circulating in the army at the time and in
scholarly works since, in spite of, or perhaps because of, his being hailed as a hero by the popular
press.

Baden-Powell joined the 13th Hussars in 1876 and saw service in India, Afghanistan and also in
Matabeleland as Chief Staff Officer in 1896. He was sent out to Rhodesia in mid-1899 and was
making preparations for war on the Transvaal/Bechuanaland border when the severing of the railway
to the south initiated the siege of Mafeking. The town was already garrisoned by the Protectorate
Regiment under Colonel C. B. Vyvyan, to whom many later attributed the successful conduct of the
siege.

There is no doubt that Baden-Powell was a curious and complex character, claiming skills as an
author, artist, actor and scout as well as expressing enthusiasm for fighting, pig-sticking, playing polo,
big-game shooting, hunting, yachting and singing. Two major issues are raised in connection with
Mafeking. He armed men of the resident black African population, the Baralong, who became known
as the Black Watch. This he subsequently denied in his evidence to the Royal Commission. Second,
he stands accused of reducing the rations to black Africans to such an extent that they died of
starvation. This charge is based on differing uses of the reports of Daily Telegraphjournalist J.
Emerson Neilly by Thomas
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Pakenham and Tim Jeal. It is admitted that refugee black Africans driven into the town by fear of
the Boers were underfed and that some starved, but it is also said that the Baralong who had always
lived there were properly fed, a strange distinction which hardly absolves Baden-Powell. What is
clear is that the man arouses extreme feelings in many historians and commentators and that opinions
about him should be regarded with caution.

In later life Baden-Powell founded the international Boy Scout movement and his achievement
was recognised with a peerage. He was awarded the Carnegie Peace Prize in 1937 and died in Kenya
in 1941.

See also:
Mafeking, Siege of.

Reference:

Comaroft, J. L., ed., The Boer War Diary of Sol T. Plaatje (Johannesburg, Macmillan, 1973); Jeal,
Tim, Baden-Powell (London, Hutchinson, 1989); Neilly, J. Emerson, Besieged with B-P
(London, C. Arthur Pearson, 1900); Pakenham, Thomas, The Boer War (London, Weidenfeld &
Nicolson, 1979; Abacus, 1992); Warwick, Peter, Black People and the South African War
1899-1902 (Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 1983); Willan, Brian, in The South
African War,ed. Peter Warwick (Harlow, Longman, 1980).

Bagration-Mukhransky, Prince Nikolai,

18681932

Nikolai Bagration was a Georgian, descended from a royal family. He was in Paris when the war
began and, in spite of total ignorance of the Boers, at once decided to join them. He joined the French
Corps and fought at the Battle of Driefontein, 10 March 1900, and at the Battle of Boshof, 5 April
1900, where he was captured. He was sent to St Helena as a prisoner-of-war.

See also:
Boshof, Battle of; Driefontein, Battle of; Russian Volunteers; Villebois-Mareuil, Colonel Count

Georges de.
Reference:

Davidson, Apollon, and Irina Filatova, The Russians and the Anglo-Boer War (Cape Town, Human
& Rousseau, 1998).



Bakenlaagte, Battle of,

30 October 1901

Of the columns the British had in the field to harry the Boers, that of Colonel G. E. Benson was among
the most efficient. It therefore received the personal attention of the Boer Commandant-general Louis
Botha who ambushed it at the Battle of Bakenlaagte with superior numbers and, when the greater part
of it had retired, fought the rearguard to a standstill. The victorious Boers not only stripped the dead
but also robbed the wounded, actions for which Botha rebuked them forcefully. Benson was
wounded, fought on and eventually died of his wounds on the field, known as Bakenlaagte, although
the battle was actually fought on Onverwacht and Nooitgedacht farms.

Benson’s column, comprised of the 2nd Buffs (East Kents), 3rd and 25th Mounted Infantry, 2nd
Scottish Horse
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and 84th Field Battery, Royal Artillery, was making its way north-west from Bethel, Transvaal,
across rolling country that gave Botha a perfect opportunity for attack. The rearguard was assaulted
by 1,000 Boers under Botha, Vecht-general J. N. H. Grobler and Commandant J. D. Opperman. The
Buffs were overwhelmed and the Boers pushed towards the head of the column until they were held
by a swiftly-constructed defensive position. Here they were held at great cost until the bulk of the
column had escaped. The British had suffered severely with sixty-six British killed and 165
wounded. The account from the Boer viewpoint differs: Gustav Preller reports 238 killed and 120
taken prisoner.

See also:
Benson, Colonel G. E.

Reference:

Baker, Anthony, Battles and Battlefields of the Anglo-Boer War 1899—1902 (Milton Keynes, The
Military Press, 1999); Pretorius, Fransjohan, Life on Commando during the Anglo-Boer War
1899-1902 (Cape Town, Human & Rousseau, 1999).

Balloons

Observation balloons, tethered to the ground, were used by the Royal Engineers to make maps and to
observe the effects of shellfire. On 18 November 1899, for example, Captain G. M. Heath, R.E.,
made a map of Boer gun positions around Ladysmith from a balloon and there are Boer reports of
seeing a balloon being flown just before the Battle of Magersfontein. However, their contribution to
the war appears to have been minimal.

Baralong, The

The black African inhabitants of Mafikeng. The town of Mafeking, as it is known to the Europeans,
had what they regarded as an appendage: the “Stadt”, the black African town, more properly known
as Mafikeng, the name used today. This was the home of the Tshidi-Baralong people and a place that
they had defended against Boer attack on five previous occasions. They were armed by the British for
the defence of Mafeking in 1899 and fought with particular vigour when the Boer Commandant Sarel
Eloff and his men broke into the town on 12 May 1900. The Black Watch, as the armed Africans were
known, ejected the majority of the Boers, leaving only a small number in the Police Fort to surrender
to the British at the end of the day. Colonel Baden-Powell later denied having armed the Baralong
and made little of their contribution.



See also:
Baden-Powell, Major-General Robert; Mafeking, Siege of.

Reference:

Marix Evans, Martin, The Boer War: South Africa 1899-1902 (Oxford, Osprey Publishing, 1999);
Willan, Brian, in The South African War,ed. Peter Warwick (Harlow, Longman, 1980).

Barton, Major-General G.

Geoffrey Barton was born in 1844 and entered the British army in 1862 in the
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7th Foot, which had become the Royal Fusiliers. He served in Ashanti in 1874 in the transport
service, in the Zulu War of 1879, in Egypt in 1882 and in the Sudan in 1885. He took command of the
6th Brigade, Third Division, in October 1899 and showed little initiative at the Battle of Colenso but
rather more in the Battle of Tugela Heights in 1900. He took part in the guerrilla war and successfully
defended Frederikstad against Chief-commandant Christiaan De Wet in October 1900. He
subsequently commanded the Pretoria garrison.

See also:
Colenso, Battle of; Frederikstad, Action at; Tugela Heights, Battle of.

Reference:

Hall, Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer
War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999).

Basutoland

The land-locked territory, now called Lesotho, situated between the Orange Free State, Cape Colony
and Natal, remained neutral throughout the war. Neither the British, who feared the outflanking of
their colonies on either side of Basutoland, nor the Boers, who feared raids on the Orange Free State
by the Basotho, wanted the territory to be involved in the war.

Basutoland became a British colonial possession in 1868. It was a source of grain and wool and
it provided a large number of workers to the Kimberley diamond fields and to the gold mines. There
were also numerous Basotho working on Boer farms as share-croppers. The Resident Commissioner
of Basutoland, Sir Godfrey Lagden, worked closely with the Koena rulers who held day-to-day
power. He was stubborn, but not always successful, in preventing the British army from violating the
neutrality of Basutoland. The territory was also a haven for refugees; some 12—15,000 black Africans
and about 2,000 Boers found safety there. The economy was inflated by the employment of Basotho as
labourers for the British and by the sale of horses, of which about 20,000 were supplied by the end of
1901. In Basutoland, as elsewhere in South Africa, the war caused economic distortions that were to
prove problematic in the future.

See also:
Zulu. The.

Reference:

Warwick, Peter, Black People and the South African War 1899—1902 (Cambridge, Cambridge
University Press, 1983).



Beaufort West

A town in Cape Colony on the railway line between Cape Town and De Aar. Because of fears of a
local uprising by Afrikaners, it was one of fourteen Cape Colony districts placed under martial law in
December 1900, when the Boer invasion of the colony caused the British Major-general H. H. Settle
to withdraw his headquarters from De Aar to this town.

Reference:
Jones, Huw M. and Meurig G. M. Jones, A Gazetteer of the Second
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Anglo-Boer War (Milton Keynes, The Military Press, 1999).

Bechuanaland

The territory west of the Transvaal and north of Cape Colony, now Botswana. The railway running
north from Kimberley through Mafeking to Bulawayo in Rhodesia was completed between 1894 and
1897 through Bechuanaland, confirming the strategic importance that had led the British and the Boers
to seek control there over the years. In the war of 1899—-1902 Boer efforts in the area were limited
almost entirely to the siege of Mafeking and British fears of uprisings in Rhodesia were never
realised.

The British had annexed the protectorate in the mid-1880s. When war threatened Colonel Robert
Baden-Powell and Lieutenant-colonel Herbert Plumer were sent out to raise forces there and a
Rhodesian force under Plumer and a Protectorate force commanded by Colonel C. B. Vyvyan were
Baden-Powell’s to command by the outbreak of hostilities. The Kgatla people were involved with an
ill-planned and executed attack by the British on the Boers at Derdepoort on 25 November 1899 and
suffered a reprisal raid by a Boer commando 500 strong on 22 December. The Kgatla continued to
raid and harass the Boers throughout the war. The Ngwato, on the other hand, under their chief
Khama, showed such willingness to defend their land that a Boer force under General F. A. Grobler
found discretion the better part of valour and withdrew from the Crocodile River. The Ngwato
economy grew vigorously during the war as the railway was vulnerable as a supply facility and food
for the British forces was purchased locally from them. Within Mafeking the TshidiBaralong endured
a difficult relationship with Baden-Powell and the British, and though they fought valiantly, they
gained little recognition for their efforts and sufferings.

See also:
Baden-Powell, Major-General Robert; Mafeking, Siege of.

Reference:

Warwick, Peter, Black People and the South African War 1899—1902 (Cambridge, Cambridge
University Press, 1983).

Belmont, Battle of,

23 November 1899

At the start of the campaign to relieve Kimberley (which was being held by the British), Lord



Methuen’s 1st Division attacked a force of Boers under Vecht-general Jacobus Prinsloo at Belmont
station, in what was to be the first important battle on the western front. The Orange Free State
commandos occupied several kopjes (small hills) in order to block the progress of Methuen’s forces,
but were forced to retire by the superior numbers and firepower of the British, having suffered some
150 casualties but having inflicted almost twice as much damage on the British. Lacking sufficient
cavalry, the British could not pursue the commandos as they retreated northwards.

Kimberley had been under siege by
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Benson, Colonel G. E.,

1861-1901

Benson was responsible for guiding the Highland Brigade at the Battle of Magersfontein and it has,
unjustly, been suggested that the disaster that befell it was his fault. He later became one of the most
effective commanders of British mobile forces. He was killed in an heroic rearguard action against
Boer forces under Commandant-general Louis Botha at the Battle of Bakenlaagte on 30 October 1901,
in which he enabled the greater part of the column to get away.

G. E. Benson joined the Royal Artillery in 1880 and it was under the rank of Major that he
undertook the planning of the approach at Magersfontein. The conditions were very difficult, with
heavy cloud and pouring rain. Benson’s task was emulated by Colonel G. R. Duxbury, then the
Director of the South African National Museum of Military History, in 1973. Duxbury had no
problem with keeping on his compass bearing, but he found himself nearly 200 yards (175m) short of
his intended position. Benson was still further away, a little off line and some forty-five minutes
behind schedule when he advised Major-general Andrew Wauchope to deploy. When the Boers
opened fire nearly half an hour later, the Scots were still in a dense mass, undeployed, and suffered
accordingly.

Later in the war Benson became one of the most successful column commanders, moving at night
to attack Boer positions at dawn and making great use of intelligence supplied by Sir Aubrey Wools-
Sampson, an uitlanderwho had co-founded the Imperial Light Horse. On 20 October Benson led a
column south from Middleburg and scored initial success, but the forces of Commandant-general
Louis Botha, Vecht-general J. N. H. Grobler and Commandant J. D. Opperman gathered to trap their
troublesome adversary north-west of Bethal, at the Battle of Bakenlaagte. Benson organised a tough
defence, during which the bulk of his column was able to withdraw, but the cost was high and Benson
himself was fatally wounded.

See also:
Bakenlaagte, Battle of; Magersfontein, Battle of.

Reference:

Duxbury, G. R., The Battle of Magersfontein (Kimberley, McGregor Museum, 1997); Pretorius,
Fransjohan, Life on Commando during the Anglo-Boer War 1899—1902 (Cape Town, Human &
Rousseau, 1999).

Bergendal, Battle of,



27 August 1900

The battle that took place east of Belfast on the Pretoria-Delagoa Bay railway route was the last set-
piece fight of the war. The Boers under Commandant-general Louis Botha established a complex of
positions on a line of hills, north of the railway, many protected by marshland. The ridge carrying the
railway was held by the ZARP (Zuid-Afrikaansche Republiek Politie), the police, based on a kopje
at Bergendal farm. General Sir Redvers Buller took their position
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of the railway east of Belfast, where hills and rivers through boggy ground favoured the Boers.
South of the railway, however, the ground was better and Buller was able to advance in a series of
brisk actions along the ridge to the west of the Klein Komatie River in the week beginning 21 August.
On 25 August Major-general Sir John French’s cavalry and Lieutenant-general R. Pole-Carew’s 11th
Infantry Division moved against the Boer line north of the railway by which time Buller had reached
Vogelstruispoort.

Further progress in the north was prevented by the difficulty of the terrain, but Buller was on
firm ground with a shallow valley some one-and-a-quarter miles (2km) from the ZARP positions at
the south-eastern elbow of the Boer line. Shelling began at once, continued the next day and then, for
three hours on the morning of 27 August, artillery fire fell without cease on the ZARPs. At about 2pm
Ist The Rifle Brigade and 6th Inniskillings advanced in short bounds from cover to cover. The
surviving ZARPs fired on them but were soon overrun. Deneys Reitz wrote: “By sunset the police
were all but annihilated . . . Our line being broken, we had to give way too and after dark General
Botha ordered a withdrawal.”

Some of the Boers fell back eastwards to Komatipoort while others went north and east in small
groups. A last resistance was offered to Buller as he moved forward from Lydenburg, but formal
warfare was now at an end. The British thought the war was won and some Boers agreed. Others
were determined to continue and guerrilla warfare began.

See also:
Diamond Hill, Battle of} Guerrilla Warfare.
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Carver, Michael, The NAM Book of the Boer War (London, Sidgwick & Jackson, 1999); Marix
Evans, Martin, The Boer War: South Africa 1899—1902 (Oxford, Osprey Publishing, 1999);
Reitz, Deneys, Commando: A Boer Journal of the Boer War (London, Faber & Faber, 1929;
Prescott, Arizona, Wolfe Publishing, 1994); Pakenham, Thomas, The Boer War (London,
Weidenfeld & Nicolson, 1979; Abacus, 1992).

Bermuda

Early in the war, the British held Boer prisoners-of-war in temporary camps, including ships. They
later set up camps in Cape Colony, such as Green Point, and as numbers increased, sent prisoners to
colonies overseas. Prisoner-of-war camps were established on St Helena, Ceylon (Sri Lanka), India
and Bermuda.

More than 5,000 Boers were sent to Bermuda where they were held on Darrell’s Island,
Morgan’s Island, Tucker’s Island and Burt’s Island. There was also a prisoners’ hospital on Port’s
Island.



Five days short of his twentieth birthday, August Carl Schulenburg of the Lichtenburg
Commando had been at the fight at Kraaipan, the first action of the war on 11 October 1899. He
fought at Kimberley, Modder River and Magersfontein and on into the guerrilla war, before being
captured on 8 May 1901. He was sent to Burt’s Island on Bermuda. He
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remained there from 1 July 1901 to 25 July 1902 when, having signed a declaration of loyalty to
the British Crown, he was released. His memoirs have been published in Afrikaans.

See also:
Prisoners-of-war.
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Carl Schulenburg: Krygsgevangene, medikus, boer (Pretoria, J.L. van Schaik, 1985); van der
Walt, N. T., “The Diaries of August Carl Schulenburg”, Africana Journal,no. 15, 1999.

Bethlehem

A town in the north-eastern Orange Free State, Bethlehem stands on the Harrismith—Winburg road,
one of the main routes from Ladysmith in Natal to Bloemfontein, the capital of the Orange Free State.
The railway ran from Durban to Harrismith and from Bloemfontein to Johannesburg and Pretoria, and
this road provided a strategically important link. The British under Major-general R. A. P. Clements
took the town from Boer forces under Chief-commandant Christiaan De Wet in July 1900.

See also:
Biddulphsberg, Battle of; Tweefontein, Battle of.
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Jones, Huw M. and Meurig G. M. Jones, A Gazetteer of the Second Anglo-Boer War 1899—-1902
(Milton Keynes, The Military Press, 1999).

Beyers, Assistant Commandant-General C. F.,

1869-1914

Christiaan Beyers was born in Stellenbosch, Cape Colony, and moved to the Transvaal in 1888
where he practised as a lawyer. When the war against the British broke out he joined the Boksburg
Commando and was promoted after the fall of Pretoria in June 1900. He fought at the Battle of
Nooitgedacht in December 1900 and stayed in the field to the end, though his methods were criticised



and cost him the command of the expedition that Jan Smuts led into the Cape. He chaired the
Vereeniging Peace Conference in May 1902 and was criticised for his hard-line stance. He was
appointed Commander-in-Chief under the Union of South Africa government of Louis Botha which
came into existence in 1910. On the outbreak of the First World War he became a leader of the
rebellion against the British and was drowned while attempting to escape the forces of General Smuts
who put down the uprising.

See also:
Nooitgedacht, Battle of; Smuts, Assistant Commandant-general Jan Christian.
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A Boer Journal of the Boer War (London, Faber & Faber, 1929; Prescott, Arizona, Wolfe
Publishing, 1994); Reitz, Deneys, Trekking on (1933; Prescott, Arizona, Wolfe Publishing, 1994).

Biddulphsberg, Battle of,

29 May 1900

The battle at Biddulphsberg was a diversionary action undertaken by the British in order to ease
pressure on the 13th Imperial Yeomanry who were surrounded at Lindley. However, the British were
caught in the open by the Boers and were forced to retreat. The long grass caught fire at the height of
the engagement and wounded men, unable to move, died in the blaze.

To protect the eastern flank of the advance from Bloemfontein, Lord Roberts ordered Lieutenant-
general Sir Leslie Rundle to come north-east from Thaba *Nchu. Rundle’s 8th Division advanced to
Senekal, between Winburg and Bethlehem, which was taken from the Boers after a skirmish. In
response to Colonel B. Spragge’s appeal for assistance at Lindley, Rundle decided to mount a
diversionary attack on General A. 1. de Villiers’s force near Biddulphsberg. However, the British
approach by the 2nd Grenadier Guards, 2nd Scots Guards and 2nd Royal West Kents, with 2nd and
79th Batteries, Royal Field Artillery, was observed. De Villiers placed the Senekal Commando on
the northwestern end of Biddulphsberg kopje with a 75mm Krupp and a Pom-Pom, and the Ladybrand
men under Fieldcornet P. Ferreira in ditches along the road running north, supported by another
75mm. With fire cover from the British artillery, which silenced the guns on the kopje, the British
came in curving clockwise from the north, but were then caught in the open by the riflemen, forcing
them to attempt a retreat. As they did so, the grass caught fire and British wounded burned to death.
De Villiers himself was severely wounded, and, beyond the help of his companions, was given into
British care. In spite of this he died in Senekal soon after. The rest of the Boers withdrew as
reinforcements arrived to support Rundle.

See also:
Bloemfontein, Advance from; Lindley, Battle of.

Reference:
Marix Evans, Martin, The Boer War: South Africa 1899-1902 (Oxford, Osprey Publishing, 1999).

Biggarsberg Mountains

The mountains of northern Natal, mapped by the British on a scale of one inch to the mile (1:63,360)



in 1896. The terrain was not favourable to the style of fighting to which the British were used and
suited better the more mobile Boers. In 1899 the British were forced to retreat from Dundee and were
besieged in Ladysmith, south of the Biggarsberg, until the end of February 1900. In May 1900 General
Sir Redvers Buller advanced swiftly and efficiently, winning actions at Helpmekaar and Botha’s Pass
because of his skill in co-ordinating artillery, infantry and mounted troop action and his access to
sound mapping.
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See also:
Botha’s Pass, Action at; Helpmekaar, Action at; Ladysmith, Siege of; Maps; Talana, Battle of.

Biltong

Dried meat, a staple of Boer field rations. It is a traditional Afrikaner food, made of raw, pickled
meat. Pretorius states: “Customary ingredients for the marinade — when obtainable, as during the first
phase of the war — were salt, sugar, saltpetre, bicarbonate of soda and vinegar. The strips were hung
outside for a week or so to dry, after which they were guzzled with great gusto.”

See also:
Provisions.

Reference:

Pretorius, Fransjohan, Life on Commando during the Anglo-Boer War 1899-1902 (Cape Town,
Human & Rousseau, 1999).

Bitter-Ender

A bitter-ender (bitter einder) was a Boer who refused to surrender, that is, become a “hands-upper”,
or to assist the British, that is, become a “joiner”. Some 20,000 men, a third of the Boers engaged in
the war as a whole, were still in the field when peace was agreed in May 1902. The motivation
behind this varied. A principal factor was the defiant wish to defend their independence. Other
factors were a religious conviction that God was on their side, a revulsion at British tactics in farm
burning and sending women and children to camps and, finally, responsiveness to their leaders’
exhortations.

See also:
Hands-uppers; Joiners.
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Blake, Colonel J. Y. F.,

1856-1907

J. Y. F. Blake, born in Missouri in 1856, was a graduate of West Point Military Academy in the
United States. He served in the 6th Cavalry in the Indian Wars and left the army in 1890. He went to
South Africa and took part in the Matabele Campaign in 1896 as did Russell Burnham, who became
the British Head of Scouts. Blake espoused the Boer cause, raising the Irish Brigade which fought
with distinction on the Boer side at Nicholson’s Nek, Helpmekaar and in the guerrilla war where he
remained in the field until the end of the war. He lost the use of one hand at Modderspruit in October
1899. He returned to the United States eventually and died in mysterious circumstances in a gas-filled
room at 275 West 22nd Street, New York on 24 January 1907.

See also:
Helpmekaar, Action at; Irish; Nicholson’s Nek, Action at.
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Blake, J. Y. F., A West Pointer with the Boers (Boston, Angel Guardian Press, 1903); Hall, Darrell,
ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer War
1899—-1902 (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999); McCracken, Donal,
MacBride’s Brigade: Irish Commandos in the Anglo-Boer War (Dublin, Four Courts Press,
1999).

Blockhouses

Fortifications built by the British to defend lines of supply and to create barriers to the free movement
of Boer commandos. They were usually about 1,000 yards (910m) apart and, by the end of the war,
their lines stretched over some 3,700 miles (6,000km). The 8,000 or so blockhouses were manned by
approximately 50,000 British and 16,000 black African troops.

The first blockhouses were built in March 1900 to protect the railways and, in particular, the
bridges, as the Boers had initiated a programme of destroying the tracks and blowing up the bridges.
This resulted in actions such as Roodewal, when Christiaan De Wet made off with substantial
supplies stockpiled because of a blown bridge. At first substantial towers were constructed, some 35
feet (10.6m) high and suited to a garrison of two dozen men. They were expensive and took a long
time to build, so a more modest, rectangular, one-storey blockhouse was made with a stone wall
topped with a double-skinned corrugated iron upperwork, with rubble in-filling between the two
layers of iron. Even these took too long to make and, when Lord Kitchener became Commander-in-
Chief and wanted to speed up the programme, he asked Major Spring R. Rice, Officer Commanding
23 Field Company, Royal Engineers to find a solution.

The “Rice” blockhouse was actually one of two designs the engineer produced. It was circular
in plan with a corrugated iron double skin on an earth-filled caisson, the whole set on a mound or
surrounded with sandbags and topped off with a broad roof. It was quick to build; the record time
was three hours and it rarely took more than a day. It was surrounded with a barbed wire enclosure
and a barbed wire fence ran between each of the blockhouses. A non-commissioned officer and six
men formed the garrison and patrols, often of black Africans, kept nightly watch on the intervals
between the blockhouses. Major Rice also designed an octagonal structure and men in the field
conjured up their own designs as well.

Railway stations were also fortified by reinforcing the original buildings and adding
blockhouses. Attention was paid to planning lines of fire and vision and to clearing scrub that could
provide an attacker with cover.

As protection for the lines of supply, these structures were of undoubted use. To catch Boers,
however, more was needed and “sweeps” or “drives” were undertaken to trap the commandos
between the fixed lines and the British troops. The Boer commander Christiaan De Wet was
contemptuous of the system. He pointed out that, on 27 February 1902, the British captured a great



number of Boers and cattle by surrounding them
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and closing in using men alone, but that when driven against a blockhouse line the Boers were
able to get through. In this De Wet is not telling the whole story, for the concentration of troops
depended on reliable transport which in turn resulted from the security of the blockhouses.
Furthermore, in the early days of the guerrilla war, the British rarely achieved the impermeability of
line needed to achieve results like those attained in February 1902 at Lang Reit, where a substantial
number of Boers and their livestock were taken.

There can be no doubt that the blockhouses made a substantial contribution to the British victory
by inhibiting the mobility of the commandos and protecting that of the British. The major
consideration at the peace conference in Vereeniging was, however, the prospect of starvation that
such land clearance had created.

See also:
Farm Burning; Lang Reit; Sweeps.
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Bloemfontein

The capital of the Orange Free State. Commandos were raised there under the commands of P. J.
Fourie, W. J. Kolbe, J. P. Ackerman and J. J. Boshoff. However, the morale of the Boers was
evidently so poor after the series of defeats culminating in the Battle of Driefontein that no attempt
was made to defend the city against the British and President M. T. Steyn left by train on the evening
of 12 March 1900. Lord Roberts entered the town the next day.

Roberts paused here for six weeks as his troops were exhausted by the hard fighting and
marching they had endured coming from Modder River and sickness broke out. Many soldiers had
taken water from the polluted streams and from the Modder River itself during the advance. Enteric
(typhoid) fever resulted. In order to increase the impact of this disease, Christiaan De Wet intended to
attack the town’s waterworks at Sannaspos on 31 March, but the unexpected battle with the British
that ensued thwarted De Wet’s plan. Situated on the railway from Port Elizabeth via Rosmead and
Naauwpoort Junctions and East London via Springfontein to Pretoria, Bloemfontein became a centre
of military supply for the British. A prisoner-of-war camp for Boers was established here as well as
a camp for women and children, a concentration camp, visited by Emily Hobhouse in January 1901.
The defence of the town from May 1901 was in the hands of some 3,000 men of the South African
Constabulary.

See also:
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Battle of; Sannaspos, Battle of; Documents: Hobhouse, Emily, Report to the Committee of the
Distress Fund for South African Women and Children. June 1901.
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& Jackson, 1999); Jones, Huw M. and Meurig G. M. Jones, 4 Gazetteer of the Second Anglo-
Boer War 1899—-1902 (Milton Keynes, The Military Press, 1999).

Bloemfontein, Advance from,

May 1900

Three major problems had to be overcome by Lord Roberts before his advance from Bloemfontein to
Johannesburg and Pretoria could begin. There were supply shortages, in part resulting from the
centralised control of transport unwisely introduced, a lack of horses resulting from the demands
made on the cavalry, and the presence of disease amongst the troops. When the advance began on 3
May, Roberts got significant reinforcements which allowed him to envelop, or enfold, with flanking
movements every Boer attempt to stop them — at Brandfort, on the Vet River, and on the Zand River.
Troops supporting Roberts’s advance to the east fought the Boers at Biddulphsberg and Lindley.

Three British columns advanced on 3 May and a considerable section of the army was charged
with holding Bloemfontein and guarding railway supply lines against the Boers. Roberts knew he was
leaving behind his lines. Lieutenant-general T. Kelly-Kenny’s 6th Division was left behind while, in
the centre, Roberts rode with Lieutenant-general C. Tucker’s 7th Division and Brigadier-general R.
Pole-Carew’s 11th Division, with four Corps of Mounted Infantry under Major-general E. T. H.
Hutton. On his right was the Wimburg Column of Lieutenant-general lan Hamilton, including Major-
general H. L. Smith-Dorrien’s 19th Brigade, Major-general Bruce Hamilton’s 21st Brigade,
Brigadiergeneral R. G. Broadwood’s 2nd Cavalry Brigade and Brigadier-general C. P. Ridley’s
Mounted Infantry. On the west Lieutenant-general Sir A. Hunter’s column included Colonel Bryan
Mahon’s Flying Column, which went to relieve the siege at Mafeking, and Lieutenant-general Lord
Methuen’s column, which was to move from Kimberley and Boshof towards Johannesburg. In total
some 44,000 men, 120 guns, 2,500 wagons, 11,000 horses, 22,000 mules and 40,000 oxen were
involved.

See also:

Biddulphsberg, Battle of; Brandfort, Action at; Doornkop, Battle of; Lindley, Battle of;
Mafeking, Siege of; Zand River, Battle of.
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Bloemfontein Convention,

1854

The Convention, signed on behalf of Britain by Sir George Clerk, granted the Orange River
Sovereignty independence on much the same terms as was agreed with the Transvaal (by now the
South African Republic) in the Sand River Convention of 1852.
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That is, it would have the right to buy arms and undertook to prohibit slavery. Britain agreed to
have no treaties prejudicial to the Orange Free State with non-white nations or to supply them with
arms. Thus the Orange Free State and the republic of Utrecht came into existence.

See also:
Great Trek, The; Sand River Convention, 1852.
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Bloemfontein Conference,

1899

The Bloemfontein Conference of May/June 1899 was almost the last opportunity available to Britain
and the South African Republic (formerly Transvaal) to agree a peaceful solution to their differences.
It failed.

As tension mounted and the threat of war became ever more real, the leaders of the Cape
Afrikaners, Jan Hofmeyr and William Schreiner, persuaded the British to agree to a meeting with
President Kruger of the South African Republic and his secretary of state, the former president of the
Orange Free State, Francis William Reitz. President Steyn offered his capital, Bloemfontein, as the
venue and on 31 May 1899 the parties met there. The Cape Afrikaners had put as much pressure as
possible on the ZAR State Attorney, Jan Smuts, to make concessions to the uitlanders,the foreigners
who had taken up residence in the Republic. After suitable preliminaries had taken up the first day,
Kruger made detailed proposals, taking care to ensure that the Afrikaners would retain domination in
the Republic. Sir Alfred Milner, High Commissioner for South Africa and Lieutenant-Governor of
Cape Colony, was determined not to permit Boer supremacy as it would block his expansionist plans.
On the following Monday the conference broke up with Kruger remarking “it is our country you
want”.
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Blood River, Battle of,



16 December 1838

The total victory of the Voortrekkers over the Zulu in the battle at the Ncome River in 1838 was taken
by the Boers as a sure sign of the Lord’s favour and a justification of their dominance over the land
and its indigenous people. This conviction underlay the Afrikaner attitudes to British imperialism, to
the rights of uitlanders,or incomers, and to the black African people.

The Voortrekkers, the Boers moving into the African interior to settle, encountered the
opposition of the Zulu and various battles ensued. Under Andries Pretorius an expedition was
mounted to enforce Voortrekker dominance and on 9 December at Danskraal they made a vow known
as the Covenant. This promised the Lord that, if victory was granted to them, they would for ever
observe the day as a sabbath.
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Pretorius had made careful preparations for the inevitable battle. Aware of the Zulu practice of
attacking from all sides at once, thereby enveloping their foes, he chose a site with the east protected
by the Ncome River and the south by a deep donga, or drying watercourse. The wagons were
arranged in a laager, a defensive circle, on the other sides and woven wooden hurdles, fence panels,
had been brought to block the space below the wagons, the wheels of which were covered with ox
skins to complete the wall. There were three muzzle-loading cannon and three smaller guns. The
musketeers were given [oopers,leather containers of buckshot, and the artillery was loaded with
grapeshot. Eight men were to man each gap between wagons and a lantern was slung above them to
assist reloading in the dawn light. The problem of panicking animals was foreseen; the oxen were to
be tethered head to head and for every four horses there was a man allocated to hold them. The 470
Voortrekkers and 120 Natal blacks waited for the light.

The left horn of the Zulu formation crept around to the north-west and attacked at dawn. By 8 am
it was cut to ribbons. The right horn and chest (centre) of the Zulu force was obliged by the terrain to
attack from much the same direction and suffered a similar fate. About 1,000 warriors attempting to
conceal themselves in the river were killed there, causing the waters to run red and giving the battle
its name. Altogether some 3,000 Zulus died while the Voortrekkers had only three wounded as their
total casualties, including Pretorius himself. The hand of God, they were convinced, had been shown.
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Blood River Poort, Action at,

17 September 1901

In an attempt to distract the British from their campaign against the guerrillas, the Boers invaded the
Cape and Natal in September 1901. Louis Botha gained a military success over Hubert Gough at
Blood River Poort, but a lack of horses and transport, as well as poor information on British
dispositions, forced him to withdraw with little to show for his pains.

At a conference held at Standerton in the Transvaal in June 1901, the Boer leaders decided to
ease the pressure being exerted by the British on the guerrilla commandos by invading the British
colonies. Commandant Jan Smuts was to enter Cape Colony while Commandant-general Louis Botha
headed towards Natal.

Botha reached Rooikraal near Piet Retief, far to the east, on 11 September and was joined by the
Wakkerstroom and Piet Retief commandos. Two days later he had arrived at Frischgewagd on the
Pivaan River to meet the Utrecht commando, but now the horses of his original group, Bethal and



Middelburg commandos, were exhausted and had to rest. The spring rains reduced the ground to a
mire. On 17 September they reached Blood River Poort, the gorge through

¥



Page 30

which Blood River runs, and were in touch with Cherry Emmett and the 300 men of the Vryheid
commando seven miles (10km) further south-east at Scheepers Nek. This brought the total force to
some 2,000 men.

The British were aware of their approach and Lieutenant-colonel Hubert Gough had arrived at
Dundee on 13 September with 24th Mounted Infantry. Together with mounted infantry drawn from the
Rifle Brigade, Durham Light Infantry, 3rd King’s Royal Rifles, Irish Fusiliers, South Lancashires and
Scottish Rifles, they moved with the Johannesburg Mounted Rifles to De Jagers Drift on the
Natal/Transvaal border. On 17 September a British patrol saw Boers on Scheepers Nek and Gough
decided to attack that night. The force was in fact 150 Vryheiders who were waiting for Botha and the
bulk of the men; the latter had moved off northwards and unsaddled beyond a ridge which hid them
from the view of the British patrol. Gough moved forwards with two guns of the Royal Field Artillery
and a Colt machine gun to support his mounted infantry, sending the horse forward at a gallop over the
final, open ground. Suddenly 500 of Botha’s men galloped from the Poort to take the British on the
flank, a rare example of a Boer charge. Trying to get the guns into action, Gough found himself in
danger of capture and reached for his revolver. The holster was empty. Gough was taken together
with six other officers and 235 men. Six officers and thirty-eight men were killed or wounded.

Gough escaped that night. Botha was obliged to release the captives as he had nowhere to hold
them, so, having been deprived of their trousers, they made their shameful way back. The guns, 180
rifles and 30,000 rounds of ammunition were taken as well as 200 horses. This was, unfortunately,
fairly pointless, for the horses were as exhausted as his own and the rest of the booty came without
transport. Botha mounted attacks on Forts Itala and Prospect but was beaten off both. Apart from
giving the British another set-back, little had been achieved and the second invasion of Natal was
abandoned.

See also:
Boer Tactics; Cape Colony, Invasions of.
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Boer

A farmer. The word became the generic name for the people of Dutch descent who left Cape Colony
on the Great Trek to establish republics in the interior. During the 20th century, Boer gave way to the
term Afrikaner, a speaker of the Afrikaans language.



Boer Forces

The forces the Boers were able to put in the field in 1899 were largely volunteers, burghers or
citizens who were obliged to serve in a commando, their basic military unit. The professionals
amongst them were members of the Staatsartillerie (State Artillery) or the Politie (police). In
addition, supporters came from overseas to become members of existing commandos or to form their
own brigades. On the outbreak of war the Boer forces comprised approximately 55,000 burghers,
1,200 artillerymen, 2,000 police and 2,000 foreign volunteers, plus some 400 support service
personnel, of whom perhaps 35,000 were in the field.




Page 33

one of the Irish Brigades and the Scandinavian Corps. To these were added the French,
Americans, Italians (including Lieutenant Count Pecci, nephew of Pope Leo XIII), Russians and
Swiss. Mohommed Ben Nasser, a Muslim, came from North Africa and eventually became a
Transvaal citizen. Few corps were composed entirely of the nationals of the country after which they
were named, as the story of the Russian volunteers illustrates.

See also:
Artillery; Commandeer; French volunteers; Irish; Rifles; Russian Volunteers; Appendix: Boer
Forces.
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Boer Forces, Discipline

Boer formations were held together more by mutual agreement than by any European concept of
military discipline imposed from above and sanctioned by law. This made them difficult to control
and command, vulnerable in times of hardship and formidable when the spirit of battle was upon
them.

European soldiers had great difficulty in understanding the way Boer commandos behaved. The
burgher, the citizen soldier, was commanded by an officer he had had a part in electing; the Field
Cornet was simply first among equals and could be replaced in another election. Commanders were
the social equals of their men and were often their neighbours or members of their own family, quite
unlike the hierarchical structure of a European regiment. A burgher might decline to participate in an
action he thought unwise or excessively dangerous, or absent himself from his unit entirely, even
knowingly breaking the law, in order to attend to the harvest. When they did fight they did so because
they chose to do so. It follows that commanding a commando was always something of a gamble.

Nominally discipline was based on the commando acts of the parliaments of the South African
Republic (Transvaal) of 1898 and the Orange Free State of 1899. These laws laid down punishments
of fines or imprisonment for breaches of military discipline. In fact many offences were allowed to go
unpunished or merely admonished, and imprisonment was rarely used given the shortage of
manpower. Various field punishments were devised. Saddle-pack involved the miscreant’s walking
around the camp carrying his saddle, rifle and other equipment for a set length of time or number of
circuits while his comrades jeered, a tiring and humiliating experience. The oxhide punishment
involved being tossed in the air from an oxhide from a newly slaughtered animal manipulated by ten
men. Gun riding was more serious. The convict, sometimes trouserless, had to sit astride a gun barrel,



with hands and feet tied, in the heat of the day. He might eventually collapse because of the awkward

posture and excessive heat. Alternatively he might be tied to a wagon wheel to cook in the sun for a
while.
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Beatings were administered casually, and a commander might use his sjambok, his whip, in the
heat of the moment, but there was also a formal use of corporal punishment. Men might be sentenced
to a given number of lashes with a harness or offered the alternative of paying a fine or enduring a
given number of lashes with a sjambok.

The American Military Attaché, Captain Carl Reichmann, summed up the situation when he said,
“Having complied with the law calling him [the burgher] into the field, he yielded cooperation, not
obedience”.

For what were seen as acts of treason the death penalty was exacted. Deneys Reitz reports that a
Cape Colonial, one Lemuel Colaine, joined Commandant H. J. Brouwer’s commando on the pretext
of having been imprisoned by the British. When Colaine subsequently went missing, Reitz says, “No
particular notice was taken of his absence, as the men were constantly riding off to visit farms, or
look up friends at distant outposts, and it was thought that he had done the same”. They had a rude
awakening when the man led a British raiding party against them. Not long afterwards Colaine was
caught in an attack undertaken by Jan Smuts’s men and the General ordered him to be shot. A grave
was dug and, after being allowed time with a minister, Colaine was executed.

When peace overtures were being made by the British in January 1901 the Landdrost, or district
magistrate, of Griqualand West, J. J. Morgandaal was held captive when undertaking an embassy to
Senior Commandant C. C. Froneman. Morgendaal’s action in advocating peace with, or surrender to,
the British led Froneman first to beat him and then to shoot him. It was said that Christiaan De Wet
looked on, but there is no mention of the incident in his book. Another execution was that of Meyer de
Kock who had helped set up the Burgher Peace Committee in Pretoria. He was on a mission to
Commandant-general Louis Botha when he was captured. He was shot on 12 February 1901.

See also:
Boer Forces; Public Hanging.
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Boer Forces, Training

Although most of the Boer fighters were conscripts or volunteers, they were not untrained. The
ordinary life of the farming Boer demanded competence as a marksman and skill in horsemanship, not
just riding but all aspects of caring for a horse as well. In addition, competitions and field days were
used to build on these skills and to bring town dwellers up to standard. However, apart from the



States Artillery and the Police forces, the Boers were an amateur army.
Marksmanship of a high standard was encouraged by holding Wapenschouwsor rifle meetings,
also known as Bisl/eysafter the British rifle
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championships, at which cash prizes were awarded. Ammunition was issued free for this
purpose, as were 200 rounds when, just before the outbreak of war, the Boer government exchanged
new Mauser rifles for the burghers’ old Martini-Henrys and wanted to ensure the owners were
familiar with their new weapons. These competitions took place two or three times a year as did
Field Days on which various martial activities were undertaken. A mock battle might take place or a
number of simulated attacks were undertaken on supposed enemy positions. In the period immediately
before the outbreak of war the frequency of field days increased and they became common once again
during the guerrilla phase when boredom was a problem during the numerous periods of inactivity.

See also:
Boer Tactics.
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Boer Republics

At the outbreak of war in 1899 the British faced the forces of two Boer Republics. The principal
combatant was the South African Republic (Zuid-Afrikaansche Republiek), which the British knew
by its former name of the Transvaal, and the secondary adversary, entering the war in support of the
ZAR, was the Orange Free State. These republics were the final consolidation of a number of lesser
republics that had formed since the Great Trek in 1836 and illustrate the diversity of Boer political
opinion.

A first republic was set up at Thaba *Nchu in 1837 but the original Voortrekkers to the area,
Hendrick Potgieter and Piet Uys, were not elected to the government and, in annoyance, took their
followers across the Vaal to set up another at Potchefstroom. Meanwhile Piet Retief led the
expansion into Natal against Zulu resistance, lost his life and was avenged at Blood River by Andries
Pretorius who founded Natalia. Other republics came and went at Utrecht and Lydenburg while
Natalia faded away. The Sand River Convention of 1852 recognised the Transvaal which was
actually three republics and the Bloemfontein Convention recognised the Orange Free State which
was, in fact, the amalgam of two republics. The divisions between the various groups of Boers were
not apparent to outsiders, and would resurface under the strains of warfare as bitter-enders stubbornly
fought on, hands-uppers withdrew from the conflict and joiners threw in their lot with the British.

See also:
Bitter-enders; Hands-uppers; Joiners.




Reference:
Troup, Freda, South Africa: An Historical Introduction (London, Eyre Methuen, 1972).




Page 36

Boer Tactics

Although the Boers are best known for their mobility and evasiveness, they did change their tactics
during the war. At times they carried out lightning attacks, and at others they took up siege warfare.
They used trenches in defence and concealment in the field, but also, on occasion, made attacks very
like classic cavalry charges. They were versatile and opportunistic which sometimes gave them the
advantage, but they were also poorly disciplined and easily discouraged and their lack of staying
power let them down.

At the outbreak of the war the Boers moved quickly in a large number of quite small groups,
permeating the British defences and eventually surrounding their enemies in Kimberley, Ladysmith
and Mafeking. From Ladysmith, in Natal, they might have gone on to the coast at Durban, but the
determination of their aged leader, Commandant-general Piet Joubert, failed and they fell back to
defend the Tugela River against the force seeking to lift the siege. The events in Natal illustrate the
first phase of the war.

In siege situations the Boers depended on tactics such as cutting off supplies to the besieged,
shelling the towns indiscriminately with their guns and occasionally attacking on foot. They were
aware of the dangers of illness and, at Ladysmith, were in the process of building a dam to cut off the
Klip River, the supply of drinking water. At the same time they had agreed a neutral zone for the sick
at Intombi camp and adhered to their promise to leave it safe. Neither the British nor the Boers
appeared to see any inconsistency in doing this while shelling civilians — men, women and children.

In defence the Boers made excellent use of the ground, exploiting natural cover and making it
difficult for the British to locate the source of rifle fire when smokeless powder was used. In Natal
they made their traditional good use of high ground which, on the Tugela where they overlooked the
lowlands from which the British approached, worked well until General Sir Redvers Buller
perfected his tactics of giving his infantry limited objectives and close artillery support. On the
approaches to Kimberley, on the other hand, the terrain was flat and open with occasional kopjes,
mesa-like hills, and a few rivers. Here the flat trajectory of the high-velocity rifle was exploited by
firing from concealed positions in trenches. This tactic worked until the British achieved superior
mobility and were able to outflank the Boer positions, at which the defenders abandoned their
trenches and moved off.

In the guerrilla phase of the war the main aggressive effort went into disrupting communications
by blowing up bridges, breaking up railway tracks and intercepting supply-wagon trains. At Waterval
Drift on 15 February 1900 Vecht-general Christiaan De Wet captured a supply train with a third of
the British oxen and a full four days’ supplies. However, he was so keen to squirrel away his plunder
that he was fatally slow in moving to the support of Assistant Commandant-general Cronj¢é at
Paardeberg. As the war continued and Boer sup-
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plies by railway from Portuguese East Africa were cut off, the need to acquire clothing, guns,
ammunition and even food from the British was added to the incentives to ambush and cut out small
contingents of their enemies. By that time, having no permanent territory under their control, the Boers
had nowhere to keep prisoners. They therefore took to uitskud,literally ‘shaking out’, that is, stripping
the British and releasing them naked to find their way back to their comrades.

On one occasion the attempt to promote disease was purposely undertaken. Bloemfontein was
supplied with water from waterworks at Sannaspos to the east of the town. It was to destroy these
works and to deny clean water to the town and both civilians and military there that De Wet went
there on 31 March 1900 and, by chance, encountered Brigadier-general R. G. Broadwood. The fact
that he won a famous victory there and that the waterworks survived should not obscure the fact that
the increase of typhoid (enteric) fever in Bloemfontein was De Wet’s primary objective.

On their Field Days, their training days, the Boers practised charging towards an objective and
opening fire upon it, either from horseback or dismounted. These tactics were rarely used in the field
but some examples exist, such as at Blood River Poort in northern Natal where Commandant-general
Louis Botha worsted Lieutenant-colonel Hubert Gough, and at Rooiwal where Lieutenant-colonel
Robert Kekewich destroyed a force of 1,500 Boers who charged him. Deneys Reitz gives a graphic
account of the foot charge made by the Boers against the Northumberland Fusiliers at Nooitgedacht
and the attack on Wagon Hill at Ladysmith also involved Boers advancing under fire, though the
terrain precluded a charge as such.

See also:
Blood River Poort, Action at; Colenso, Battle of; Ladysmith, Siege of; Nooitgedacht, Battle of;
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Boer War, First (First War of Independence),

1880-81

The Transvaal regained its independence to a great extent, if not completely, as a result of a short,
sharp war in which the Boers, untrained amateur soldiers, defeated professional British soldiers of
approximately equal numbers. The British army felt the disgrace very deeply and, when the chance
presented itself, was eager to avenge this defeat. “Remember Majuba” became a war-cry.



In 1876 the Afrikaners fought an unsuccessful war against the Pedi nation in the northern
Transvaal and the burghers refused to pay the taxes required to meet the cost. In 1879 the British, in
spite of the provisions of the Sand River Convention of 1852 which granted autonomy to the
Transvaal,
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sent the governor of Natal, Sir Theophilus Shepstone, to annex the republic. There was no
protest, the government having to all purposes fallen apart. British rule failed to improve the situation
and Boer missions to present their grievances were largely ignored. After the Zulu War of 1879 the
British attitude, if anything, hardened. The unwillingness of the Boers to pay taxes persisted under the
British as it had flourished under their own government, but the British responded by demanding the
payment of estimated sums, with the burden of proof of a lesser debt falling on the citizen. The matter
came to a head in the case of Piet Bezuidenhout who won his case but refused to pay costs. An
attempt to enforce the judgement was met by direct action by 100 burghers and followed by a mass
meeting at Paardekraal (now Krugersdorp). A Triumvirate of Paul Kruger, Piet Joubert and Marthinus
Pretorius was elected to form a government and war followed.

The British took steps to consolidate their forces in the Transvaal but the 94th Regiment, on their
way to Pretoria, was intercepted by the Boers at Bronkhorstspruit on 20 December 1880 and over
half their number were killed or wounded. Pretoria prepared for a siege. The governor of Natal,
Major-general Sir George Pomeroy-Colley was organising the Natal Field Force to put down what
the British saw as a uprising and what the Boers saw as a war of independence. Colley did not
succeed. In a series of battles in northern Natal — Langs (Laing’s) Nek on 28 January 1881, Ingogo
(Schuinshooghte) on 8 February and Majuba on 27 February — the British were comprehensively
defeated. At Majuba 78 per cent of officers and 58 per cent of other ranks were killed, wounded or
taken prisoner. Colley himself was killed. The British government, much to the anger of the army,
made peace and the Transvaal became quasi-independent, allowing Britain a voice only in foreign
affairs. When the second Boer war broke out in 1899, British regular soldiers were determined to
avenge the humiliating defeat at Majuba.

See also:
Paardeberg, Battle of.
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Boshof, Battle of,

S April 1900

Bloemfontein fell to Lord Roberts on 13 March 1900 and he stayed there in order to allow the army
to regroup and recover. The Boers undertook a few, limited operations during this period, including a
movement by the European Legion, strengthened with Boers, towards the town of Boshof. The


http://www.battlefields.co.za/history/1st_war_of_independence/index.htm

commander of this 150—man force was Frenchman Count G. H. A. V. de Villebois-Mareuil, who had
the rank of Vecht-general. He was a strong critic of the Boers’ tactics and discipline and, in an
attempt to demonstrate correct military conduct, was killed together with two other Frenchmen when
the British attacked them at a farm called Tweefontein, south-east of the town.
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Villebois-Mareuil thought that Boshof was occupied by some 200 to 300 British and, with his
force of 150 men, persisted in advancing even when the Boers told him that many times that number of
British soldiers were in the town. In fact a force under Lord Methuen had moved up from Kimberley
and the Count found himself and his men seriously outnumbered. When some 750 men of the Imperial
Yeomanry, Kimberley Mounted Corps and 4th Battery, Royal Field Artillery came across the
commando, instead of prudently retreating, Villebois-Mareuil took up positions on two kopjes, his
Frenchmen on one, the Boers on the other. The battle lasted for three hours, during which the Boers
surrendered and the French defiantly fought on. The Count was killed by shellfire as the British were
making their final attack with bayonets.

See also:
Abraham’s Kraal, Battle of; French volunteers; Villebois-Mareuil, Colonel Count Georges de.
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Bos-Veldt

Bush-veldt, bush country covered with thin vegetation on the high plains.
Botha, Assistant Commandant-General Christiaan,

1864-1902

Christiaan Botha was the brother of Louis Botha and in 1899 was appointed Commander of the
Swaziland Police. He was in command of the Boer forces who intended to resist the British advance
at Langs Nek, where the Boers had won a famous victory in 1881 in the First Boer War. On 2 June
1900 Christiaan held discussions with General Sir Redvers Buller to explore the possibilities of
peace, but despite a three-day armistice these overtures came to nothing. Buller outflanked the Boer
position with an attack on Botha’s Pass and Alleman Nek, and no engagement took place at Langs
Nek. The Boers vacated Langs Nek on 11 June, after blowing up the railway tunnel. Soon after the
war Botha died of peritonitis.



See also:
Botha’s Pass. Action at.
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Botha, Commandant-General Louis,

1862-1919

Louis Botha entered the war in 1899 as an ordinary burgher but rose swiftly to become one of the
greatest Boer commanders. He held the British general Sir Redvers Buller on the Tugela River for
nearly three months by making good use of the terrain and
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Versailles peace conference of 1919 and was dismayed by the oppressive terms imposed on
Germany. He died later that year.

See also:
Bakenlaagte, Battle of; Bergendal, Battle of; Blood River Poort, Action at; Botha’s Pass, Action

at; Colenso, Battle of; Diamond Hill, Battle of; Spioenkop, Battle of; Vaalkrans, Battle of; Willow
Grange, Battle of.
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Botha’s Pass, Action at,

8 June 1900

The main line of communication and the obvious route by road and rail from northern Natal to
Johannesburg is by way of a pass called Langs Nek which the Boers assumed would be attacked.
After the relief of Ladysmith Sir Redvers Buller advanced north and the Boers fell back, first to the
Biggarsberg mountains and then to Langs Nek. On 2 June Buller met Commandant-general Louis
Botha’s brother, Christiaan to see if terms for peace could be negotiated. A three-day truce allowing
time for consultations with governments ended with no agreement. Buller, helped by the excellent
maps of the area and encouraged by Lord Roberts, had used the time to prepare artillery positions and
on 8 June surprised the Boers by attacking Botha’s Pass to the west. Having taken the pass, he then
turned north and outflanked the Boers at Langs Nek by taking Alleman Nek. The Boers withdrew,
blowing up the railway tunnel, but leaving the road to the Transvaal open.

The Royal Garrison Artillery, 16th Battery Southern Division, had joined Buller south of the
Tugela River in January and played a key part in this action. Two of their 5-inch guns with right-half
Battery were taken to Inkwelo, the large hill south of Majuba and Langs Nek, while the two guns of
left-half Battery were hauled up Van Wyk Hill. At 10 a.m. on 8 June they opened fire, the former on
Langs Nek to keep the Boers there and the latter on Botha’s Pass to cover the actual attack. Within
three hours the pass was taken but the Boers had fallen back and were putting down heavy rifle fire
over the plain beyond it. The artillery raised its sights and brought fresh fire down on their enemies.
By 4 p.m. resistance had ceased and Buller bivouacked with his troops beyond the pass in the Orange
Free State that night.

The next day men and supplies moved up the pass and on 10 June the advance resumed. The



Boers made a last attempt to forestall Buller’s progress the next day which saw action at Alleman
Nek, five miles (8km) west of Volkrust. Buller was reunited with Lieutenant-general C. F. Clery’s
2nd Division in Volkrust three days later, having demonstrated supreme skill as a field commander.

See also:
Alleman Nek, Action at; Helpmekaar, Action at; Maps.
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Bothaville, Action at,

6 November 1900

Chief-commandant Christiaan De Wet, President M. T. Steyn and Senior Commandant C. C.
Froneman met on 5 November at a farm called Doornkraal, six miles (10km) south of Bothaville in
the north-west of the Orange Free State to discuss the plan for De Wet to enter Cape Colony.
Although they were aware of a British column nearby, they were surprised by a British force led by
Lieutenant-colonel P. W. J. le Gallais the next day. Many men fled, the leaders managing to escape,
but in a hard-fought action a small band of Boers held out for four hours during which le Gallais was
killed. All De Wet’s field artillery was lost.

When the Boer leaders convened on 5 November at the farm on the Vlasch River, a skirmish
with British scouts warned them of the presence of their enemies and sentries were posted north of
the stream. Nevertheless, the 5th and 8th Mounted Infantry succeeded in launching a surprise attack
the next morning. De Wet wrote of the panic which seized his men, some riding away without even
saddling their horses first. A small group of Boers were isolated in a farmhouse and the next four
hours saw a fierce exchange of fire with the British who were about 200 yards (180m) away in
another farm. During this le Gallais was fatally wounded and De Wet later said of him that he was
one of the bravest English officers he had ever met. British reinforcements under Major-general
Charles Knox were apparently in no hurry to assist. Eventually, surrounded, the Boers had to
surrender. De Wet put the loss at nine killed while the British casualties numbered twenty-five. Over
100 Boers were taken prisoner and four 75mm guns, one of the 15-pounders taken at Colenso and a
12-pounder captured at Sannaspos were recaptured. De Wet dismissed the loss of the guns as
insignificant because they had almost no ammunition for them anyway. Following this setback, and
lacking the apparatus of an army, guerrilla warfare was De Wet’s only option.

See also:
Cape Colony, Invasions of.
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Boyes, Major-General J. E.

John Edward Boyes was born in 1843 and joined the 75th Foot in 1861. He
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became a major in the Gordon Highlanders in 1880 and served with that regiment in Egypt in
1882, in the Sudan in 1884 and in the Nile Expedition of 1884—85. He became commander of the 17th
Brigade in Lieutanantgeneral Sir Leslie Rundle’s 8th Division in 1900.

Brabant, Major-General Sir Edward,

1839-1914

Edward Yewdale Brabant was about sixty years of age when he raised Brabant’s Horse in 1900. He
had retired as a captain in the Cape Rifles twenty years earlier and entered the Legislative Assembly.
The British Commander-in-Chief, Lord Roberts, was aware of the problems that locally raised troops
experienced when required to serve in regular army units and gave Brabant the job of forming a
division of local volunteers. The two regiments he raised were manned mainly by farmers from the
Eastern Province of Cape Colony and served in the Colonial Division. Within Cape Colony they
distinguished themselves in the defence of the bridge at Aliwal North. They were particularly
disliked by the Boers, who felt that many of these men should have been their allies and comrades
against the British, and it was their presence that led Commandant-general Christiaan De Wet to be
drawn into besieging them at Jammerbergdrif (or Wepener). Brabant was Commandant-general of the
Cape Colonial Forces from 1902 to 1904.

See also:
Jammerbergdrif, Siege of.
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Brandfort, Action at,

3—4 May 1900

Brandfort was the first objective in Lord Roberts’s advance to the Transvaal. The numerical
superiority of the British enabled them to outflank Boer positions, forcing a retreat.

The road and railway running north from Bloemfontein both pass through the town of Brandfort,
which was defended by the Boers — by the Heidelberg Commando and Irish Brigade on kopjes to the



west and by Assistant Commandant-general Koos De la Rey with the Ermelo and Wakkerstroom
Commandos to the east. The task of defending the town from fixed positions was valiantly undertaken
but the threat of envelopment of their flanks by British Mounted Infantry forced the Boers to
withdraw.

In March 1901 a white concentration camp was established near the town and by August of that
year it held nearly 3,500 people.

See also:
Bloemfontein, Advance from; Concentration Camps, White; Vet River, Battle of.
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Brandwater Basin, Surrender at,

30 July 1900

After the British capture of Pretoria and the Battle of Diamond Hill in June 1900, the British
Commander-in-Chief, Lord Roberts, turned his attention to rounding up the Boers in the north-eastern
Orange Free State. They were principally located in the Brandwater Basin, the area around
Fouriesburg through which the Brandwater and Little Caledon rivers flow. Here they were trapped by
the British under Lieutenant-general Sir Archibald Hunter. A third of the Boers, under Chief-
commandant Christiaan De Wet, with whom President Steyn and government officers were travelling,
escaped. The rest, some 4,500 men now commanded by Chief-commandant Marthinus Prinsloo,
surrendered, giving the British their second great capitulation of the year, following Paardeberg.

The Brandwater Basin is just within the border of the Orange Free State and Basutoland
(Lesotho), with mountains, snow-covered at that time of year, to the south-east. The valley 1s fairly
open to the south-west by Commando Nek, and a number of narrower valleys give access to the north
and north-east through the Roodebergen mountains. The British were closing in on three sides, so De
Wet divided the Boers into three groups hoping to escape by different routes, leaving a small force
under Marthinus Prinsloo to guard the valley, full as it was of Boer cattle.

On 15 July De Wet led his division out through Slabbert’s Nek. After he had gone a dispute
broke out over the appointment of Paul Roux as Assistant Chief-commandant and an election was held
in which Prinsloo was favoured. Meanwhile Major-general Arthur Paget’s 20th Brigade closed
Slabbert’s Nek and Lieutenant-general Sir Leslie Rundle sealed Commando Nek to the south-west.
To the north Hunter covered Retief’s Nek and Major-general Bruce Hamilton closed the passes to the
east. Slabbert’s and Retief’s Neks were then taken and the British broke into the valley. The author
Erskine Childers, who was serving with the Honorable Artillery Company Battery of the City
Imperial Volunteers, described the country as *. . .an immense amphitheatre of rich, undulating
pasture-land, with a white farm here and there, half-hidden in trees. Beyond rose tier on tier of hills,
ending on snow-clad mountain peaks.”

Prinsloo asked Hunter for an armistice which was refused, and after some confusion the Boer
commander accepted the British terms, which allowed the Boers to retain their personal possessions,
notably their wagons. The guns and ammunition were given up to be burned. De Wet regarded the
whole episode as near treacherous conduct on the part of Prinsloo.

See also:
Paardeberg, Battle of; Prinsloo, Chief Commandant Marthinus.
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British Colonisation of South Africa

Cape Colony became British as a result of the defeat of France in the Napoleonic Wars. As British
laws and customs grew to dominate life in the colony, the Boers departed to seek their own,
independent existence. They settled inland while the British spread along the coast, surrounding the
isolated Boers. The discovery of gold and diamonds turned Britain’s attention to the interior,
precipitating the inevitable clash.

The Dutch settlement at the Cape of Good Hope was given “protection” by the British in 1795
when the English were at war with France, of which the Netherlands was a client state. The
settlement was yielded up to the Dutch in 1803 under the Treaty of Amiens, taken again when the war
was renewed, and kept by the British in 1814 under agreement reached at the Congress of Vienna
when the Napoleonic Wars were finally over. The farms then supplied the British ships on the route
to the east just as they had supplied the Dutch before them.

The British presence led to the abolition of slavery in the Colony in 1834 and the imposition of
English language and government on the inhabitants. As the Boers undertook the Great Trek to
colonise the interior, so the British established themselves along the coast at Port Elizabeth, East
London and Port Natal, which was to become Durban. Natal was annexed in 1845. The people of
Dutch origin were thus cut off from contact with the outside world and, armed with a faith in a God
who had demonstrated his favour to them, preserved a farming culture that became increasingly at
odds with the commercial and imperial imperatives that influenced the British. These influences were
strengthened by the discovery of mineral wealth, much of it in Boer territory, the exploitation of
which could be achieved only with capital investment the British alone were in a position to make.

See also:
Great Trek, The; Rhodes, Cecil.
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British Forces

When Sir Alfred Milner was appointed High Commissioner for South Africa and Governor of Cape
Colony in 1897, there were at most 10,000 British troops within his jurisdiction. As the likelihood of
war against the Boers increased, largely because of Milner’s influence, reluctant steps were taken to
reinforce the British presence by moving troops from India and the Mediterranean. The British
Commander-in-Chief at the outbreak of the war, General Sir Redvers Buller, was of the opinion that



at least 50,000 men would be required to win a war against the Boers. By the end of the war over
250,000 regular soldiers and around 110,000 volunteers from Britain, over 30,000 volunteers from
other countries of the British Empire and more than 50,000 men from South Africa had been involved,
and it may be that
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Graspan. Some 1,400 men were ashore at any one time.

The men in the field were supported by the Army Service Corps, the Royal Army Medical
Corps, the Royal Engineers, the Army Ordnance Department and various other services, some in the
front line and some in depots and supply centres.

The troops raised to supplement the regulars came both from within South Africa and from
overseas. Many of the uitlanders,the non-Boer inhabitants of the Boer republics, left for Natal or the
Cape and joined such formations as the Imperial Light Horse. Canada sent troops as did the
Australian colonies (Australia as such had not yet come into existence). In proportion to its
population, New Zealand sent more men than any country.

Two additional groups within South Africa supplied men to the British — the Boers and the black
Africans. Many men of Dutch ancestry within the British colonies, and citizens of those colonies,
declined to join the republican Boers and became members of such formations as Brabant’s Horse.
They were regarded as traitors to the Boer cause, as were the “joiners”, Boers of the republics who
joined the British to form such units as the National Scouts and the Orange River Volunteers. Piet De
Wet, brother of Chief-commandant Christiaan De Wet, was one such and lived out his life after the
war an outcast in his own country.

How many black Africans served with the British is impossible to determine. They worked as
servants and as ox and mule drivers, but also as scouts and as armed guards on the block-house lines
and in the concentration camps that were vulnerable to Boer attack. Their service was ignored when
the time came to negotiate the peace.
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British Forces.
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British Opposition to the War

Although the popular press and the majority of the public were strong in their support for the war, a
significant minority, including some Members of
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Parliament, was opposed to the war, seeing it as repressive of the Boer’s freedom. The exposure
of conditions in the so-called refugee camps gave added impetus to their view, but the course of the
war was not much influenced by the Pro-Boers. However, they did make their mark on the conditions
of the peace and the subsequent development of British policy towards the Boers.

It should be noted that the ProBoers were in opposition to the war rather than in support of the
Boer republics and their policies. Prominent among them were the Members of Parliament Henry
Labouchére and Sir Wilfrid Lawson. The policy of farm burning and the use of concentration camps
brought politicians of greater standing into sympathy with the Pro-Boers; Sir Henry Campbell-
Bannerman condemned these acts as being “methods of barbarism”. Two future British Prime
Ministers were also able to claim anti-war honours, David Lloyd George and Ramsay MacDonald.

Their motivation sprang from a number of convictions. Some opposed an imperialist war against
a country governed by a parliamentary system. Others saw the war as a capitalist plot, many going as
far as to suggest that it was a Jewish plot. Two committees came to govern the Pro-Boer movement:
the Transvaal Committee, later the South African Conciliation Committee; and the Stop the War
Committee. Support also came from groups with wider concerns, such as the League of Liberals
against Aggression and Militarism which was founded in February 1900. In the General Election of
October 1900, the so-called Khaki Election, the limited influence of the Pro-Boers was made
manifest when they failed to turn out the government.

See also:
Anti-semitism; Concentration Camps; Hobhouse, Emily.
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British South Africa Company

The British South Africa Company was established by Cecil Rhodes in 1888 in order to exploit the
rights obtained from the chief of the Ndebele people in what became Southern Rhodesia. It was
granted a Royal Charter in 1889, thus becoming the official governing body of a new colony, known
as the Chartered Company.

See also:
Rhodes, Cecil.
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British Uniforms and Equipment

In the First Boer War in 1881 the British infantry still fought in their traditional scarlet uniforms. In
1896
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the khaki drill service dress introduced in India was adopted for all British troops serving
outside Europe. The men arriving in South Africa, however, still wore buff-coloured belts and
equipment which they soon learned to stain with tea or tobacco juice for concealment. The Scottish
regiments were issued with khaki aprons to cover their kilts, but these only concealed the front. The
helmet was later replaced by the slouch hat favoured by the Colonial troops and visible distinctions
of rank between officers and men in uniform and equipment virtually disappeared.

Lieutenant C. W. Barton of the 2nd Northamptonshire Regiment noted the arrangements for the
carriage of kit, and thus gives in his journal a good idea of what was considered necessary on the
march: “The kit of the men was carried as follows: 2 Blankets, carried in Wagons; 1 Waterproof
sheet, carried on the man; 1 Great Coat, carried in Wagons with the shirt & socks in pockets; 1 pair
canvas shoes, carried in Waterproof sheet on man; 1 pair socks, carried in Great Coat pocket on
wagon; 1 Jersey, carried in waterproof sheet on man; 1 Flannel shirt, carried in Great Coat pocket on
wagon”. His own kit, he says, was down to 351lbs (16kg), thus: Waterproof Valise, 10lbs; Bag
blanket, 61bs; Clothing: 1 shirt, 2pr socks, 1 sweater, 1 pr. pants, 2 cholera belts, 1 Balaclava cap, 2
coloured & 2 silk handkerchiefs, in canvas bag to keep off damp, 41bs; Toilet bag: 1 Sponge, 1 towel,
1 Razor, 1 shaving brush, 1 Hair brush, 1 Tooth brush, 1 Box tooth powder, 2 cakes soap, 1 looking
glass, Nail nippers, Lantern folding, 31bs; Clothes: 1 Khaki Coat, 1 trousers, 1 felt hat, 41bs; 1 pr
Boots, 1 pr canvas shoes, 31bs; Writing case, Prayer book, House wife, 31bs; Canvas water bucket &
water bag, 21bs = 351bs. In addition he carried on the march his waterproof sheet with a knitted
cardigan vest rolled inside weighing 5% Ibs.

See also:
Rifles.
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Broadwood, Brigadier-General R. G.,

1862-1917

Robert George Broadwood was born in 1862 and joined the 12th Lancers in 1881. He served under
Kitchener, who became Commander-in-Chief in South Africa, in the Dongola Expeditionary Force
and then in Egypt and the Sudan. He assumed command of the 2nd Cavalry Brigade in February 1900
with the temporary rank of Brigadier-general. He was involved both in the relief of Kimberley and



the Boer defeat at Paardeberg and was captured by Chief-commandant Christiaan De Wet at
Sannaspos, from where he managed to extract a large proportion of his men, though he lost over 400
men as prisoners and seven guns. On 10 July 1901 he captured most of the government of the Orange
Free State, except for President Steyn himself, at Reitz.
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As a lieutenant-general, Broadwood was given command of the 57th (2nd West Lancashire)
Division in the First World War. He was killed in June 1917 by a stray shell near ArmentieAres.

See also:
Reitz, Action at; Sannaspos, Battle of.
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Brodrick, The Right Hon. W. St John F.,

18561942

St John Brodrick, eldest son of Viscount Midleton, succeeded Lord Lansdowne as Secretary of State
for War in October 1900. He was informed by Sir Alfred Milner, British High Commissioner in
South Africa, that, contrary to the view of the army, the war was not over. What Milner neglected to
mention, or was ignorant about, was the crisis in the concentration camps about to be revealed by
Emily Hobhouse. Brodrick met the uproar in Parliament with a stolid repetition of denials and half-
truths which eventually had to be abandoned and he then sent Mrs Millicent Fawcett out to inspect the
camps. Her commonsense recommendations did much to improve conditions.

In March 1901 Brodrick introduced his plan for army reform, under which six Army Corps were
to be formed, three for home defence and three for foreign service, each to be commanded by the man
who would have command in wartime. He appointed General Sir Redvers Buller to command First
Army Corps. However, the unjustified blackening of Buller’s reputation had been so effective that a
public outcry ensued, to which Brodrick gave way, depriving Buller of the post.

See also:
Concentration Camps; Hobhouse, Emily.
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Buller, General Sir Redvers, V.C.,

1839-1908



Sir Redvers Buller was lampooned by the British press as “Sir Reverse Buller” as a result of the set-
backs inflicted by the Boers in Black Week in December 1899. He was replaced as Commander-in-
Chief, Army Corps, South Africa, but was left in command of the army in Natal. His outstanding
achievements in the relief of Ladysmith and subsequent engagements were not given the recognition
they deserved and his reputation has suffered to this day.

Redvers Buller joined the 60th Rifles in 1858 and served in China, in the Red River Expedition
in Canada in 1870 and in southern Africa, winning the Victoria Cross in the Anglo-Zulu War of 1879.
He rose to high rank and held important positions as one of the “African” ring of officers enjoying the
favour of Lord Wolseley,
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control of the next battle, Vaalkrans, and halted that before it became a repeat of Spioenkop.
However, the partial success in the latter engagement was the foundation for Buller’s new tactics.
The infantry were given precise, limited objectives, the artillery was carefully deployed in support of
the infantry, and the cavalry was held in reserve for use when the Boer line was broken. In the
successive fights that made up the Battle of the Tugela Heights, the losses were painful and resulted
largely from limitations in the knowledge available about Boer dispositions; however, the steady
accumulation of modest victories smashed the Boer defence and led to the relief of Ladysmith.

Buller’s appreciation of the importance of concentrating his artillery in support of an infantry
charged with achievable and precise objectives was demonstrated with outstanding success at
Botha’s Pass in June 1900, the Battle of Bergendal in August and the final dispersal of the Boers east
of Lydenburg beyond Long Tom Pass in September 1900. He returned to England at the end of the
year, his task completed, only to meet a wall of non-comprehension and general condemnation of his
performance, led by the correspondent of The Timesnewspaper, Leo Amery. Amery went on to edit
the opinion-forming Times History of the War in South Africawhich consolidated the view that
Buller was unequal to the responsibilities placed upon him.

Many of the faults of which Buller is accused can be seen as strengths: the self-doubt as lack of
arrogance, and the willingness to break off an action as prudent husbandry of his men and resources.
His greatest strength was his ability, at over sixty years of age, to learn. Perhaps his adversaries
should be given the final word. Chief-commandant Christiaan De Wet pointed out that “whatever his
own people have to say to his discredit, Sir Redvers Buller had to operate against stronger positions
than any other English general in South Africa”. The American Colonel J. Y. F. Blake, commander of
the Boers’ Irish Brigade, wrote, “the Boers generally acknowledge General Buller as by far the
ablest commander the English had in the field”.

See also:
Bergendal, Battle of; Botha’s Pass, Action at; Colenso, Battle of; Spioenkop, Battle of; Tugela
Heights, Battle of; Vaalkrans, Battle of.
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Burger, Vice-President Schalk,

1852-1918

Schalk Willem Burger, a land surveyor, was born near Lydenburg in the Transvaal, served in the First



Boer War in 1881 and was in command of the Lydenburg Commando on the Swaziland border at the
beginning of the Second. He was censured for his neglect in permitting the successful British raid on
Gun Hill outside Ladysmith in December 1899. He then served on the Tugela River line and was
present at the Battle of Spioen-

¥

Crrey )



Page 54

kop. He fell 11l and withdrew to his home state where he became Acting President after Kruger
had left for Europe. At the Council of War of May 1901 he proposed making peace with the British,
but was outvoted by President Steyn of the Orange Free State and his supporters.

See also:
Ladysmith, Siege of; Spioenkop, Battle of.

Reference:

Hall, Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer
War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999).

Burgher

A male citizen of a Boer republic. A burgher was obliged to serve in the local militia force, the
commando, providing his own horse, provisions for eight days and, originally, his own musket or
rifle. All men over sixteen years of age and under sixty years were eligible, those between eighteen
and thirty-four called up at first, those between thirty-four and fifty next and the final group only in
extreme need. Failure to serve was punished with a fine or with imprisonment.

See also:
Boer Forces.

Reference:

Hall, Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer
War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999); Pretorius, Fransjohan, Life on
Commando during the Anglo-Boer War 1899—1902 (Cape Town, Human & Rousseau, 1999).

Burnham, Major Frederick Russell,

1860-1947

British weakness in reconnaissance was recognised early in the war and an experienced
fieldcraftsman, Burnham, was brought to South Africa to correct the fault. He performed useful
service in the taking of Johannesburg and Pretoria, besides experiencing a number of dramatic
adventures.

F. R. Burnham was born in Minnesota, United States, and learned much of his skill as a scout



and tracker from the indigenous people of his birth-place. He served in the Matabele War and in early
1900 was at home in Scagway, Alaska, planning to prospect for gold, when a telegram came from the
new British Commander-in-Chief, Lord Roberts, asking him to become Chief of Scouts. Burnham
attempted to discover the conditions inside Commandant-general Cronjé’s laager at Paardeberg by
floating down the Modder River under a box, but learned little. He was on his way eastwards from
Bloemfontein when he came across Chief-commandant Christiaan De Wet’s force ready to ambush
Brigadier-general Broadwood’s column at Sannaspos. He attempted to give the alarm but was
captured and could only look on as British soldiers were taken prisoner and guns and wagons fell into
Boer hands. Burnham escaped from the victor’s wagon train and made his way back to headquarters.

As the British approached Johannesburg, the large quantity of railway rolling stock there was
seen as an important potential prize, both to
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deny its future use to the Boers and to supplement the British supply capability. Burnham, with a
black African companion, went behind the enemy lines to blow up the lines and prevent the removal

of the wagons. After the fall of Pretoria in June 1900 it was assumed that Burnham’s work was over
and he left South Africa.

See also:
Paardeberg, Battle of; Sannaspos, Battle of.

Reference:

Burnham, Frederick Russell, ed. Mary N. Everett, Scouting on Two Continents (New York,
Doubleday, Doran & Co, 1928); Marix Evans, Martin, The Boer War: South Africa 1899-1902
(Oxford, Osprey Publishing, 1999).

Byng, Lieutenant-Colonel Julian,

1862-1935

When he was detached from Sir Redvers Buller’s staff in late 1899, Byng raised the South African
Light Horse and led them in the Battle of Tugela Heights. He was one of the leading commanders in
the sweeps that characterised the guerrilla phase of the war. Later, in the First World War he took
over the command of British forces at Gallipoli and organised the successful withdrawal. He then
became commander of the Canadian forces and led them against Vimy Ridge. After the war he
became Governor-general of Canada.

See also:
Tugela Heights, Battle of.

Reference:

Pope, Stephen & Elizabeth-Anne Wheal, The Macmillan Dictionary of the First World War
(London, Macmillan, 1995); Pakenham, Thomas, The Boer War (London, Weidenfeld &
Nicolson, 1979; Abacus, 1992).

Bywoner

An itinerant farm worker, who pays for food and accommodation with labour; also a share-cropper or
tenant, living on another’s farm. Men who scraped a livelihood in this fashion were likely to join the



British in the hope of bettering themselves.
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Cape Colony, Invasions of

At the outbreak of the war there were minor Boer incursions into the British Cape Colony at
Stormberg and Aliwal North and, on the north-eastern border, the siege of Kimberley which, while
not of major strategic importance, was politically sensitive because of Cecil Rhodes’s presence in
the besieged town. After the fall of the capital cities of the Boer republics, the Boers had hopes of
fomenting uprisings by Afrikanders, people of Dutch descent like themselves, within Cape Colony.
However, these efforts enjoyed virtually no success. More serious were the invasions led by Hertzog,
Kritzinger and Smuts. The latter was still in progress at the end of the war. All of these made
demands on British resources, but none of them constituted a serious threat to the British control of
the Cape.

The fighting on the borders of the colony near Kimberley and Stormberg is dealt with elsewhere
in this book. The decision to invade the Cape and operate behind British lines was taken by President
Steyn and Chief-commandant Christiaan De Wet in November 1900 and further such incursions
followed. The motivation was partly to undermine British security within the colony by giving
sympathisers the chance to join the Boers, and partly to find somewhere to operate where reprisals in
the form of farm burning could not take place. In December Assistant Chief-commandant P. H.
Kritzinger and J. B. M. Hertzog each led commandos into the Cape, and De Wet attempted to do the
same without success. A loyalist militia was raised and martial law was declared in order to deal
with the problem. De Wet managed to cross the Orange River in February 1901 but was harried out in
a fortnight. Six months later, following a Boer conference held at Standerton in June 1901, Assistant
Commandant-general Jan Smuts led his men on a long swing through the colony, first through the
Stormberg Mountains and then southwards, before turning north-west to besiege O’Okiep. It was a
great adventure for young Deneys Reitz but was of small military significance.

See also:

Elands River Poort, Action at; Hertzog, Assistant Commandant-general James Barry Munnik;
O’Okiep, Siege of; Smuts, Assistant Commandant-general Jan.
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Burke, Peter, The Siege of O’Okiep (Bloemfontein, War Museum of the Boer Republics, 1995); De
Wet, Christiaan, Three Years War (London,
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Archibald Constable, 1902); Pakenham, Thomas, The Boer War (London, Weidenfeld &
Nicolson, 1979; Abacus, 1992); Reitz, Deneys, Commando (London, Faber & Faber, 1929; Prescott,
Arizona, Wolfe Publishing, 1994).

Cape Town

The capital of Cape Colony at the south-western corner of the colony, some 1,000 miles (1,600km)
from Pretoria, the capital of the Boer South African Republic (the Transvaal). Cape Town was a
major supply port for the British, with men, goods and animals being transported onwards by rail.
The prisoner-of-war camps of Green Point and Simon’s Town were set up nearby.

Casualties

Casualties in warfare include those killed in action, those who later die of wounds, those who are
wounded and those taken prisoner. As the wounded may suffer small injuries and soon be restored to
the fighting force, only to be wounded once more, they may be counted as casualties twice, and the
same is true of prisoners who may escape. Prisoners may die in captivity. Even the figure for the dead
may be wrong, depending on which side counts them and the method used. All casualty figures must,
therefore, be treated with caution. To such casualties it is possible to add those who die from natural
causes or accidents and those hurt or rendered unfit for further service for the same reasons.

The British figures give the total of their men killed or having died of wounds as 701 officers
and 7,091 non-commissioned officers and men. The wounded numbered 1,668 and 19,143
respectively. The missing and prisoners add 383 and 9,170 respectively to bring the grand total to
2,752 officers and 35,404 other ranks. To these must then be added the 339 officers and 12,911 other
ranks who died from disease and the 27 officers and 771 men who perished as a result of accidents.
The total number of deaths, taking into account those who died as prisoners, came to 1,072 officers
and 20,870 other ranks, 21,942 in all. Thus 35.5 percent were killed as a result of the fighting.

The casualties of the Boers are harder to calculate given the break-down of centralised record-
keeping as the war progressed. The Director-general of Military Intelligence, Pretoria, supplied the
following figures to the British Royal Commission which reported on the conduct of the war, which
are obviously estimates: “Transvaal men killed 3,940, died of disease 700. Orange Free State men
killed 2,610, died of disease 450. Rebels killed and died of disease 700 and foreigners 300, giving a
total of 6,550 Boers killed, 1,150 died of disease and another 1,000 dead from one or other cause. A
mortality of 8,700 men.”

The losses sustained by the black Africans are not even estimated, neither on the Boer side nor
the British.



To the figures given here must also be added the mortality of the concentration camps: 27,927
whites and at least 14,154 blacks.
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Concentration Camps.
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Hall, Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer
War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999); Pakenham, Thomas, The Boer War
(London, Weidenfeld & Nicolson, 1979;Abacus, 1992).

Chamberlain, The Rt. Hon. Joseph,

1836-1914

As Secretary of State for the Colonies, Chamberlain had a major influence on the course of events that
led to the Second Boer War. He was consistent in his wish to force the Boer republics to accept the
domination of the British Empire.

Joseph Chamberlain held office in William Gladstone’s administration as President of the Board
of Trade but resigned over the issue of Home Rule for Ireland and founded the Liberal-Unionist party.
He became Secretary of State for the Colonies in Lord Salisbury’s Conservative government in 1895
and held the post until 1903. He was both a liberal in his view that the black colonies of the British
Empire should derive benefit from their membership and an imperialist in aspiring to extend the
dominion of the British, an outlook which is difficult, although not impossible, to understand today.
Chamberlain encouraged the Jameson Raid and his part in the affair was covered up by his
appointment to the Committee of Enquiry and the deals he made with the principal plotters. Sir Alfred
Milner was appointed High Commissioner in South Africa under Chamberlain’s tenure of office and
the two men worked together to precipitate the crisis that led to the war.

See also:
Jameson Raid; Milner, Sir Alfred; Rhodes, Cecil.

Reference:

Hall, Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer
War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999); Pakenham, Thomas, The Boer War
(London, Weidenfeld & Nicolson, 1979; Abacus, 1992).

Chieveley



A settlement in Natal, just south of Colenso, Chieveley was a British hospital site. In the early days of
the war it was the point to which the armoured train carrying Winston Churchill had travelled
northwards before it attempted to withdraw, falling into a Boer ambush. The graveyard is the resting-
place of Lieutenant the Hon. Freddy Roberts, V.C., son of the British Commander-in-Chief Lord
Roberts, who was mortally wounded at the Battle of Colenso.

See also:
Armoured Train Incident; Colenso, Battle of.

Chocolate, The Queen’s

At the end of 1899 Queen Victoria had a gift sent out to every soldier serving in South Africa. This
consisted of a tin box, with the motif “South Africa 1900, her portrait and her monogram in blue, red
and gold,
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containing “chocolate in cakes, at once the most sustaining and appetising form of food”. Many
soldiers hastened at once to mail the gift back home in order to preserve it as a keepsake.

Reference:

Dance, Stephen, “As Good as a Medal”, Soldiers of the Queen,no. 75, 1993; Teulié, Gilles, “A
Present from the Queen”, Soldiers of the Queen,no. 75, 1993; Wilson, H. W., With the Flag to
Pretoria, Volume I (London, Harmsworth Brothers, 1900).

Christian Victor, His Highness Major Prince,

1867-1900

Prince Christian Victor of Schleswig-Holstein, a grandson of Queen Victoria, was born at Windsor
Castle, Berkshire, England. He joined the King’s Royal Rifle Corps in 1888, and served in the
Ashanti campaign of 1895-96 and in the Sudan in 1898. He became an aide-de-camp to the British
Commander-in-Chief, Lord Roberts, in 1900, largely to ensure that he would never be close enough
to the Boers to risk capture or death at their hands. He died of enteric (typhoid) fever on 29 October
1900 and was buried in Pretoria.

Churchill, Winston Leonard Spencer,

1874-1965

Winston Churchill was only twenty-five years of age when he achieved public recognition by
escaping from a Boer prisoner-of-war camp in Pretoria. His account of the war as he saw it in late
1899 and the first half of 1900 did much to colour the public’s idea of events in South Africa.
Winston Churchill was the son of the prominent politician Lord Randolph Churchill. He joined
the army in 1895 and saw service in Cuba with the Spanish and in India with the Malakand Field
Force the following year. He was attached to the 21st Lancers with the Nile Expeditionary Force in
1898 and fought at Omdurman. As he lacked the wealth to support an officer’s lifestyle, he combined
military service with journalism, and it was his functioning in this dual role that led to such
arrangements being forbidden by the army. In March 1899 he resigned his commission in the 4th
Hussars. He then stood for election to Parliament as Member for Oldham, but was defeated. He went
to South Africa as correspondent for the Morning Postnewspaper and it was to gain a sight of the
front that he travelled in the armoured train that was ambushed between Frere and Chieveley on 15



November 1899. He fought and acted with bravery on that occasion, but compromised his standing as
a journalist in doing so. He was imprisoned at Pretoria but, on 14 January 1900, escaped and made
his way, with assistance, to Durban.

Churchill was then, despite the rule he had brought into being, given a Lieutenancy in the South
African Light Horse. He was at the Battle of Spioenkop and the relief of Ladysmith and then

accompanied Lieutenant-general Ian Hamilton’s column on the march to Pretoria. He left South Africa
on 4 July 1900 and published

¥

_PREV



Page 60

two books that year on his experiences in the war.
Churchill is best known as Prime Minister and leader of Britain in the Second World War.

See also:
Armoured Train Incident; Doornkop, Battle of; Spioenkop, Battle of.

Reference:

Churchill, Winston, The Boer War (London, Leo Cooper, 1989), being a reissue of London to
Ladysmith via Pretoria (London, Longmans, Green, 1900) and /an Hamilton’s March (London,
Longmans, Green, 1900).

Clements, Major-General R. A. P.

Ralph Clements joined the South Wales Borderers in 1874 and served in South Africa in 1877-78,
was present at the Battle of Ulundi in 1879 and served in Burma, 1885—-86. He was appointed to the
command of the 12th Brigade in the 6th Division and in January 1900 took part in operations that
forced Assistant Chief-commandant De la Rey to withdraw from the Colesberg district. He
positioned his camp unwisely at Nooitgedacht on 8 December 1900 and was attacked by De la Rey
and Assistant Commandant-general C. F. Beyers on 13 December. In spite of the surprise of the attack
and the losses sustained, Clements extracted his men from the vulnerable position in which he had
exposed them.

See also:
Colesberg; Nooitgedacht, Battle of.

Reference:

Hall, Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer
War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999).

Clery, Lieutenant-General Sir Francis

C. F. Clery joined the army in 1858 and was Professor of Tactics at the Royal Military College,
Sandhurst from 1872 to 1875. He served in the Zulu War, 1878—79, in Egypt and in the Sudan. He
took command of the 2nd Division in Natal in October 1899 and was involved in the Relief of
Ladysmith and the advance into the Transvaal before returning to England in October 1900.

Reference:



Hall, Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer
War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999).

Colenso, Battle of,

15 December 1899

In order to relieve the siege at Ladysmith, General Sir Redvers Buller at first considered an extensive
left flanking movement west of Spioenkop, but decided that it was too risky and would expose his
supply lines. Instead, he launched frontal attacks which failed when Major-general A. Fitzroy Hart’s
Irish Brigade was led into a meander in the Tugela River called the Loop, instead of crossing the
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Of Long’s actions, Louis Botha wrote: “I don’t know if any of our men were premature and revealed their
presence by shooting, but whatever it was, it was Colonel Long who saw them and realized that our force on
Nhlangwini was already across the river and there was grave danger of a flank attack, and he made it so hot that
they had to open fire all along and so gave the whole plan away . . . that man saved the British Army that day”.

Buller sent a telegraph to Lord Lansdowne, the Secretary of State for War, in London, saying: . . . My view is
that I ought to let Ladysmith go, and occupy good positions for the defence of South Natal. . . I now feel that I
cannot say I can relieve Ladysmith with my available force.” In the parlance of the time the words can be
interpreted as meaning that he wanted to suspend operations until he had reinforcements, but the interpretation that
he was giving up was the one that gained credence then and since.

See also:
Artillery, British, Field and Naval; Buller, General Sir Redvers; Ladysmith, Siege of.
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Baker, Anthony, Battles and Battlefields of the Anglo-Boer War 1899—1902 (Milton Keynes, The
Military Press, 1999); Carver, Michael, The NAM Book of the Boer War (London, Sidgwick &
Jackson, 1999); Knight, lan, Colenso 1899 (London, Osprey Publishing, 1995); Lilley, F. J.,
“The Relief of Ladysmith” in Naval Brigades in the South African War (London, Sampson
Low, Marston & Co., 1901; reprint by the London Stamp Exchange Ltd.); Marix Evans, Martin,
The Boer War: South Africa 1899—1902 (Oxford, Osprey Publishing, 1999); Pemberton, W.
Baring, Battles of the Boer War (London, Batsford, 1964); Powell, Geoffrey, Buller: A
Scapegoat? (London, Leo Cooper, 1994).

Colvile, Major-General Sir Henry,

1852-1907

Henry Edward Colvile joined the Grenadier Guards in 1870 and saw service in Egypt, the Sudan,
Burma and East Africa. He commanded the Guards Brigade under Lord Methuen at the Battles of
Belmont, Modder River and Magersfontein and went on to the engagements of Poplar Grove and
Sannaspos, where he failed to relieve Broadwood. After the less than sparkling performance at
Lindley in May 1900, he was sent back to England.

See also:
Belmont, Battle of; Magersfontein, Battle of;; Modder River, Battle of.

Reference:

Hall, Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer
War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999).



Commandant, Commandant-general

Ranks in the Boer forces were not the same in the Orange Free State and in the South African
Republic (Transvaal). In the latter the senior military post was that of Commandant-general, a
position held by the president in the Orange Free State. Below that the ranks were, respectively,
Assistant
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General and Chief Commandant. The Vecht-general or Combat General, the next most senior
rank, was entitled Assistant Chief-commandant in the Orange Free State. The Commandant, who
reported to the Vecht-general, was in command of a commando.

Reference:

Hall, Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer
War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999).

Commandeer

The activity under Commando Law that involved the drafting of men with their equipment and
supplies was termed commandeering. The precise provisions varied in time and according to
circumstances. Chief-commandant Christiaan De Wet set the rules out as follows: “. . . every burgher
between the ages of sixteen and sixty must be prepared to fight for his country at any moment . . . if
required for active service, he must provide himself with a riding-horse, saddle and bridle, with a
rifle and thirty cartridges — or, if he were unable to obtain a rifle, he must bring with him thirty
bullets, thirty caps and half a pound of powder — in addition he must be provisioned for eight days.
That there should have been an alternative to the rifle was due to the fact that the law was made at a
time when only a few burghers possessed breech-loading rifles — achterlaaiers,as we called them.”

De Wet goes on to explain that the provisions were understood to be of biltong (dried meat) or
of sausages and “Boer biscuits”, small loaves made of flour and fermented raisins instead of yeast,
twice baked. The quantity required for eight days was left to the individual.

See also:
Biltong; Boer Forces.

Reference:
De Wet, Christiaan, Three Years War (London, Archibald Constable, 1902).

Commando

See Boer Forces

Communications



As 1n all conflicts, the passing of clear and unambiguous messages between commanders, their
headquarters and their subordinates presented great difficulties and failures were costly. When
considering the events of the war the imperfections of communication and the lack of information
available to commanders has to be kept in mind.

Both British and Boer communications between the seat of government and headquarters in the
field were, at the start of the war, excellent. The telegraph was very efficient. Written messages and
reports were carried by railway within South Africa and by sea, taking some three weeks, from South
Africa to Britain. The telephone was a recent invention and not much in use as yet except over short
distances. However, Colonel Ian Hamilton used the telephone to summon aid
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when the Platrand was attacked on 6 January 1900 during the siege of Ladysmith.

In the field matters were rather different. Morse code, used for the telegraph, could also be
employed in the medium of light, using either a lamp or a heliograph, a device that used sunlight
reflected from a mirror to flash the message. Fortunately sunshine was not rare in South Africa, but
nonetheless it was not a mechanism on which one could rely absolutely. Nor was the lamp; it is said
that the men who took the signal lamp up on Spioenkop during the battle ran out of oil to light it. Both
these methods risked interception if messages were sent “in clear”, i.e. uncoded, and codes took time
to uncode. Searchlights were used to convey messages from the besieged Kimberley to the relieving
force by reflecting the light beam off the cloud base and the besieged forces of Ladysmith
communicated with a heliograph, using direct line of sight.

Semaphore flag signals were also used, but they exposed the signaller to enemy fire. Written or
verbal messages required a galloper or messenger who would also be vulnerable to enemy fire.
Black African messengers, risking their lives, carried messages in and out of besieged towns.

Colesberg

A town in Cape Colony on the railway line between Cape Town and Bloemfontein in the Orange Free
State, south of Norval’s Pont on the Orange River. Colesberg was annexed by the Orange Free State
in November 1899 and the town was occupied by Boer forces under Vecht-general H. J. Schoenman.
After the Boer defeat at the Battle of Paardeberg, Schoenman was recalled to help in the defence of
Bloemfontein and the town was occupied by the British under Major-general Clements.

Reference:

Jones, Huw M. and Meurig G. M. Jones, A Gazetteer of the Anglo-Boer War 1899—1902 (Milton
Keynes, The Military Press, 1999).

Colley, Major-General Sir George,

1835-81

George Pomeroy-Colley joined the 2nd Regiment of Foot in 1852 and, with an interval in which he
served as a magistrate in South Africa, served in China and then in Africa. He was selected by Sir
Garnet Wolseley to become a member of his staff in the Ashanti wars and served under him again in
the Zulu War of 1879. As commander-in-chief in Natal in 1880 he made the error of holding the
Boers in contempt and was surprised by the outbreak of the First Boer War. He led the British forces



to their defeat at Langs Nek and Majuba, where Colley himself was killed.

See also:
Boer War, First.

Reference:
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Concentration Camps, Black

The concentration camps in which Boer women, children and old people were confined eventually
received substantial publicity. The black African camps, on the other hand, were scarcely mentioned,
although the death rate was at one time higher than the worst of the mortality in the white camps. The
numbers of black Africans involved are also uncertain. What records there are show that 115,700
were interned, slightly more than half of those in Orange River Colony, as it was known at the time,
and the rest in Transvaal. The records also show that 14,154 died, over 80 per cent of them children,
but the true number has been estimated in the region of 20,000.

Conditions prevailing in South Africa at the end of the war compounded the damage to black
African self-sufficiency caused by the war itself, and increased the proportion of the black population
who were dependent on wage labour.

The black African camps housed refugees who can be classified in two broad groups. One group
was either fleeing from war zones or from Boer hostility because of support given to the British, in
which case they tended to head for major British-held towns or military establishments. The other
group of refugees was the result of British land clearance activity, either because the blacks were
servants of displaced Boers or because they were cultivating land in their own right in areas the
British wanted to lay waste. These people were usually taken to the same areas as the Boers. The
need to establish separate camps was not at first recognised, but in the early months of 1901 the first
black camps were set up and by the end of the war there were sixty-six for which records exist and
possibly eighty in total.

When a Native Refugee Department was set up by the British in mid-1901, the idea was to make
the camps self-supporting. The men were to provide paid labour for the British army and the camps
were therefore usually set up beside the main railways; from Bloemfontein to Pretoria, from
Johannesburg to Klerksdorp, from Johannesburg to Volkrust, from Pretoria to Komati Poort and from
Orange River Station to Dryharts, north of the Vaal on the railway to Mafeking. Shelter was
rudimentary and those confined were expected to build their own huts from the insufficient materials
available. The food provided by the British was not only too little but was also ill-balanced, lacking
vegetables and milk. Disease carried off the enfeebled internees, and it was alleged by British
officials that chicken-pox, measles and other such diseases were the cause. However, an incomplete
sets of reports from camp administrators in Orange River Colony states that between May 1901 and
April 1902 pneumonia accounted for 60 per cent and dysentery 26.5 per cent of deaths. This suggests
that the conditions of their confinement, rather than infections to which they had no resistance, were
the root cause of mortality.

With popular political pressure having led to the improvement of conditions for the whites, the
early
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Concentration Camps, White

A consequence of the British policy of farm burning and land clearance to deny supplies to Boer
commandos was that those occupying the land at the time, the women, children and non-combatant
white people, as well as black people caught up in the process, were made homeless. It was accepted
that responsibility for these refugees fell on the British authorities and camps were set up to shelter
them. There were also the refugees created by the war itself, people fleeing from the areas of fighting
and “hands-uppers”, those who had surrendered to the British and feared reprisals or being forced to
rejoin the Boers. Unfortunately the incompetence and neglect of those in charge led to these refugee
camps becoming death traps for many, and left a permanent stain on the reputation of the British.

The build-up of people in the camps started slowly, was accelerated by the British Commander-
in-Chief Lord Roberts’s introduction of land clearance in September 1900 and was increased still
further when Roberts’s successor, Lord Kitchener, took over at the end of the year. Kitchener gave
little, 1f any, thought to the nature and administration of the camps. Not only were many of the
internees country people, unacquainted with the hygiene requirements of large communities living in
close proximity, but the administrators were also ignorant and incompetent. Accommodation, under
canvas, was primitive, food was poor, sanitation arrangements were insufficient and medical care
was ineffective.
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Creusot Guns

See Artillery, Boer.

Cronjé, Vecht-General Andries P. J.

Andries Cronjé was the brother of Assistant Commandant-general Piet Cronjé and, in April 1900,
was in command of 1,500 Boers at Fourteen Streams, north of Kimberley where the railway to
Mafeking crosses the River Vaal. After his capture by the British at Reitz on 13 July 1901 Cronj¢
took the part of the peace-makers and worked with the British. From October 1901 he recruited for
the National Scouts, a formation of “joiner” Boers.

See also:
Hands-uppers; Joiners.

Reference:
Pretorius, Fransjohan, The Anglo-Boer War 1899—1902 (Cape Town, Don Nelson, 1985).

Cronjé, Assistant Commandant-General Piet,

1836-1911

Piet Cronjé was the senior Boer commander in the western theatre in the opening months of the war.
Most successes were, however, the work of others, and Cronj¢ led his army to defeat at Paardeberg
in February 1900.

Pieter Arnoldus Cronjé was born in Colesberg and was at the Battle of Boomplaats in 1848,
when Sir Harry Smith defeated the Boers who rose in protest at the creation of the Orange River
Sovereignty. He was Commandant at the siege of Potchefstroom in the First Boer War and in 1896
forced Dr Jameson and his raiders to surrender at Doornkop. At the outbreak of war in 1899 he was
in command of the Western Transvaal and initiated the siege of Mafeking. In November 1899 he went
to resist the attempt of Lord Methuen to relieve the besieged town of Kimberley and fought at Modder
River and Magersfontein. His leadership was not admired by the then Vecht-general Christiaan De
Wet who was at that time under his command. Shortly after the victory at Magersfontein in December,
De Wet was keen to take the battle to the British by attacking the railway line to the south, but Cronjé



did not agree. He was content to sit things out behind the augmented trenches while De Wet, as he
reports, warned that they would be outflanked: “Cronjé would not listen to me . . . Meanwhile the
inevitable results of Cronjé’s policy became more and more apparent to me, and before long we had
to suffer for his obstinacy in keeping us to our trenches and schanzes.”

In February 1900 the new British Commander-in-Chief, Lord Roberts, conducted a great
flanking sweep to relieve Kimberley and the Magersfontein position was compromised. Cronjé
moved east with a huge wagon train that included the families of his men, until they were surrounded
at Paardeberg. He was unable to persuade his men to take advantage of the escape route offered by
De Wet and, on the anniversary of the Battle of Majuba, surrendered. He and his wife were
imprisoned on St Helena until the end of the war. In 1904 he brought ridicule upon himself by re-
enacting
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D

Dam

A reservoir or lake created by the construction of a dam.

Dartnell, Brigadier-General J. G.

John George Dartnell was born in Ontario, Canada, in 1838. At seventeen years of age he was
commissioned into the 86th Royal County Down Regiment and served throughout the Indian Mutiny.
He was Chief Commissioner of the Natal Police for twenty-six years and was promoted Brigadier-
general when he assumed command of the Natal Volunteers at Ladysmith. His local knowledge was
invaluable during the retreat to Ladysmith, the siege and in northern Natal when Commandant-general
Louis Botha attempted to invade once more in 1901.

De Aar

An important railway junction on the main Cape Town to Kimberley line which continues north to
Mafeking and Rhodesia. The line to the south-east goes to Naauwpoort Junction and thence to Port
Elizabeth to the south and Stormberg to the east. De Aar was thus an important supply centre for the
British. Lieutenant-general Lord Methuen’s troops gathered here in November 1899 and it was the
centre of Lord Kitchener’s campaign against the Cape rebels west of the railway in March 1900.

Delagoa Bay Railway

For the Boer republics, the Transvaal and the Orange Free State, railway communications, and
therefore the substantial import or export of goods, were by way of Cape Colony or Natal. For the
British, the Imperial dream of a Cape-to-Cairo railway was limited by the Boer territories which
resisted rail development. In the 1880s, as gold and diamonds increased in importance, the railheads
were all outside Boer territory and kept there by the Boers until the early 1890s. It was not until they
found an alternative that would be under Boer control that the difficulties eased. President Kruger
reached agreement with the Portuguese and a line from Lourengo Marques, the port on Delagoa Bay



in Portuguese East Africa, to Pretoria was completed in 1895. This line was to provide the Boers
with their only
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supply line from the outside world until the British advance from Pretoria in August and
September 1900 took it from them.

See also:
Transport.

Reference:
Troup, Freda, South Africa: An Historical Introduction (London, Eyre Methuen, 1972).

De la Rey, Assistant Commandant-General Jacobus Herculaas
“KOOS”,

1847-1914

De la Rey was one of the Boers’ finest generals and was much admired by the British. The staunchly
anti-Boer writers of With the Flag to Pretoriasaid of him: “[he is] certainly the politest, best
mannered, and best educated among the Boer generals . . . ever on the side of liberalism and
progress”. He was accorded an equal respect by his countrymen.

Koos De la Rey was born near Winburg, north-east of Bloemfontein, in the Orange Free State in
1847. He saw service against the Basotho in 1865 and against Sekhukhune of the Pedi in 1876. He
became a member of the Volksraad in 1893, representing Lichtenburg in the western Transvaal, and
was a moderate in his politics. He opposed the move towards war in 1899 but accepted the majority
view and became a general. He served with distinction at Graspan and Modder River, but was
wounded at the latter engagement and his son was killed there. The defence of Magersfontein from
trenches at the foot of the kopjes was his inspiration. In the guerrilla phase of the war he had
considerable success. He got the better of the British at Nooitgedacht in December 1901 and at
Tweebosch in March 1902 captured Lieutenant-general Lord Methuen. Methuen was wounded and De
la Rey escorted him to hospital and telegraphed Lady Methuen to reassure her that his injury was not
grave. After the war they became friends. He took part in the peace conference at Vereeniging in May
1902, and became a Senator in Parliament after the war. When the First World War broke out in 1914
he seemed to be against supporting Britain. When the car in which he was travelling through the
suburbs of Johannesburg with General Beyers failed to stop at a roadblock, De la Rey was shot and
killed.

See also:
Driefontein, Battle of; Graspan, Battle of; Modder River, Battle of; Nooitgedacht, Battle of;
Tweebosch, Battle of.
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War (Scottsville, University of Natal Press, 1999).

De Wet, Chief Commandant Christiaan Rudolf,

1854-1922

Christiaan De Wet was one of the greatest of the Boer commanders. He found himself in his element
once the rigid constraints of formal warfare gave way to guerrilla activity.
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spread across the country he had a number of narrow escapes from the British, but he described
the strategy as “blockhead” and played down the impact it had on the Boers. At the peace conference
in Vereeniging in May 1902 he spoke strongly in favour of a continuation of the war but was obliged
to recognise the sufferings of the people and accept the majority verdict for peace.

On the outbreak of the First World War De Wet joined the uprising against the British but was
captured by his former comrades near Vryberg in the Orange Free State. On his death in 1922 he was
buried at the Vrouemonument,the Women’s Memorial in the grounds of what 1s now the War Museum
of the Boer Republics in Bloemfontein.

See also:
Bothaville, Action at; Brand-water Basin, Surrender at; De Wet, Vecht-general Piet; Driefontein

Battle of; Jammerbergdrif, Siege of; Koedoesberg Drift, Battle of; Nicholson’s Nek, Action at;
Olifant’s Nek; Paardeberg, Battle of; Poplar Grove, Battle of; Reddersburg, Battle of; Sannaspos,
Battle of; Waterval Drift, Action at.
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De Wet, Vecht-General Piet D.,

1861-1929

Piet De Wet was the younger brother of Christiaan. He fought for the Boers at Majuba in the First
Boer War and was at Ladysmith early in the second. After fighting with distinction at Sannaspos and
Lindley, he met with his brother at Paardekraal on 19 July 1900. He asked him if he saw any chance
of being able to continue the struggle, to which Christiaan responded with an angry remark and turned
away.

Piet surrendered to the British on 26 July and in December became Chairman of the Burgher
Peace Committee. In early 1901 he wrote a letter to his brother explaining his decision, pleading for
negotiations before the Orange Free State was utterly laid to waste, telling him more and more British
were on their way to South Africa and suggesting that Christiaan had been hoodwinked by the
Transvaal generals to do their fighting for them. The bearer was flogged and sent back with a message
that Christiaan would shoot Piet like a dog if he got the chance.



Piet visited Cape Colony to urge peace on doubters and on prisoners-of-war and later helped
raise the Orange River Colony Volunteers, a formation of Boers who acted as guides and scouts for
the British and who were regarded as traitors by their countrymen. Piet commanded the Heilbron

section. After the war he returned to farming and died, an out-cast from his people, near Lindley in
1929.

See also:
Joiners; Lindley, Battle of; Sannaspos, Battle of.
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Diamond Hill, Battle of,

11-12 June 1900

The fall of Pretoria on 5 June 1900 had a devastating effect on Boer morale, but Commandant-general
Louis Botha made a two-day stand on a front some twenty-five miles (40km) long astride the Delagoa
Bay railway, sixteen miles (25km) east of
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charge, a rare incident from which the Household Cavalry had to rescue them. In the south at
Diamond Hill the day also ended in stalemate. Fighting resumed on 12 June with Major-general Inigo
Jones’s Guards Brigade pushing towards Donkerhoek, but it was the intervention of Colonel H. B. De
Lisle’s 2nd Mounted Infantry that made the day. The 6th Regular Mounted Infantry secured a position
at the foot of the kopje behind the Rhenosterfontein farm to allow the New South Wales Mounted
Rifles and the West Australians to swarm up and secure a position enfilading the Boer line. Seeing
that his position had become untenable, Botha withdrew after dark.

See also:
Bergendal, Battle of.

Reference:

Baker, Anthony, Battles & Battlefields of the Anglo-Boer War 1899—1902 (Milton Keynes, The
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Donga

A river-bed, often dry. In conditions of dry weather followed by torrential rains such dongas are cut
deep into the land and afford good cover from view and fire as well as being an obstacle to
movement, especially by wheeled vehicles.

Doornkop, Battle of,

2 January 1896

The invasion led by Dr Jameson to accompany the planned uprising against the Boer government in
Johannesburg found itself without local support when it approached the town. The small force was
surrounded by the Boers at Doornkop and, with sixteen men dead and forty-nine wounded,
surrendered.

See also:
Jameson, Dr I eander Starr; Jameson Raid.




Doornkop, Battle of,

29 May 1900

Doornkop, where Jameson was defeated in 1896, was four years later the location of the right of the
Boer defences south-west of Johannesburg. The Boers occupied the ridge running east from Doornkop
and the British cavalry moved to the west while the British infantry assaulted the ridge. Those
regiments who preserved parade-ground formation suffered greatly while those who made use of
cover and moved by bounds, that 1s, in a series of swift dashes, had far fewer casualties. The Boers
were driven off and the way to Johannesburg lay open.

The British force advancing on Johannesburg was under the command of Lieutenant-general lan
Hamilton and the advance was vividly recorded by a young officer and journalist, Winston Churchill.
The Boer defenders were under Assistant Com-
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mandant-general J. H. De la Rey. As his troops were running low on rations after crossing the
Klip River, Hamilton agreed with Major-general J. D. P. French to move quickly. French’s cavalry
moved west and Hamilton’s two brigades made a frontal assault on the ridge defended by the Boers.
On the left the 21st Brigade were headed by the City Imperial Volunteers, moving cautiously, making
good use of the cover, bearing in mind recent exhortations to preserve an open formation, and well
supported with artillery fire. On the right the Gordon Highlanders led the 19th Brigade forward,
magnificent in their two, long, straight lines, but showing up prominently against the recently fired and
blackened terrain. The ridge was cleared by late afternoon and French had advanced to a position
north of Doornkop. The Boer defence was now entirely compromised and they had no alternative but
to retreat. The Gordons had, however, suffered over 100 casualties.

See also:
Burnham, Major Frederick Russell.
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Dorp

A village. Dorp is the equivalent to “thorpe” in English.
Doyle, Arthur Ignatius Conan,

1859-1930

The author of the Sherlock Holmes stories was a medical doctor and after the reverses of “Black
Week” wanted to serve his country in the war. Unfit as a soldier, he went out as a doctor and
performed outstanding service in the enteric (typhoid) fever epidemic in Bloemfontein, for which he
was knighted. He wrote persuasively of his experiences and views after his return to Britain.

Third child and first son of Charles and Mary Doyle, Arthur studied medicine in Edinburgh and
benefited from the teaching of Joseph Bell, who was to some extent a prototype for the fictional
character Sherlock Holmes. Arthur graduated in 1881 and practised in Southsea from 1882 to 1890.
His first work of fiction, 4 Study in Scarlet,appeared in 1887 and his detective stories were well
known by the time the South African war of 1899 broke out. Doyle was rejected by the Middlesex



Yeomanry as being too old and too fat, but almost at once was asked by the philanthropist John
Langman to become senior physician in a field hospital he was sending to South Africa. Doyle paid
his own expenses and received no salary.

The hospital staff reached Bloemfontein on 2 April 1900 and the fifty tons of equipment arrived
soon after, allowing the hospital to be set up in the pavilion of the Bloemfontein Ramblers’ Cricket
Club. The 160 beds were soon filled with victims of enteric (typhoid) fever. The civilian hospital
already had 1,700 patients
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and public buildings were converted into hospitals to deal with the epidemic. Doyle and his
companions fought the disease for three months. He wrote: . . . the general condition of the town was
very bad. Coffins were out of the question, and the men were lowered in their brown blankets into
shallow graves at the average rate of sixty a day . . . You could smell Bloemfontein long before you
could see it.”

Doyle himself contracted fever, but fortunately in a mild form, although it did recur in later life.
By the time the British had taken Pretoria it appeared the war would soon be over and the hospital
was closed down. Doyle took a ship for England on 11 July. His account of the conflict, The Great
Boer War,was published later that year. While in South Africa Doyle had had some relief from his
duties and travelled, observed and questioned with eagerness. As a result he had formed some
adverse but well-founded opinions of the British conduct of the war and he did not disguise these
views in his book. His comments on tactics, the need for marksmanship and the irrelevance of the
attitudes of many of the officer class were not popular with the army. This was followed in 1902 with
The War in South Africa: Its Causes and Conduct,which was translated into a number of European
languages. Although critical of the British, it also condemned some Boer practices and was, on the
whole, well-balanced. It certainly influenced some of the Europeans in Britain’s favour. When
informed that the king, Edward VII, intended to confer a knighthood on him, Doyle considered
declining it as he felt he had only been doing his duty as a doctor in South Africa. However, he was
persuaded that to fail to accept would be an insult to the monarch and the honour was bestowed on 24
October 1902.

Bloemfontein; Medical Services; Sannaspos, Battle of.
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Drakensberg Mountains

The borders south and east of the two Boer republics, the Orange Free State and the South African
Republic (the Transvaal), are defined by the mountains of the Drakensberg Range. They are difficult
to cross even today and effectively confined the war largely to two major theatres, Natal and the Boer
Republics. The territory held by the republics themselves consists, for the greater part, of wide bush
country, veldt, while the colony of Natal 1s a wedge of hilly country driving into the Drakensbergs.

See also:
Botha’s Pass, Action at; Brandwater Basin, Surrender at.




Driefontein, Battle of,

10 March 1900

The Battle of Driefontein was the final stand by the Boers, under De Wet, against the British before
the capture by the British of Bloemfontein. It was bravely fought by the Boers, but their
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lowered morale sapped their endurance and they eventually gave way. Their inability to stand
led to the decision not to contest Bloemfontein. The British were unable to mop up the fugitives as a
result of the damage done to the cavalry horses during the relief of Kimberley.

After the rout at Poplar Grove in March 1900, Christiaan De Wet fell back some fifteen miles
(24km) to Abraham’s Kraal where he left his force briefly to assist Judge Hertzog in organising the
defences of Bloemfontein. On his return he found that Vecht-generals De la Rey, who had withdrawn
from Colesberg, Andries Cronj€, Philip Botha, C. C. Froneman and Piet De Wet, his brother, had
placed the men on a line from Abraham’s Kraal in the north, on the Modder River, along the
Driefontein kopjes to the Boschrand, south of the Petrusberg to Bloemfontein road.

The British advanced in three columns and engaged the whole Boer front. De Wet reports that
the shelling was heavy, first on Abraham’s Kraal and then in the centre, where De la Rey’s
Transvaalers were. Brigadier-general T. E. Stephenson’s 18th Brigade attacked, along with the 1st
Essex and 1st Welsh supported by 13th Brigade’s 2nd The Buffs (East Kent) and 2nd Gloucesters. By
late in the day they had taken the hills by bayonet attacks against the Johannesburg and Pretoria Police
under Philip Botha and the cavalry were coming round the southern flank of the Boer positions. Once
more the burghers broke. De Wet wrote: “They had offered a magnificent resistance . . . But with the
setting of the sun a change came over them. Once more panic seized them; leaving their positions, they
retreated in all haste towards Bloemfontein.” The fatigue of the British cavalry once more prevented
them from catching the fleeing Boers.

See also:
Kimberley, Relief of; Paardeberg, Battle of; Poplar Grove, Battle of.
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Drift

A ford across a river.

Drives

Drives or sweeps were used to attempt to gather up Boer commandos during the guerrilla phases of
the war. They were organised in much the same way as game is driven towards the guns of hunters.



The difficulty was, of course, creating a sufficiently impermeable screen of sweepers.

For example, in January 1901 Major-general French used 22,000 men in eight columns, moving
south-east from lines running north from Johannesburg to Pretoria and east from there to the border.
They moved off on 28 January from the western side and on 3 February from the northern flank,
virtually enveloping Ermelo by 5 February. The quarry was Commandant-general Botha. As they
advanced the British swept the
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land clean, burning farms and rounding up the people. Botha left 1,500 men to assist the fleeing
populace and, with 2,000 men, slipped away north through the British line. Although the operation
continued into April, only 1,332 Boers were taken. The positive result, from the British point of
view, was that over a quarter of a million head of sheep and cattle had been taken, hitting the supplies
of the commandos hard.

As the war continued lines of block-houses, partly intended to protect supply lines along the
railways, served, together with the barbed wire fences that ran between them, as nets to catch the
driven Boers.

See also:
Blockhouses; Concentration Camps; Lang Reit; Wools-Sampson, Aubrey.
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Dum-Dum Bullets

Both the British and Boers accused each other of using dum-dum (expanding or deformable) bullets
and exploding bullets. That bullets containing an explosive charge were used on purpose is most
unlikely, but that manufactured and home-made expanding rounds were employed is not to be
doubted, although on what scale these were used, in the face of official disapproval, is not known.

The rounds made at the British arsenal in Dum-dum in India, properly termed Cordite Mark V,
had a small cylindrical hole at the tip of the round which caused the bullet to expand on impact. This
was considered necessary against “native” adversaries. The British classified the Boer War as a
European conflict and therefore the non-expanding Cordite Mark II was prescribed for use. The
expanding effect could also be achieved by filing off the nickel casing of the round at its extremity.
Mauser ammunition of an expanding character was manufactured in the form of the soft-nose bullet,
one in which the casing ceased 5.5mm short of the tip, leaving a deformable nose. Such rounds were
intended for shooting heavy game. They were popularly called exploding bullets, though in fact they
contained no explosive. It is known that some dum-dum rounds arrived with British troops coming
from India and supplies of them were captured by the Boers after the Battle of Talana, 20 October
1899. Deneys Reitz writes of his accidental use of ammunition he had picked up for shooting game.
After the Battle of Nooitgedacht, 13 December 1900, where he fought under Assistant Commandant-
general C. F. Beyers, he came across the body of a British soldier he had killed: “I was horrified to
see that my bullet had blown half his head away, the explanation being that . . . [ had found a few



explosive Mauser cartridges . . . [and] kept them in a separate pocket . . . I was distressed at my
mistake, but there is not a great deal of difference
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between killing a man with an explosive bullet, and smashing him with a lyddite shell . . . I flung
the remainder [of the bullets] into the brook. . .”

Colonel W. F. Stevenson, who served in South Africa and became Professor of Military Surgery
at the Royal Army Medical College, discussed the 1ssue, making reference to the experience of the
Franco-Prussian War of 1870—71. Massive exit wounds five inches (12cm) square were caused by
French Lebel rifle rounds, none of which were explosive. In South Africa Stevenson picked up
examples of all the various patterns of “deformable” bullets, but found no explosive ones. He saw
only one true explosive bullet there, of greater diameter than the Mauser with a copper tube filled
with detonating material at the point, evidently for a “sporting weapon”. He was of the opinion that
the wounds said to have been caused by exploding bullets were either the result of expanding or
deformable rounds or the effect of a solid round striking bone and breaking up.

See also:
Rifles.
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Dundee

At the centre of the coal-mining area of northern Natal, a British colony, Dundee was occupied by
Major-general Sir William Penn Symons with 3,280 infantry, 497 cavalry and eighteen guns in
October 1899. On 20 October the Boers were driven off in the Battle of Talana, but the position had
become untenable and, with Symons mortally wounded, it fell to Brigadier-general James Yule to
extricate the troops from Dundee and lead them back to Ladysmith. The Boers sacked the abandoned
town, but treated the wounded left in the hospital well. Commandant-general Piet Joubert then made it
his headquarters. It was liberated in the British advance of June 1900.

See also:
Talana, Battle of; Ladysmith, Siege of.
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Dundonald, Major-General The Earl of,

1852-1935

D. M. B. H. Cochrane joined the Life Guards in 1870 and served with the Nile Expedition of 1884—
85 in command of the 2nd Life Guards detachment of the Camel Corps. He inherited the earldom in
1885. He commanded the Mounted Brigade under General Sir Redvers Buller at the Battle of
Colenso and found, but was not permitted to exploit, an opportunity to outflank the Boers at Acton
Homes in January 1900. He took part in the relief of Ladysmith and the advance into the Transvaal. In
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order to exploit the fire power of the Maxim machine-gun, he invented the Dundonald Galloping
Carriage as an alternative to transporting the guns on pack horses or mules.

See also:
Acton Homes, Action at; Colenso, Battle of; Tugela Heights, Battle of.
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Durban

Formerly called Port Natal, Durban is the main port of Natal. It was placed under martial law with
Captain Percy Scott, R.N. as Military Governor and Commandant on 3 November 1899. The Boers
never advanced far enough to offer any real threat to the town.

See also:
Scott, Captain Percy; Willow Grange, Battle of.

Dutch Colonisation

The Dutch first landed in the Cape in 1652. The mission of Jan van Riebeeck was to establish a
staging point for ships of the Dutch East India Company by setting up a fort and arranging for
vegetables to be grown and cattle to be purchased from the indigenous Khoikhoi (known to the
Europeans as Hottentots). The settlement of Dutch market gardeners was an unhappy experiment but
stability was achieved for a time under the expansionist reforms of Simon van der Stel in the 1680s.
The population increased and overflowed the limitations of the original settlement at Cape Town,
putting pressure on the San (Bushmen) of the interior and running into the Xhosa on the Fish River to
the east. It was to meet the challenge of the black African warriors that the commando, a militia unit,
was developed.

The British entered the picture in 1795, a year after the Dutch East India Company went
bankrupt, and at a time when the English were at war with France, from whom the Dutch settlement
was “protected”. At the end of hostilities twenty years later the Cape became British permanently.
Soon after, during the 1820s in a series of great battles, the mfecane,the Zulu nation was established
in the east of what is now South Africa. Then, in the 1830s, the British abolished slavery, which was
the last straw for the Dutch farmers, or Boers. Under leaders including Piet Retief and Piet Uys, they
migrated in what became known as the Great Trek. Between 1836 and 1846 some 14,000 people left



Cape Colony with their herds of cattle and goats, their furniture loaded into great wagons. They
crossed the Orange and Vaal rivers, pushing into the interior and down into Natal to find land. In
doing so they encountered the black Africans. Hendrick Potgieter fought the Ndebele in the north and
Piet Retief and Andries Pretorius fought the Zulu in the east.

Meanwhile the British colonised the coast, founding Port Elizabeth and

Crrey )



Page 86

E
Elandsfontein, Action at,

29 May 1900

Elandsfontein is now called Germiston, south-east of Johannesburg. The Elandsfontein railway yards
were of considerable interest to the advancing British. The enormous length of the supply lines, some
1,000 miles back to Cape Town, meant that every wagon and steam engine was precious. The British
Commander-in-Chief Lord Roberts had sent his Chief of Scouts, Major Burnham, behind Boer lines

to prevent the rolling stock being removed. This was achieved by blowing up the line and Colonel St

G. C. Henry captured seven locomotives and many wagons, together with a hundred prisoners, on 29
May.

See also:
Burnham, Major Frederick Russell.
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Elandslaagte, Battle of,

21 October 1899

Natal was invaded by the Boers immediately on the outbreak of war on 11 October. While Generals
Erasmus and Meyer advanced on Dundee, General Kock’s commandos cut the railway line at
Elandslaagte, twelve miles (20km) north-east of Ladysmith. Although the British inflicted a
comprehensive defeat on the Boers, the village was not defensible and the British withdrew to
Ladysmith. The British cavalry charge, which made use of the lance, horrified the Boers, who deemed
it uncivilised to fight with spears. General Kock died of his wounds. The action had provided cover
for Yule’s march to Ladysmith.

The present hamlet of Elandslaagte was, in 1899, a thriving coal-mining town through which the



railway to northern Natal still passes. Vecht-general Johannes Kock was in command of about half
the Transvaal force that invaded the colony and, while the other half went to attack the British at
Dundee, Kock’s task was to take and hold the Mkhupe Pass on the Ladysmith to Newcastle road to
prevent a counter-attack from the south. His advance guard exceeded their brief and, on 19 October,
descended
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bring his column back to Ladysmith from Dundee unhindered, but the rest of the British also had
to return, for General Prinsloo’s Orange Free State men were threatening Ladysmith from the west
and north.

See also:
Ladysmith, Siege of; Talana, Battle of; Yule, Brigadier-general James; Documents: The Battle of

Elandslaagte, extract from Steevens, G. W., From Capetown to Ladysmith, Edinburgh, William
Blackwood and Sons, 1900.

Reference:

Baker, Anthony, Battles and Battlefields of the Anglo-Boer War 1899—1902 (Milton Keynes, The
Military Press, 1999); Marix Evans, Martin, The Boer War: South Africa 1899—1902 (Oxford,
Osprey Publishing, 1999); Rudgren, Pat, Battle of
Elandslaagte,www .battlefields.co.za/history/anglo-boer_war

Elands Poort, Action at,

17 September 1901

The attempts of the Boer commandos to enter Cape Colony as the guerrilla war drew on were
countered by British patrols along the Orange River and in the Stormberg mountains. Assistant
Commandant-general Jan Smuts’s attempt was made in cold, wet weather and culminated in an action
against C Squadron 17th Lancers in which twenty-nine British died and forty-one were wounded,
against a Boer loss of one dead and six wounded. Smuts’s men were able to rearm, remount and
reclothe themselves at the Lancers’ expense and, dressed in British uniform, they rode on into the
Cape.

Smuts crossed the Orange River into the Cape on 3 September and narrowly escaped being shot
at Moordenaarspoort, Murderer’s Gorge. For ten days his men sought a way through the British
patrols and finally got out through what is now known as Smuts Pass, west of Dordrecht, heading in
the direction of Tarkastad. On 17 September they were entering a valley leading to the Elands River
when they were warned of the presence of an English patrol, the 17th Lancers, whom they engaged
and overcame.

The Boers were, by this time, in rags. Few had shirts or shoes, make-shift canvas capes served
as coats and rawhide sandals as footwear. Deneys Reitz was invited by one of the wounded British
officers, Lord Vivian, to inspect the contents of his tent. Reitz was wearing a grain bag with a hole cut
for his head and an old pair of elastic-sided boots given to him a few days before by a farmer’s wife.
Reitz wrote: “I was not slow to take the hint, with the result that having started that morning with a


http://www.battlefields.co.za/history/anglo-boer_war

grain-bag for my chief garment, a foundered horse, an old rifle, and two cartridges, I now appeared in
a handsome cavalry tunic, riding-breeches, &c., with a sporting Lee-Metford, full bandoliers and a
superb mount, a little grey Arab, which his groom said had been the property of [the late] Lieutenant
Sheridan”. There had already been confusion over clothing on this mission. Some of Smuts’s men had
been mistaken for British troops because of their acquired garments, and this kind of incident led the
British to threaten to execute Boers masquerading as Brit-
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ish. However, Reitz’s obvious requirement for clothing merely to survive shows that disguise
was not his primary purpose.

See also:
Cape Colony, Invasions of; O’Okiep, Siege of.
Reference:

Reitz, Deneys, Commando (London, Faber & Faber, 1929; Prescott, Arizona, Wolfe Publlishing,
1994); Pakenham, Thomas, The Boer War (London, Weidenfeld & Nicolson, 1979; Abacus,
1992).

Elands River Post, Battle of,

4-15 August 1900

Following the relief of Mafeking on 17 May and the fall of Pretoria to the British in June, the mobile
forces of Assistant Commandant-general De la Rey and Chief Commandant De Wet north and south of
the Vaal River threatened communication and supply lines. A British post was set up on the farm of
Brakfontein on the Elands River to protect the Rustenburg to Zeerust and Mafeking road, and was
manned by Australians and Rhodesians. It became clear that they were too exposed and should be
withdrawn, but they were attacked before that could happen and were assumed to have been overrun.
In fact they dug in and held on for eleven days until relieved by a column led by Lord Kitchener. It
was greeted as a considerable Australian achievement.

The command of Elands River Post was given to Lieutenant-colonel C. O. Hore with his 201
Rhodesian Volunteers to which were added, in the period before the siege began, 299 Australians,
mostly New South Wales Bushmen and Queensland Mounted Infantry. When the decision was taken to
withdraw them because of the number of Boers observed in the area, Lieutenant-general Sir Frederick
Carrington set out from Zeerust on 3 August with 1,000 men, six field guns and four Pom-Poms to
cover their retirement. However, the Boers attacked Hore’s post the next morning, inflicting thirty-
two casualties by shelling the inadequate defences. The men dug in. Carrington’s column was also
shelled and turned back. Major-general Baden-Powell started from Rustenburg to assist, but assumed,
on the slightest evidence, that the declining sound of gunfire indicated Carrington’s success and he,
too, turned back.

It was not until British men of Lord Kitchener’s columns, who were in pursuit of De Wet,
intercepted a message from De la Rey at Elands River that they understood that the Australians and
Rhodesians were still holding out. The more they had been shelled, the deeper they had dug, for,
lacking artillery, they could not retaliate. On 15 August the defenders were surprised by the silence;



Boer fire had ceased. The next day the reason was clear: the approach of Kitchener’s column had
been too much of a threat to the Boers. Eighty men had become casualties, of whom twenty lost their
lives. Neither Carrington nor Baden-Powell emerged with credit, and Hore, to whom many attributed
credit for the defence of Mafeking, and his men had showed the British that it was possible to resist
successfully against considerable odds.
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See also:
Mafeking, Siege of; Olifant’s Nek; Documents: The Hunt for De Wet by F. Everett.

Reference:

Marix Evans, Martin, The Boer War: South Africa 1899-1902 (Oxford, Osprey Publishing, 1999);
Wallace, R. L., The Australians at the Boer War (Canberra, The Australian War Memorial and
The Australian Government Publishing Service, 1976).

Eloff, Commandant Sarel J.,

1870-1944

Sarel Eloff was a grandson of President Kruger of the Transvaal, and second in command to Vecht-
general J. P. Snyman at the siege of Mafeking, On 12 May 1900 Eloff led an attack on Mafeking
which broke into the town through Mafikeng, the black African township immediately to the west of
the European area. The Boers occupied the British South Africa Police fort and held its occupants,
including Lieutenant-colonel C. O. Hore and Angus Hamilton, the Timesnewspaper correspondent,
prisoner throughout the day. Thanks to the excellent telephone communication system established by
Baden-Powell, the incursion was repulsed elsewhere, largely by the black Africans, the Baralong,
with nine Boers killed or wounded and twenty-five taken prisoner. Eloff remained steadfast and
courteous, awaiting support from Snyman which never came. As the day faded he was forced to
recognise the hopelessness of his position and he surrendered.

See also:
Mafeking, Siege of.

Reference:

Jeal, Tim, Baden-Powell (London, Hutchinson, 1989); Marix Evans, Martin, The Boer War: South
Africa 1899-1902 (Oxford, Osprey Publishing, 1999).

Enslin, Battle of,

25 November 1899

See Graspan, Battle of.




Erasmus, Assistant Commandant-General D. J. E. “Maroola”

Born in 1845, Maroola Erasmus got his nickname from having directed operations from behind a
maroola tree in a campaign against black Africans in northern Transvaal. He and his brother were,
according to Deneys Reitz, . . .tall, swarthy men, clad in black claw-hammer coats, and semitop hats,
trimmed with crépe, a style of dress and headgear affected by so many Boer officers as virtually to
amount to insignia of rank".

Maroola served in the First Boer War at Bronkhorstspruit and was promoted to commandant at
the siege of Pretoria. He was involved in the defeat of the Jameson Raid in 1895-96. At the Battle of
Talana on 20 October 1899 he sat out the fight on Impate Hill and was present at the siege of
Ladysmith. He operated around Pretoria during the guerrilla phase of the war and was captured in
January 1902 and sent to St Helena.

See also:
Ladysmith, Siege of; Talana, Battle of.
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Reference:

Hall, Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer
War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999); Reitz, Deneys, Commando (London,
Faber & Faber, 1929; Prescott, Arizona, Wolfe Publishing, 1994).

Erasmus, Major P. E.

Piet Erasmus was one of the brothers of Maroola Erasmus and served with the Staatsartillerie. He
was trained in the Netherlands in 1893, did not pass the Lieutenant’s examination but was
commissioned by a board chaired by Captain A. F. Schiel. He dealt with the purchase of the 155mm
Creusot Long Toms and served at the siege of Ladysmith where he was in command of the unit whose
Long Tom was put out of action in the raid on Gun Hill.

See also:
Artillery, Boer; Ladysmith, Siege of; Trichardt, Lieutenant-colonel S. P. E.

Reference:

Hall, Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer
War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999).

Ermelo

A town in the South African Republic (the Transvaal) in the centre of the wedge created by the
railway running east from Pretoria and the railway going south-east from Johannesburg to Volkrust
and northern Natal. Ermelo was at the heart of the country swept by the British in the guerrilla phase
of the war. It was occupied by one side and then the other for a year, and as a result was entirely
destroyed. The fate of Ermelo 1llustrates the devastation visited on the land by the British efforts to
catch Boers in the guerrilla phase of the war.

Major-general Lord Dundonald occupied the town in August 1900 and a hundred Boer burghers
surrendered. When the British left the Boers came back, only to leave again in October when
Lieutenant-general French’s cavalry division came to town and to move in once more when he left. In
the great sweep or drive of January and February 1901 the arrival of Assistant Commandant-general
C. F. Beyers and his men increased the Boer force there to 6,000 men before they were forced to
move away to the south.

By April the British were gone and Commandant-general Louis Botha’s men came in, the town
then becoming the temporary capital of the republic with the presence of Acting President Schalk



Burger and his government. In May the British came back again. The final blow fell in September
1901 when Major-general F. W. Kitchener’s columns left only one house standing. Thereafter the site
was a base for British sweeps in the eastern Transvaal towards the Swaziland border.

See also:
Blockhouses; Drives.

Reference:

Jones, Huw M. and Meurig G. M. Jones, A Gazetteer of the Second Anglo-Boer War 1899—1902
(Milton Keynes, The Military Press, 1999).
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Esau, Abraham, d.

1901

The Boer occupation of Calvinia in the Northern Cape in January 1901 met with outspoken criticism
and opposition from the leader of the local coloured population, Abraham Esau. The Boer governor,
Field Cornet C. van der Merwe, had Esau arrested and given twenty-five lashes, causing him to faint.
His persecution continued in the following weeks, and as the British advanced upon the town in
February, van der Merwe had Esau arrested again. The hapless victim was put in leg-irons, tied
between two horses and dragged to the outskirts of the town where he was shot.

See also:
Africans, Black; Prisoners-of-War.

Reference:

Nasson, William, Abraham Esau’s War.: A Black South African’s War in Cape Colony (Cambridge,
Cambridge University Press, 1991); Pretorius, Fransjohan, Life on Commando during the
Anglo-Boer War 1899—-1902 (Cape Town, Human & Rousseau, 1999).

Estcourt

The site of Fort Durnford, Estcourt, seventeen miles (28km) south of Colenso, Natal, was already a
British military post before the outbreak of the war. The forces stationed at the Colenso garrison
retired on 2 November 1899 and swelled the Estcourt garrison. Colonel C. J. Long was briefly in
command, during which time he was responsible for the activity of the armoured train. Major-general
H. J. T. Hildyard arrived on 15 November, bringing numbers to about 800 mounted troops and 4,400
infantry and artillery. The Boers tried to circumvent Estcourt and advance towards Durban, but turned
back after the Battle of Willow Grange on 23 November. Thereafter the town became a permanent
link in the supply chain of the British army in Natal.

See also:
Armoured Train Incident; Willow Grange, Battle of.

Reference:

Jones, Huw M. and Meurig G. M. Jones, A Gazetteer of the Second Anglo-Boer War 1899—1902
(Milton Keynes, The Military Press, 1999).



European Views of the War

Although the popular press and large sections of public opinion in Europe were in support of the
Boers or against the British, their governments adopted a much more cautious attitude and offered
little, if any, practical assistance. A mere three days after the outbreak of the war in October 1899
Britain and Portugal made a secret agreement by which, in return for a guarantee of Portuguese
territorial integrity, Portuguese East Africa and thus the Delagoa Bay Railway, the only route not
controlled by the British, would be closed for the importation of munitions to the Boer republics.
Material assistance thus being out of the question, only diplomatic and political pressure remained
and what little was brought to bear had no effect. That did not prevent a considerable volume of
adverse opi-
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Farm Burning

The policy of burning Boer farms was approved by Lord Roberts, but there was strong public feeling
against it. Starting as specific reprisals for Boer attacks and building up to a general scorched earth
strategy to counter guerrilla warfare, the farm burning, taken together with the concentration camps,
was the foundation for a lasting nmity between Boer and British. The Boers themselves sometimes
burned the farms of their countrymen when they supported, or failed to oppose, the British.

The reasons for the British burning of Boer farms were numerous and changed over the period of
the war. At first private property was protected unless, in the words of the Hague Convention of
1899, its destruction or confiscation was imperatively demanded by the necessities of war. During the
advance from Bloemfontein it was said, perhaps correctly, that the white flag, indicating surrender or
neutrality, had been shown from farms from which subsequently the
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Boers opened fire. Such farms were burned and, in the view of British troops, rightly so. After
the success of Chief-commandant Christiaan De Wet at Roodewal on 7 June 1900, when the railway
line was compromised, the British Commander-in-Chief, Lord Roberts, proclaimed that farms in the
vicinity of such attacks would be burnt and began with De Wet’s own farm. In September 1900 the
policy was extended to the destruction of all farms and food supplies within ten miles (16km) of the
incident, or when troops were fired on from a farm or if it had been used as a commando base. The
control of implementation of the policy was loose and many British formations felt that they had a
general licence to destroy farms, particularly where a drive or sweep was in progress. In December
1900 the new Commander-in-Chief, Lord Kitchener, confirmed and intensified the land clearance
policy in order to deny support to Boers in the field. In the course of the war some 30,000 houses,
including farms, were destroyed.

See also:
Concentration Camps; Drives; Guerrilla War.

Reference:

Hall, Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer
War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999); Lee, Emanoel, To the Bitter End
(London, Viking, 1985); Pretorius, Fransjohan, The Anglo-Boer War 1899-1902 (Cape Town,
Don Nelson, 1985).

Fawcett, Mrs Millicent Garrett,

1847-1929

The political uproar caused by the revelations in Emily Hobhouse’s report on conditions in the so-
called refugee camps forced the British Secretary of State for War, St John Brodrick, to appoint a
Ladies’” Committee to visit the concentration camps and report on them. Mrs Millicent Fawcett led the
investigation and, although considered anti-Boer and of Conservative stock by some in Britain, the
Committee largely confirmed Hobhouse’s findings and recommendations.

Millicent Fawcett was the widow of Professor Henry Fawcett, former Postmaster-general, and a
member of the Garrett family that also produced Dr Elizabeth Garrett Anderson, who pioneered
women’s rights to practise medicine in Britain. Her committee included Dr Jane Waterston, Miss
Scarlett, Miss Brereton, Lady Knox and Miss Deane. They toured from August to September 1901
and confirmed the facts given in the Hobhouse report, going on to point out fresh dangers, notably the
maladministration at Mafeking. They visited in August and made their views known at once. By
November, nothing had been done to change conditions, and 400 deaths a week were taking place.



Their final report in December (presented to Parliament as Command Paper 893) laid the foundation
for substantial improvement.

Millicent Fawcett was President of the National Union of Women’s Suffrage from 1897 to 1919
and a co-
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founder of Newnham College, Cambridge.

See also:
Concentration Camps; Hobhouse, Emily.
Reference:

Pakenham, Thomas, The Boer War (London, Weidenfeld & Nicolson, 1979; Abacus, 1992); Spies, S.
B., “Women and the War” in Warwick, Peter, ed., The South African War (Harlow, Longman,
1980).

Fontein

A spring, a water source.

Fouché, Vecht-General W. D.

Having achieved the rank of Commandant at twenty-five years of age, Fouché was active on behalf of
the Boers in Cape Colony, first with Assistant Chief-commandant Kritzinger and then with Assistant
Commandant-general Jan Smuts. He was promoted in 1902 and led operations in the Cape Midlands.
These actions 1n Cape Colony were an additional worry for the British, but were not a major factor in
the conduct of the war. In the First World War he served under Louis Botha against the Germans in
South West Africa.

See also:
Cape Colony, Invasions of.

Reference:

Hall, Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer
War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999).

Fourteen Streams

The railway station at Fourteen Streams near the Vaal River was the place to which the Boers
retreated after the relief of Kimberley in February 1900. Some 3,000 burghers and six guns, under the
command of Vecht-general S. P. du Toit, had arrived here by March and a council of war was held



here in April 1900, but the position was abandoned in May without a fight. The railway bridge over
the Vaal had been blown up and a temporary bridge took its place for the time being.

See also:
Kimberley, Siege of.

Reference:

Jones, Huw M. and Meurig G. M., 4 Gazetteer of the Second Anglo-Boer War 1899—1902 (Milton
Keynes, The Military Press, 1999).

Frederikstad, Action at,

20-25 October 1900

Major-general G. Barton was cut off at Frederikstad Station, seventeen miles (27km) north of
Potchefstroom, by Vecht-general P. J. Liebenberg on 20 October 1900. Liebenberg received support
from Chief-commandant Christiaan De Wet while Barton called for reinforcements by heliograph.
According to De Wet, the men he lent to Liebenberg were misused, permitting the relief of Barton’s
force and the loss of thirty Boers
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killed or wounded and thirty taken prisoner. De Wet’s presence became known to the British,
who pursued him and nearly caught him at Bothaville on 6 November.

See also:
Bothaville, Action at.

Reference:

De Wet, Christiaan, Three Years War (London, Archibald Constable, 1902); Jones, Huw M. and
Meurig G. M., 4 Gazetteer of the Second Anglo-Boer War 1899-1902 (Milton Keynes, The
Military Press, 1999).

French, Lieutenant-General Sir John,

1852-1925

General French commanded the Cavalry Brigade in the dramatic, long, flanking strike that relieved
the siege of Kimberley and his troops continued to play a crucial role in operations up to the end of
the conventional phase of the war. Thereafter he was involved in operations against the guerrilla
commandos with rather less success than he had enjoyed as a cavalry commander in the traditional
sense.

John Denton Pinkstone French joined the 8th Hussars in February 1874 and transferred to the
19th Hussars the following month. He served in Egypt and the Sudan and was involved in the attempt
to rescue Gordon at Khartoum. He was given command of the Cavalry Division in South Africa in
1899 with the rank of Lieutenant-general. In Natal he was successful against the Boers at Elandslaagte
and narrowly avoided being besieged in Ladysmith. The defence of the Cape Colony in the Colesberg
area was his next task. He then served under the new British Commander-in-Chief, Lord Roberts, and
managed to deceive Vecht-general Christiaan De Wet at Waterval Drift at the outset of the flanking
march to relieve Kimberley. The effect on his cavalry of making so swift an advance over difficult
terrain was severe, but he was nonetheless able to make a second hurried march to prevent Assistant
Commandant-general Piet Cronj¢ escaping from the trap of Paardeberg. He then fought at Poplar
Grove, Driefontein, Zand River, Doornkop and Diamond Hill. French later commanded a number of
the great drives which were intended to entrap Boer commandos during the guerrilla phase of the
war. In 1901 he was given command of British forces in Cape Colony and promoted to Major-
general.

Sir John French commanded the British Expeditionary Force in France from the outbreak of war
in 1914 to the end of 1915. He became first Earl of Ypres in 1916 and was Lord Lieutenant of Ireland
from 1918 to 1921.



See also:
Diamond Hill, Battle of; Driefontein, Battle of; Doornkop, Battle of; Drives; Elandslaagte,

Battle of; Kimberley, Siege of; Poplar Grove, Battle of; Waterval Drift, Action at.
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French Volunteers

The number of French volunteers serving on the Boer side was quite small, in spite of the Huguenot
connection shown by such family names as Joubert, du Toit and Villiers amongst the Boers. The
French Corps was commanded by Colonel Count Georges de Villebois-Mareuil and fought at
Colenso and the Platrand, Ladysmith before going to the Orange Free State and fighting at Poplar
Grove and Driefontein. Many of the French were subsumed in the European Legion which Villebois-
Mareuil, now with the rank of Vecht-general, led to defeat by Lord Methuen near Boshof. The rest of
this unit fought during the retreat from Bloemfontein to Pretoria but broke up because of Boer
indifference to, and lack of support for, foreign volunteer units.

Olivier d’Etchegoyen, writing as “An Ex-Lieutenant” of the French commander, produced an
account of the war as seen through French eyes which is probably accurate in its details but is wildly
unreliable in its overview of events. He was captured in July 1900 by a unit that included French-
speaking Canadian troops and was permitted to return to France. At that time no more than forty
Frenchman were left in the Boer service.

See also:
Anti-semitism; Boer Forces; Boshof, Battle of; Driefontein, Battle of; Villebois-Mareuil,

Colonel Count Georges de.

Reference:

d’Etchegoyen, Olivier, Ten Months in the Field with the Boers (London, Heinemann, 1901); Hall,
Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer
War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999).

Frere

A village in Natal north-west of Estcourt. It was between Frere and Chieveley that the armoured train
on which Winston Churchill was travelling was ambushed.

See also:
Armoured Train Incident.
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G
Gandhi, Mohandas Karamchand,

1869-1948

An Indian lawyer, trained in London, Mohandas Gandhi came to Natal in 1893. He was shocked at
the treatment he received because of his race. On 16 October 1899 he addressed a meeting of the
Natal Indian Congress in Durban and suggested that they could not remain mere spectators in the war.
He was authorised to write to the Colonial Secretary pointing out that, while Indians were not
competent to fight for the British Empire, there were other duties they could perform on the
battlefield. In response to an appeal by the British Commander-in-Chief, Sir Redvers Buller, Gandhi
was instrumental in raising the Indian Ambulance Corps. The Indians served on the Natal front at the
battles of Colenso, Spioenkop, Vaalkrans and elsewhere until after the relief of Ladysmith. Gandhi
took part in the fruitless efforts to safeguard the civil rights of Indians in South Africa after the war
and led the independence movement in India from 1919 to 1947.

See also:
Indian Ambulance Corps.

Reference:
Tichmann, Paul, “We are Sons of the Empire after all”, Soldiers of the Queen,no. 87, 1996.

Gat

A narrow passage or hole.
Gatacre, Lieutenant-General Sir William,

1843-1906

William Forbes Gatacre joined the army in 1862. He was Instructor of Military Surveying at the
Royal Military College from 1875 to 1879. He served in Burma in 1889 and in the Sudan in 1898. He



gained a reputation for being formidably fit and, possibly as a result of being capable of impressive
physical exploits, over-estimated the capacity of his men to perform likewise. He was given
command of the 3rd Division in South Africa in 1899 and led it to defeat at Stormberg that December,
one of the three reverses of “Black Week”. His failure to support the British troops trapped by Chief-
commandant Christiaan De Wet at Mostertshoek led to his being relieved of his command and sent
back to England.

See also:
Mostertshoek, Battle of; Stormberg, Battle of.
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Gold and the Witwatersrand

Gold was discovered in the Transvaal in 1886. A gold rush followed, with people,
uitlanders,arriving from all over the world to seek their fortune. The nature of the ore — low-grade
but available in vast quantities — called for high investment such as only companies like Wernher-
Beit, owned by Julius Wernher and Alfred Beit, and Cecil Rhodes’s Consolidated Goldfields could
afford. It was their interests that led to the Jameson Raid, the attempted overthrow of the Boer
government.
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Thereafter the South African Republic (ZAR) enjoyed the massive tax revenues which funded
the purchase of weapons and promised to change the balance of power in the area. British imperialist
and economic interests alike were threatened. Force having failed, democracy was attempted by those
in the pay of the mining companies and a bid was made to have the franchise extended to the
uitlanders,the failure of this bid led to the Second Boer War.

See also:
Rhodes, Cecil; Wernher, Beit & Co.
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Pakenham, Thomas, The Boer War (London, Weidenfeld & Nicolson, 1979; Abacus, 1992);
Pretorius, Fransjohan, The Anglo-Boer War 1899—1902 (Cape Town, Don Nelson, 1985).

Gordon, Brigadier-General J. R. P.

Gordon joined the 15th Hussars in 1879 at the age of nineteen and served in the Afghan War of 1880,
in the First Boer War, in the Bechuanaland Expedition of 1884—85, in Burma in 1887, in Lagos in
1892 and in the Ashanti War of 1895-96. He was in command of the 3rd Cavalry Brigade in Major-
general French's Cavalry Division on the ride to relieve Kimberley. After they had crossed the Riet
River near Waterval and the Modder at Klip Drift, the cavalry had to pass a nek (a pass between
hills) dominated by Boers and their artillery. French gave Gordon the task of breaking through, which
he did with the 9th and 15th Lancers to the fore, at the gallop.

See also:
French, Lieutenant-general Sir John; Kimberley, Siege of; Waterval Drift, Action at.

Gough, Lieutenant-Colonel Hubert De La Poer,

1870-1963

Hubert Gough joined the 16th Lancers in 1889 and saw service in India. He served under Sir Redvers
Buller at the battles of Colenso and Spoienkop and was given a mounted infantry command at
Vaalkrans. During the guerrilla phase of the war he commanded a column in the defence of northern
Natal and was defeated and captured by Commandant-general Louis Botha at Blood River Poort in
September 1901. He seems to have been somewhat impulsive in mounting an attack before he was
fully appraised of his enemy's dispositions, but to some extent redeemed himself by escaping.



Gough achieved high command in the First World War in France and was unlucky in being the
man in command when the offensive of March 1918 pushed the British back some forty miles. He was
relieved of his command and recalled to England.

See also:
Blood River Poort, Action at.
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Pakenham, Thomas, The Boer War (London, Weidenfeld & Nicolson, 1979; Abacus, 1992).

¥

Crrey )



Page 102

Graspan (or Enslin), Battle of,

25 November 1899

After forcing the Boers to withdraw at the Battle of Belmont, the British under Lord Methuen engaged
them two days later near Graspan, ten miles (16km) further along the road towards Kimberley, where
the British were besieged. Before withdrawing once more, some of the Boers were forced down from
the hills facing the British left and, from the foot of the kopje, fired on the advancing Royal Naval
Battalion. The effectiveness of high-velocity rifle fire over flat ground was demonstrated in the
number of casualties the British suffered. Nonetheless, the positions were taken and the Boers fell
back to the Modder River.

The British reconnaissance of the positions to which the Boers fell back after the Battle of
Belmont was mistaken in concluding that only some 400 men held the position. More than five times
that number occupied the line of hills or kopjes that lay across the railway line between the little
settlements of Graspan and Enslin. De la Rey with his Transvaal commandos had been joined by men
of the Winburg, Bloemfontein, Jacobsdal, Hoopstad and Fauriesmith commandos. The plan was to
engage the Boers with artillery before rolling up their positions from east to west.

While the shells poured down on the hills, the Naval Brigade and the King's Own Yorkshire
Light Infantry made the long flanking march to the east in the increasing heat of the day. They turned to
attack and immediately came under heavy fire when they were about 500 yards (450m) from the base
of the kopjes. This came not only from their front, but also from their left where some Boers had been
driven off the hilltops by the artillery and were down amongst the rocks at the base of the hill, firing
over the flat ground. It was not until the British had got close to the hill to their front that a spur
sheltered them from this fire and the steepness of the hill prevented the Boers above from bringing
their rifles to bear.

The hills were taken in a series of short rushes, giving the high ground on the Boer left, the east,
to the British and thus rendering the rest of the Boer positions to the west untenable. The Boers
retreated and the British cavalry and mounted infantry were too few to successfully pursue and take
them. Of a total of five officers and 190 men, the Marines lost two officers and nine men, and one
officer and seventy-two men were wounded, while the sailors lost two officers and two men, and
another six were wounded. The Marines had suffered 44 per cent casualties, partly the result of Boer
rifle fire and partly because they failed to stay in open formation; bunching up made them easy targets.
The commander of the Naval Brigade, Captain R. C. Prothero, was severely wounded.

Vecht-General Joos de la Rey was not slow to learn and would use the chance positioning of
Boer rifleman on a level with their targets as a basic principle of deployment in future battles.

See also:



Belmont, Battle of; Modder River, Battle of; Rifles.
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Baker, Anthony, Battles & Battlefields of the Anglo-Boer War 18991902 (Milton Keynes, The
Military Press, 1999); Jones, W. T. C., "The Action at Graspan" in Naval Brigades in the South
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Great Trek, The

The Great Trek, the movement of the Boers from Cape Colony to lands beyond the Orange and Vaal
rivers, was an attempt to preserve a way of life that became, for their heirs, equivalent to the
movement of a chosen race to their promised land. It served to reinforce not only the conviction they
had of their superiority to black Africans, but also the importance of avoiding contamination by ideas
from other white people holding different views.

The willingness of the Boer population in the British colony at the Cape to tolerate the changes
made between 1806 and 1836 was finite. Piet Uys said: "We have been deprived of all our domestic
authority over the apprenticed coloureds in our homes and on our farms, and this has made these
coloureds so insolent that we are no longer secure in our property and even our lives". It was not only
the abolition of slavery in 1834, but also acts such as the enforced use of English in schools and in
courts of law and the increasing shortage of land that drove them to leave the colony. From 1835, for
almost ten years, some 14,000 people of Dutch descent migrated inland. In carving new territory for
themselves the Voortrekkers, as they were known, encountered black Africans, some of whom were
engaged in building empires of their own. Battles were fought with the Ndebele in the north by
Hendrick Potgieter, and Piet Retief and Andries Pretorius struggled with the Zulu in the east. The
decisive Battle of Blood River and the associated vow, known as the Covenant, exerted a deep
influence on the Boer people.

The action of trekking, moving on when conditions were no longer acceptable, did not cease in
the 19th century. In the 1920s Deneys Reitz, then a government minister, encountered Trek Boers in
Angola who, dissatisfied with their treatment by the Portuguese, were driving their great ox-wagons
towards the Congo.

See also:
Blood River, Battle of; Dutch Colonisation.

Reference:

Reitz, Deneys, No Outspan (1942, Prescott, Arizona, Wolfe Publishing, 1994); Troup, Freda, South
Africa: An Historical Introduction (London, Eyre Methuen, 1972).



Griqualand

In the confusion of settler expansion in Cape Colony, missionaries encouraged various small groups,
under leaders such as Adam Kok and Andries Waterboer, to set up self-governing black enclaves
along the Orange River and the lands to the north. In 1861 Adam Kok, in response to an
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offer made after diamonds had been discovered along the Orange River, moved his people to an
area south of the Drakensbergs between the Cape and Natal that became known as East Griqualand.
The original area, now called West Griqualand, was the subject of dispute between the Orange Free
State and the British. The West Griqualand chief, Andries Waterboer, was represented by a lawyer
called David Arnot who, in 1871, persuaded the Keate Commission, charged with the responsibility
of settling the border dispute between the Griqua, Cape Colony and the Orange Free State, that
Britain had grounds for annexing West Griqualand — and thus the diamond fields. The finding was
later, in 1875, established as being invalid, but as it was impossible to unravel its consequences,
compensation was paid to the Orange Free State.

Reference:
Troup, Freda, South Africa: An Historical Introduction (London, Eyre Methuen, 1972).

Grobler, Assistant Chief-Commandant E. R.,

1861-1937

Born in the Orange Free State, Esaias Renier Grobler became a member of the Volksraad
(Parliament) in 1886. At the start of the war he commanded on the border with Cape Colony and then
became commander of the Orange Free State forces in the southern part of the republic. He occupied
Stormberg Junction, an important railway junction over the Orange River in Cape Colony, on 23
November 1899 with some 1,500 men. A British force under Lieutenantgeneral Sir William Gatacre
stumbled on a Boer unit of this force and was compelled to withdraw; this action resulted in some
eighty British casualties and over 600 men being taken prisoner by the Boers. The Battle of
Stormberg was one of three defeats inflicted on the British that made up "Black Week" and led to the
replacement of Sir Redvers Buller as Commander-in-Chief by Lord Roberts. Grobler subsequently
fought at Colesberg and Paardeberg, resisted the British advance from Bloemfontein and was
wounded and captured in 1900 near Springfontein in the southern Free State. After the war he was
active in the government of the Union of South Africa.

See also:
Colesberg; Paardeberg, Battle of; Stormberg, Battle of.

Reference:

Hall, Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer
War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999).



Guerrilla War

An irregular war conducted by small bodies of combatants acting independently. The word guerrilla
means, literally, little war and emerged in connection with the Napoleonic conflict in Spain in the
early 19th century. The style of warfare, however, is much older, the earliest reference being found in
the Hittite Anastas Papyrusof the 15th century BC.The objective is not to take and hold ground, as in
conventional warfare, but to force
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H
Haig, Lieutenant-Colonel Douglas,

1861-1928

Douglas Haig served for the greater part of the war on the staff of Major-general Sir John French,
under whom he was to serve again in the First World War and whom he replaced as Commander-in-
Chief in that war.

Haig had joined the 7th Hussars in 1885 and served in the Sudan where he conducted the final
reconnaissances before the battles of Atbara and Omdurman. He assisted the then Colonel French in
the preparation of the Cavalry Drill Bookof 1896. With French, he escaped from Ladysmith on the
last train to leave before the siege of that town started in 1899 and was thus available to take part in
the cavalry operations in Cape Colony and the Orange Free State. In the guerrilla phase of the war he
was involved in planning drives to capture Boer commandos and in the final months was in command
of the 17th Lancers.

In his evidence to the inquiry held after the war, Haig criticised the decision to deprive the
cavalry of lances and swords and held out for the use of the cavalry in its traditional role. He held
that a mounted attack thus armed could produce more rapid and decisive results than could be gained
with the rifle. The performance of the cavalry in the relief of Kimberley and at the Battle of Diamond
Hill can be cited in support of this view, but neither was undertaken in the face of concentrated rifle
and machine-gun fire which had been seen in this war and would be characteristic of the First World
War. He became Commander-in-Chief of the British Expeditionary Force in France in December
1915.

See also:
Drives; Horses.

Reference:

Hall, Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer
War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999).

Hamilton, Major-General Bruce M.

Forty-four-year old Bruce Hamilton commanded the British forces that prevented Commandant-



general Louis Botha's planned invasion of Natal in 1901.
Hamilton joined the 15th Foot (the East Yorkshire Regiment) in 1877 and served in the Second
Afghan War and the First Boer War as aide-de-camp to
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his brother-in-law, Major-general Sir George Pomeroy-Colley, who was killed at Majuba. He
served in West Africa before going to South Africa as Chief of Staff to Lieutenant-general Sir Francis
Clery and later served under Major-general Smith-Dorrien. He then commanded the 21st Brigade.
His brother, Lieutenant-colonel H. I. W. Hamilton was Military Secretary to the British Commander-
in-Chief Lord Kitchener at the end of the war.

Reference:

Hall, Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer
War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999).

Hamilton, Brigadier-General G. H. C.

G. H. C. Hamilton commanded the British 4th Cavalry Brigade.
Hamilton, Lieutenant-General Sir Ian,

1853-1947

Ian Hamilton arrived in South Africa as a staff officer to Lieutenant-general Sir George White and,
after conducting a textbook attack on the Boers at the Battle of Elandslaagte, had the frustrating
experience of being besieged in Ladysmith. Here he fought off the Boer attack on the Platrand on 6
January 1900. The new British Commander-in-Chief, Lord Roberts, gave him command of the
Mounted Infantry Division in the advance from Bloemfontein and he fought at Doornkop and Diamond
Hill. He returned to England in 1901 but was then appointed Chief of Staff to Lord Kitchener who had
taken over the command from Roberts.

Ian Standish Monteith Hamilton was born into an army family in Corfu in 1853. He joined the
army in 1873 and served with the 92nd (Gordon) Highlanders in the Afghan War and became a staff
officer to Sir Frederick, later Lord, Roberts. He fought at Majuba in the First Boer War and was
seriously wounded in the left wrist, losing the function of that hand. He then saw service in the Sudan
and other theatres before returning to South Africa to fight the Boers a second time. He was much
admired by Winston Churchill who wrote in detail of the advance of the Mounted Infantry to the
Transvaal. In the First World War he commanded the assault on Gallipoli and, taking responsibility
for the failure of his subordinates, was recalled when it failed.

See also:
Diamond Hill. Battle of; Doornkop, Battle of; Elandslaagte, Battle of; Ladysmith, Siege of;




Platrand. Battle of.

Reference:

Churchill, Winston S., lan Hamilton's March (London, Longmans, Green, 1900) and Leo Cooper,
1989 under the title 7he Boer War;Hall, Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage,
The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999).
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Hands-Uppers

In a proclamation of 15 March 1900 the British Commander-in-Chief, Lord Roberts, offered terms to
all Boers willing to lay down their arms. Those who accepted were known to their countrymen as
hensoppersor hands-uppers. The British offer assured them that if they took an oath not to participate
further in the war and returned to their homes having surrendered their weapons, they would not be
made prisoners-of-war and their property would be respected. Many complied and were treated with
contempt by those who fought on.

The hands-uppers were motivated either by a general aversion to fighting on, or by a positive
belief that the war was futile or by the desire to preserve their property and livelihoods. In the
Orange Free State about 6,000 burghers had surrendered on those terms by July 1900 and in the
Transvaal 8,000 men had done so. They did not necessarily adhere to their undertakings. Chief-
commandant Christiaan De Wet held that, because it was not made to a legitimate governing body in
the Orange Free State, the oath was invalid and he persuaded, possibly somewhat forcefully, a
number of men to re-enlist. In addition, many Boers were suspected of yielding up ancient weapons
and keeping their Mausers for further use.

Some Boers went as far as working for the British, and were known as joiners. Those of the
opposite persua-
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sion who refused to contemplate surrender were known as bitter-enders.

See also:
Bitter-enders; Joiners.

Reference:

Grundlingh, Albert, "Collaborators in Boer Society", The South African War,ed. Peter Warwick
(Harlow, Longman, 1980); Pretorius, Fransjohan, The Anglo-Boer War 1899—1902 (Cape
Town, Don Nelson, 1985).

Harrismith

Located in the eastern Orange Free State and commanding the Van Reenen Pass through which the
road and railway for Ladysmith runs, Harrismith became a centre from which the British conducted
drives to capture Boer commandos.

At the time of the war the railway from Ladysmith terminated at Harrismith and the line provided
a supply route for the Boers on the invasion of Natal and for the British after they had taken the town
on 4 August 1900. Lieutenant-general Sir Leslie Rundle based his columns here in December 1900
and Major-general E. L. Elliot added his forces in September 1901. Harrismith was the focus for a
line of blockhouses on the road west to Bethlehem, north towards Verkykerskop, south to Olivier's
Hoek Pass and south-west to Van Reenen's Pass. It was also the site of concentration camps for both
blacks and whites.

See also:
Colesberg; Drives.

Reference:

Jones, Huw M. and Meurig G. M. Jones, A Gazetteer of the Second Anglo-Boer War 1899—-1902
(Milton Keynes, The Military Press, 1999).

Hart, Major-General Arthur Fitzroy

General Hart was a man of vigour and courage. He commanded the Sth (Irish) Brigade at the battles
of Colenso and the Tugela Heights, in both of which his brigade suffered great loss. It was at Colenso
that, in person, he led the Irish into the Loop, a meander in the river where the Boers subjected the
British to ferocious rifle and shell fire which halted the advance of the British left. On the Tugela
Heights, Hart's Hill, named after him, 1s the place where the Irish regiments showed such valour that



Queen Victoria decided to institute "the wearing of the green", the shamrock, by Irish units on St
Patrick's Day.

Arthur Fitzroy Hart joined the 31st Foot (1st East Surrey Regiment) in 1864 at the age of twenty.
He saw service in Africa, first in the Gold Coast (Ghana) and then in the Ashanti War. In southern
Africa he served in the Zulu War and the First Boer War. His action in leading his brigade into the
Loop at Colenso has been much criticised. He apparently neglected advice about the position of the
drift (ford) by which he was meant to cross the river to attack the Boer right flank and followed the
lead of a black African guide. However, the Intelligence Department, War Office, map no. 1449,
published in 1899, clearly shows a drift that leaves the Loop at the north-east. It is possible that Hart
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had seen this map and believed it. In the attack on Hart's Hill the artillery provided close
supporting fire until the troops attained the edge of the flat hilltop when shelling had to cease. The
Boer trenches were well back from the edge of the hill, providing a clear killing-ground that the Irish
Brigade was unable to cross until renewed British shelling on the second day of fighting had subdued
resistance. Hart could not have known the details of his enemy's dispositions.

See also:
Colenso, Battle of; Maps; Spioenkop, Battle of; Tugela Heights, Battle of.

Reference:

Hall, Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer
War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999); Marix Evans, Martin, The Boer War:
South Africa 1899—1902 (Oxford, Osprey Publishing, 1999).

Heilbron

East of the Bloemfontein to Pretoria railway and connected to it by a branch line running south from
Wolwehoek in the north of the Orange Free State, Heilbron was the residence of Christiaan De Wet at
the outbreak of the war. He served with its commando in Natal. The town changed hands a number of
times during the war.

Heilbron was briefly the seat of government of the Orange Free State in May 1900, but the
British, under Lieutenant-general lan Hamilton, entered it on 22 May. It was garrisoned by various
units until the surrender of the Boers under Assistant Chief-commandant Marthinus Prinsloo in the
Brandwater Basin on 30 July 1900. The Boers returned and De Wet, now Chief-commandant, held a
recruiting meeting here. The British soon returned and used the town as a base for the building of
blockhouses.

See also:
Colesberg; De Wet, Chief-commandant Christiaan; Hamilton, Lieutenant-general Sir lan.

Helpmekaar, Action at,

13 May 1900

When the British army in Natal under the command of Sir Redvers Buller advanced in May 1900, the
Boers under Commandant-general Louis Botha decided to defend the line of hills that ended, in the



east, at Helpmekaar. Although deemed by Colonel J. Y. F. Blake of the Boer Irish Brigade the
strongest position for defence he had yet seen, the Piet Retief Commando failed to hold it and the
Boer defence line was fatally compromised.

The Biggarsberg mountains, with their few passes, bar the way north from Ladysmith to
Newcastle and Dundee. This was the line General Kock was supposed to have secured for the Boers
instead of getting involved in, and losing, the battle of Elandslaagte (21 October 1899) at the start of
the war. This was also the line to which Commandant-general Louis Botha, with about 4,800 Boers,
withdrew after the relief of Ladysmith by the British on 27 February 1900. Helpmekaar stands at the
eastern end of the hills and was held in March and April by men of Blake's Irish Brigade,
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fighting on the Boer side. The Irish were withdrawn from Natal in April and in May the place
was held by men of the Piet Retief Commando, under Commandant C. L. Englebrecht, and three guns.
The hill had been extensively fortified in the previous six months. In the face of a series of approach
attacks on their outposts, fire from the Royal Field Artillery and forays by the Natal Carbineers, the
Boers withdrew just as a final attack was about to start on 13 May. The Biggarsberg line collapsed
and the Boers withdrew to Langs Nek.

See also:
Botha's Pass, Action at; Elandlaagte, Battle of; Ladysmith, Siege of.
Reference:

Blake, J. Y. F., A West Pointer with the Boers (Boston, Angel Guardian Press, 1903); Greenwood,
Colin, "Helpmekaar—May 1900", Classic Arms & Militaria,March/April 1999; Jones, Huw M.,
and Meurig G. M. Jones, A Gazetteer of the Second Anglo-Boer War (Milton Keynes, The
Military Press, 1999).

Hely-Hutchinson, The Hon. Sir Walter,

1849-1913

Hely-Hutchinson was Governor of Natal at the outbreak of the war. He encouraged Major-general Sir
W. Penn Symons to take his forces to the north of the colony to guard the coalfields and uphold the
supposed honour of the colonists when, in England, the British Commander-in-Chief Sir Redvers
Buller was strongly in favour of remaining south of the Tugela River. Hely-Hutchinson had, indeed,
pushed the army too far north, as the difficulties of the Natal campaign were to show. Sir Walter
became Governor of Cape Colony in January 1901.

See also:
Colenso, Battle of; Ladysmith, Siege of; Talana, Battle of.

Helvetia, Action at,

29 December 1900

Helvetia overlooked the road from the Delagoa Bay Railway, running east from Pretoria, north
towards Lydenburg and stood on the road east towards Barberton, a position of importance in the



quest to dominate the guerrilla Boers in the eastern Transvaal. A British post there was attacked and
partially overrun in December 1900, but the last redoubt (fortified position) held and the Boers had to
abandon their effort.

Helvetia had been taken by the British on 29 August 1900 in the aftermath of the Battle of
Bergendal. A post was established with positions on four kopjes and manned by some 344 officers
and men of the King's Liverpool Regiment with a 4.7-inch gun. On 29 December they were attacked
by 700 Boers under Assistant Commandant-general C. H. Miiller. Gun Hill was taken and two more
positions, Middle and South Hills, surrendered, but the last position, King's Kopje, was stubbornly
defended by the 1st King's under Lieutenant F. A. Wilkinson. Further unsuccessful attacks were made
in the following weeks.
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See also:
Bergendal, Battle of.

Reference:

Jones, Huw M., and Meurig G. M. Jones, A Gazetteer of the Second Anglo-Boer War (Milton
Keynes, The Military Press, 1999).

Hertzog, Assistant Commandant-General James Barry Munnik,

18661942

Judge Hertzog was a lawyer who reorganised the Orange Free State artillery, became an outstanding
guerrilla leader and was eventually Prime Minister of South Africa.

Barry Hertzog grew up in a Kimberley mining camp, studied law at Stellenbosch and
Amsterdam universities and had become a judge of the Supreme Court of the Orange Free State by the
time the war began. After the Boer defeat at Paardeberg in February 1900 he took over the Orange
Free State artillery and restored it to something of its former effectiveness. In December 1900,
Hertzog embarked on a daring raid into Cape Colony where he expected men of Dutch descent to rise
in rebellion against the British. The foray was supposed to be conducted in liaison with
Chiefcommandant Christiaan De Wet, but the latter's expedition was repulsed by the British. Hertzog,
on the other hand, succeeded in thrusting right across to the western coast at Lambert's Bay, 120 miles
(200km) north of Cape Town. There they expected to meet a ship bringing arms and ammunition;
however, a British warship awaited them instead. Commandant S. G. Maritz claimed that some of his
men opened fire on HMS Sybille, thus taking part in a naval engagement. Hertzog's return trip was
equally perilous, but he managed to reunite his men with Boer forces at Colesberg. A second foray
was made in February 1901.

Hertzog took part in the peace negotiations but was never reconciled to the British. He founded
the National Party and was opposed to President Botha's policy of supporting the British against the
Germans in 1914. In 1924 Hertzog became Prime Minister of the Union of South Africa. On 5
September 1939 he was defeated on a motion that the Union should remain neutral in the Second
World War.

See also:
Cape Colony, Invasions of.

Reference:
Hall, Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer



War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999); Reitz, Deneys, Commando (London,
Faber & Faber, 1929; Prescott, Arizona, Wolfe Publishing, 1994).

Hildyard, Major-General H. J. T.,

18461916

Henry Hildyard served in the Royal Navy from 1859 to 1864. He joined the army in 1867 and served

in Egypt in 1882. As Commandant of the Staff College from 1893 to 1898 he made significant changes
to balance the study of military theory with the acquisition of practical skills. He commanded the 2nd

Brigade at the Battle
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of Colenso and in the relief of Ladysmith and then took command of the 5th Division. He was
later put in command in Natal and south-eastern Transvaal.

See also:
Colenso, Battle of.

Reference:

Hall, Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer
War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999).

Hobhouse, Emily,

1860-1926

The conditions in the refugee (sic) camps, which become known as concentration camps, were first
reported in Europe by Emily Hobhouse. Although her account was dismissed as biased and perverse
by supporters of the war, those who questioned British policy took up the cause she championed. The
political impact was huge and the government was obliged to appoint an official mission under
Millicent Fawcett to investigate. Mrs Fawcett confirmed Miss Hobhouse's findings in almost every
particular and supported almost all her recommendations, even adding new ones.

Emily Hobhouse was the daughter of an Anglican parson and was born in Cornwall on 9 April
1860. After her father's death in 1895 she went to Minnesota, United States, where she became a
social worker. When her engagement to an American businessman was broken off she returned to
England and, at the beginning of the Boer War, joined the South African Conciliation Committee, a
pacifist group. When the first news of farm burning and the evacuation of women and children to
refugee camps appeared in the British press, she established the South African Women and Children
Distress Fund with the object of providing food and clothing to those in the camps.

She went to South Africa with the supplies the Fund had collected in 1900, arriving in Cape
Town on 27 December. She was made welcome by Sir Alfred Milner who provided her with a 12—
ton railway wagon to carry her goods for distribution to the needy. She was in no way prepared for
the suffering, illness and death she found in the camps and on her return to London produced a report
notable for its restraint and cool, factual reporting. However, it was not seen that way by government
supporters. In After Pretoria: The Guerilla War,published by the Harmsworth brothers'
Amalgamated Press, it was stated: "She made no allowance for whatever the special difficulties of
war . . . She knew nothing of the normal conditions of Boer life, or of the state of dirt and squalour in
which a large proportion of the camp inmates usually lived." She was more courteously received by
the new Secretary of State for War, St John Brodrick, and at the other extreme, Sir Henry Campbell-



Bannerman, leader of the party in opposition, the Liberals, at a party dinner on 14 June 1901 used the
phrase "methods of barbarism" to describe British policy.

Although her visits were confined to the white camps, Miss Hobhouse was aware of the black
camps and expressed the view that they badly
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needed examination (page 9 of her report).

Emily Hobhouse tried to visit South Africa again in October 1901 but was arrested and
compelled to return to England at once. Her cause was widely publicised as a result and
improvements in the camps followed. After the war she visited South Africa again and raised funds
for the support of the poverty-stricken and in 1905 opened a school to teach spinning and weaving at
Philippolis. She passed her final years in a house in Cornwall purchased by funds raised from the
Afrikaner nation and died on 8 June 1926. Her ashes were buried in Bloemfontein on 27 October
1927 at the foot of the Women's Memorial, a statue inspired by her description of a child's death at
Springfontein in May 1901, the unveiling of which she was not, through illness, able to attend on 16
December 1913. In the speech read for her she said: "Does not justice bid us remember today how
many thousands of the dark race perished also in the Concentration Camps in a quarrel that was not
theirs?. . . The plea of Abraham Lincoln for the black comes echoing back to me: '"They will probably
help you in some trying time to come to keep the jewel of liberty in the family of freedom'." This
passage was omitted from the commemorative issue of Die Volksbladon 13 December 1963.

See also:

Concentration Camps, Black; Concentration Camps, White; Fawcett, Mrs Millicent Garrett;
Documents: Hobhouse, Emily, Report of a Visit to the Camps of Women and Children in the Cape

and Orange River Colonies.London, Friars Printing Association, 1901.
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To The Bitter End (London and New York, Viking, 1985); Pakenham, Thomas, The Boer War
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1984).

Holkrantz, Action at,

6 May 1902

At the end of April 1902 the Boers operating in south-eastern Transvaal and north-eastern Natal took
action against the Zulu, razing their homes and taking their sheep and cattle. The abaQulusi chief,
Sikhobobo, retaliated. Of the seventy Boers attacked to repossess the cattle, fifty-six were killed and
a similar number of the 300—strong Zulu force also died. The incident added to the pressures on the



Boers to make peace before, as they saw it, the black Africans became an even greater threat.

Boer activity in the Vryheid district increased in early 1902 and Major-general Bruce Hamilton
came to Vryheid with a large force supplemented with a Zulu impi. The attempts to round up the Boer
commandos were unsuccessful, and the operation ceased. The abaQulusi, who had provided useful
information about the
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Boers, were now the victims of a punitive expedition ordered by Commandant-general Louis
Botha and carried out by the Vryheid and Utrecht commandos under Field Cornet J. A. Potgeiter. The
settlement at Qulusini was destroyed and 1,000 sheep and goats and 3,800 cattle were taken. The
chief, Sikhobobo, informed the British magistrate at Vryheid that he was going to get the cattle back
and, early on 6 May, his impiassaulted the Boers on Zuinguin mountain, near Holkrantz, north of
Vryheid. Potgieter died together with fifty-five of his men. It was rumoured that he died of forty-five
assegai wounds.

Boer reaction to their defeat at the hands of their old enemies was twofold. First, it was taken as
an indication of the probable loss of control over the black Africans that continuing the war would
cause, and thus strengthened the hand of those advocating peace. Second, it caused bitter complaint
against the British who, the Boers thought, should have prevented unilateral action by the Zulu. An
enquiry conducted by Colonel G. A. Mills found that the Zulus in northern Natal, and the abaQulusi in
particular, had been raided repeatedly by the Boers, that their stock had been taken without payment
or receipts being given and that summary executions of black Africans had been carried out. He
reported: "The war has undoubtedly pressed very heavily on the Kaffirs [sic], as they have had to
practically feed the Boer commandos . . . many Zulu . . . are practically destitute of stock through no
fault of their own."

See also:
Zulu, The.

Reference:

Warwick, Peter, Black People and the South African War 1899—-1902 (Cambridge, Cambridge
University Press, 1983).

Hopetown

The diamond industry started with the discovery of a stone of 21.25 carats at Hopetown in 1867. The
town 1s on the southern bank of the Orange River in what was Cape Colony, north-west of the railway
crossing at Orange River Station. A concentration camp for whites was situated halfway between the
two at Doornbult.

See also:
Concentration Camps, White; Rhodes, Cecil.

Horses



The British lack of quick success against the Boers was in part the result of the Boers' superior
mobility, founded on their horsemanship and their skills as horse-masters. Attempts to match the
Boers were hampered by the breeding of the horses, their care and feeding and the way they were
used. The British made use of some 500,000 horses in the course of the war, of which two-thirds
died.

Boers, that 1s farmers, as opposed to city-dwellers who fought against the British, were used to
hunting game with horses. Their custom was to ride to the appropriate position, dismount and use
their rifles, leaving the horse unattended to forage for food. This was the approach adopted in the war
and is typical of mounted infantry,
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the face of such heavy fire power. However, although Kimberley was relieved, the cavalry was
reduced from 8,000 to 4,200 horses in that operation alone and suffered further losses in the
subsequent action to cut the Boers off at Paardeberg. As a result the British could not take the
opportunity to surround the mass of remaining Boers at Poplar Grove because the surviving horses
were capable of no more than a trot.

The use of the charge by mounted Boers was successful at Vlakfontein in May 1901 and Blood
River Poort in September 1901, but failed at Bakenlaagte in October and at Rooiwal in April 1902.

Although the cavalry in the First World War on the Western Front was to prove useless, the
great success of the Palestine campaign of 1917—18 demonstrated that the horse remained a force in
war longer than many care to admit.

See also:

Bakenlaagte, Battle of; Blood River Poort, Action at; Kimberley, Relief of; Paardeberg, Battle
of; Poplar Grove, Battle of; Rooiwal, Battle of; Vlakfontein, Battle of.

Reference:

Badsey, Stephen, "Mounted Combat in the Second Boer War", Sandhurst Journal of Military
Studies,Issue 2, 1991.

Howick

A town on the railway north of Pietermaritzburg, Natal, where there was a military hospital and a
concentration camp for whites.

Hunter, Lieutenant-General Sir Archibald,

18561936

Hunter saw service in Egypt between 1884 and 1886 and was intended to become Chief of Staff to
the British Commander-in-Chief, Sir Redvers Buller, but instead was besieged at Ladysmith. He led
the attack on Gun Hill on 7 December. After the relief of Ladysmith he was given command of the
10th Division with the local rank of Lieutenant-general. As the officer commanding in the eastern
Orange Free State, he accepted the surrender of Assistant Chief~-commandant Marthinus Prinsloo in
the Brandwater Basin in July 1900.

See also:



Brandwater Basin, Surrender at; Ladysmith, Siege of.

Reference:

Hall, Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer
War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999).

Hutton, Major-General E. T. H.

Hutton joined the King's Royal Rifles in 1867 when he was nineteen years old and served in Zululand
in 1879 and in the First Boer War. He commanded the Mounted Infantry at Aldershot from 1888-92
and then went to New South Wales in Australia to organise the military forces there. He became
General Officer Commanding the Canadian Dominion Militia in 1898. In March 1900 he
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Indian Ambulance Corps

Within South Africa, and particularly in Natal, there was a sizeable Indian population pressing for
political rights. With the encouragement and participation of an Indian lawyer, Mohandas Gandhi,
volunteers formed the Indian Ambulance Corps and performed outstanding service on the Tugela
River front.

On 16 October 1899 the Natal Indian Congress held a meeting at the Congress Hall, Durban.
Here Gandhi proposed that "it would be unbecoming to our dignity as a nation to look on with folded
hands at a time when ruin stared the British in the face as well as ourselves, simply because they ill-
treated us here". It was decided to offer their services to the British and Gandhi wrote to the Colonial
Secretary accordingly, pointing out that, while they were ignorant of the handling of weapons, "there
are other duties to be performed on the battlefield". The offer was accepted and, it was stated, would
be taken up should it prove necessary. Training
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was given by Dr Lancelot Parker Booth, superintendent of St Aidan's Mission Hospital, Durban.
The need for the Corps was not long in presenting itself. In December, with much of the Indian
Medical Service besieged in Ladysmith, the army asked the Natal government for help in raising a
volunteer Indian Ambulance Corps. Many of the men came from the sugar plantations and some were
refugees from Boer-held territory in the north. On 14 December 1899 some 600 bearers and twenty-
five leaders, Gandhi amongst them, arrived at Estcourt and went on to Chieveley the next day. They
had not even been able to set up their camp when, in the failing light, the wounded began to arrive
from the battle at Colenso. They set to work at once to carry men the five and a half miles (9km) from
the field hospital to the station hospital at Chieveley, working until midnight and starting again at six
o'clock the next morning.

The Corps was disbanded temporarily on 19 December, but kept in readiness to serve once
more in January. Now called the Indian Stretcher Bearers Corps, the 1,100 bearers and thirty leaders
arrived in Estcourt on 7 January and, two weeks later, moved to support the proposed action at
Spioenkop. They marched twentyfive miles (40km) from Frere to Spearman's Farm, the British base.
After the battle on 24 January the wounded had been brought down from the hill to a field hospital
north of the Tugela River and had to be brought south to Spearman's. Major Bapty was in charge and
explained that as the field hospital was within Boer shell-shot they were under no obligation to cross
the river. To a man they agreed to go. Once the wounded had been brought to Spearman's, those fit to
be taken were moved on to Frere and the Indian Stretcher Bearers Corps toiled back and forth across
the twenty-five miles.

Red Cross units arrived in South Africa soon after the relief of Ladysmith in February and on 15
April the Corps was disbanded. Buller mentioned the Corps in his despatches and the first Prime
Minister of Natal spoke in its praise. This gratitude did not, however, go as far as the repeal of
oppressive legislation or the granting of political rights. Like the black Africans, the Indians had no
reward from the British.

See also:
Colenso, Battle of; Gandhi, Mohandas Karamchand; Spioenkop, Battle of.
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Tichmann, Paul, "We are Sons of Empire after all", Soldiers of the Queen,no. 87, 1996; Treeves,
Frederick, The Tale of a Field Hospital (London, Cassell, 1900); Warwick, Peter, Black
People and the South African War 1899—1902 (Cambridge, Cambridge University Press,
1983).

Indian Participation

As a matter of policy the British government decided not to use Indian troops in South Africa in order



to avoid racial problems. They did bring medical units from India and also used men of the Indian
Transport Corps. About 1,000 men served as grooms and farriers in the Remount Section. Various
menial roles such as
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water-carrying, cooking and driving were also carried out by Indians. There was a population of
about 2,500 Indians in Ladysmith during the siege, some of whom ventured beyond the defence lines
after dark to cut fodder. Parbhoo Singh kept watch on the Boer Long Tom, the 155mm gun, on
Bulwana and gave a warning every time it fired at continuous risk to his own life. A memorial to the
Indians who participated in the war is in Observatory, Johannesburg,

See also:
Indian Ambulance Corps; Ladysmith, Siege of.
Reference:

Brain, J. B., "Indians and the South African War of 1899-1902", Africana Journal,no. 15, Pretoria,
1999; Hall, Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the
Anglo-Boer War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999).

Inspan

To harness up animals to a wagon. There was considerable skill involved in handling oxen and to
inspan them successfully required matching them for size and strength as well as harnessing them to
the transport.

Intelligence

Boer attention to intelligence was substantial. The Transvaal Intelligence Department had agents
throughout South Africa and spent twenty times more than the British on gathering information. British
troop movements were therefore known in detail to the Boers. British information, on the other hand,
was very poor at the outbreak of the war, partly because intelligence officers already in South Africa
became incarcerated in besieged towns. The Field Intelligence Department was set up to make good
the loss but did not produce sound information until the guerrilla phase of the war, when railway lines
and their attendant telegraph lines were secured by blockhouses.

By 1902 the British Field Intelligence Department had been re-organised by Colonel David
Hamilton and comprised 132 officers and 2,321 other ranks, plus an unknown number, certainly some
thousands, of black African men. The latter served under such local officers as Colonel Aubrey
Wools-Sampson who provided Colonel Sir Henry Rawlinson's column with a number of impressive
catches of Boers.

See also:
Africans, Black; Maps.
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Hall, Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer
War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999); Pakenham, Thomas, The Boer War
(London, Weidenfeld & Nicolson, 1979; Abacus, 1992).

Irish

Irishmen fought on both sides in the Boer War. Service in the army had long been a possible career
choice for an Irish boy, just as it was for English, Welsh and Scots youths. Some were driven by
poverty and the lack of a
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J
Jameson, Dr Leander Starr,

1853-1917

Starr Jameson was the administrator of the chartered British South Africa Company, the organisation
owned by Cecil Rhodes and Alfred Beit that ran the colony of Rhodesia (Zimbabwe). He led a
successful expedition against the Ndebele in 1893. He was captured on 2 January 1896 when the raid
he led to overthrow the government of President Kruger was defeated. He stood trial in London and
was convicted, but before the Boer War of 1899—-1902 broke out he had returned to Natal. During the
siege of Ladysmith he caught enteric (typhoid) fever, but recovered. He became Prime Minister of the
Cape in 1904 and served for four years in that post. He played a leading part in the South African
National Convention, 1908—09, alongside Louis Botha, and was made a baronet in 1911. During the
First World War he served in the Imperial War Cabinet alongside his former enemies.

See also:
Jameson Raid; Ladysmith, Seige of; Rhodes, Cecil.
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Jameson Raid,

29 December 1895-2 January 1896

The failure of the Jameson Raid to overthrow the Boer government in the Transvaal led to the
resignation of Cecil Rhodes from his position as Premier of Cape Colony but not to a solution to the
grievances of the new settlers that mineral wealth had brought to the republic. Indeed, the tentative
consensus of political views that had been forming was decisively shattered. Any confidence in
British good faith was destroyed. The raid did reveal the military weakness of the Transvaal and the
Orange Free State and initiated the substantial purchases of arms, artillery and ammunition that made
the Boers effective opponents three years later.



The exploitation of gold in South Africa brought droves of foreigners, uit/anders,to the
Transvaal. The gold, and the diamonds before that, made millionaires of Cecil Rhodes and Alfred
Beit and bestowed the power to create a new British colony, Rhodesia, now Zimbabwe, north of the
Transvaal, part of a longer-term dream to create a continuous British colony from the Cape to Cairo.
Rhodes added political power to his economic influence by
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becoming Premier of Cape Colony. The uitlanderswere thought to outnumber the Afrikaner
population of the Transvaal, or South African Republic as it had become, but they were denied
political rights until they had completed fourteen years' residence lest they took power. Rhodes and
Beit plotted the overthrow of the Boer government and planned an invasion to be supported by an
uprising in Johannesburg.

Rhodes and Beit owned the Chartered Company which administered and exploited Rhodesia,
and 1t was with some 400 mounted police, employees of that company, and a further 150 at Mafeking
in Cape Colony, all under Dr L. S. Jameson, that the invasion was to be carried out. They also had six
Maxim machineguns, two 7-pounder mountain guns and a 12-pounder field gun. Meanwhile the
Reform Committee in Johannesburg was intending to organise a local uprising to coincide with
Jameson's arrival. The committee sent secret signals to Jameson to say they were not ready, but
Jameson lost patience and set out on Sunday 29 December. Dawn on 2 January found them at
Doornkop, south-west of Johannesburg where they had been herded by bands of Boers they scarcely
saw. The uprising in the town had not taken place and the raiders were surrounded. They refused to
surrender and fought until at 8 a.m. they had lost sixteen men and forty-nine had been wounded. They
surrendered and all the messages that had passed between Jameson and Rhodes's headquarters in
Cape Town fell into Boer hands, together with the code-books. Rhodes's part in the affair became
public knowledge and he was forced to resign his political position.

See also:
Jameson, Dr L. S.; Rhodes, Cecil.

Reference:

Longford, Elizabeth, Jameson's Raid (London, Weidenfeld & Nicolson, 1982, 2nd edition);
Pakenham, Thomas, The Boer War (London, Weidenfeld |&I| Nicolson, 1979; Abacus, 1992);
Troup, Freda, South Africa: An Historical Introduction (London, Eyre Methuen, 1972).

Jammerbergdrif, Siege of,

9-24 April 1900

After his success at Mostertshoek, Chief-commandant Christiaan De Wet allowed his antipathy to
Afrikaners serving with the British to overcome his tactical judgement when he besieged a British
force at Jammerbergdrif, a ford across the Caledon River some four miles (6km) west of Wepener.
He abandoned the undertaking after two weeks, having achieved nothing of value and having exposed
his force to the danger of entrapment, nimbly avoided, near Thaba 'Nchu as he withdrew to the north.
The British forces at Wepener consisted of the Kaffrarian Rifles, 1st and 2nd Brabant's Horse,



the Cape Mounted Riflemen, Driscoll's Scouts and a company of the Royal Scots mounted infantry.
Under threat of attack the commander of the garrison, Major C. Maxwell, Royal Engineers, created a
defensive position using a ring of hills just west of the drift over
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the Caledon River on the Dewetsdorp road. On 4 April Commandant Banks demanded
Maxwell's surrender but was refused. The next day Lieutenant-colonel E. H. Dalgety arrived to take
command and moved the 1,800 men to the prepared positions. De Wet and his force of about 6,000
men did not arrive for another three days, allowing time for defences to be improved, and when the
first attack was launched, it failed. The Boers' seven 75mm guns and the Pom-Pom did the British real
damage, but not enough. Minor attacks and shelling were continuous and another major effort was
made on 21 April, but still Dalgety's men held. As relief drew near in the shape of the 8th Division
under Lieutenant-general Sir Leslie Rundle, De Wet raised the siege.

That De Wet was influenced by his hate of men he considered traitors seems very likely. He
wrote: "To tell the truth, there was not a man amongst us who would have asked better than to make
prisoners of the Cape Mounted Rifles and of Brabant's Horse. They were Afrikanders, and as
Afrikanders, although neither Orange Free Staters nor Transvaalers, they ought, in our opinion, to
have been ashamed to fight against us. The English, we admitted, had a perfect right to hire such
sweepings, and to use them against us, but we utterly despised them for allowing themselves to be
hired. . . Although I never took it amiss if a colonist of Natal or of Cape Colony was unwilling to fight
with us against England, yet I admit it vexed me greatly to think that some of these colonists, for the
sake of a paltry five shillings a day, should be ready to shoot down their fellow-countrymen."

See also:
Hands-uppers; Mostertshoek, Battle of; Thaba *Nchu.
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De Wet, Christiaan, Three Years War (London, Archibald Constable, 1902); Jones, Huw G. and
Meurig G. M. Jones, 4 Gazetteer of the Second Anglo-Boer War 1899—1902 (Milton Keynes,
The Military Press, 1999).

Johannesburg

In 1886 gold was discovered on the Witwatersrand, the range of hills west of Johannesburg and the
town prospered from the resultant wealth. Foreigners, uitlanders,flooded in and the fear of their
overwhelming the Afrikaner population became strong. President Kruger resisted all pleas to grant
the incomers the franchise, increasing the resentment that fuelled Cecil Rhodes's plot to oust Kruger's
government. The Jameson Raid of 1895-96 failed, and political divisions were exacerbated.

On the outbreak of war in October 1899 the town provided a commando under Commandant B.
J. Viljoen and one was also formed from the South African Republic Police (ZARP). The
uitlanders,on the other hand, left as quickly as possible for LourencCo Marques and took ship for
Durban to join the British. Walter Karri Davies and Aubrey Wools-Sampson, who had been
prominent members of the Reform Committee, left in this fashion and raised the Imperial Light Horse



in Pietermaritzburg from 500 selected uitlanders.
Early in 1900 a munitions factory, formerly an iron foundry requisitioned
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from its owner, one Mr Begbie, blew up with the loss of some thirty lives, an event witnessed by
Deneys Reitz. It was said to be the act of a British saboteur, but Reitz learned a quarter of a century
later that the former owner had had a Zulu servant working in the place. From him Begbie heard that
the Italian workers were careless, smoking cigarettes and throwing down the stubs, and he attributed
the explosion to that practice.

After the Battle of Doornkop on 29 May 1900 the British surrounded the town and Major F. J.
Davies, of the Grenadier Guards, went to demand surrender. Special Commandant F. E. T. Krause
and Volksraad member J. P. Meyer offered "unconditional surrender" on the condition that the armed
Boers were given time to leave. This was agreed and Lord Roberts entered Johannesburg the next
day. Later in the war a refugee or concentration camp for white people was set up on the racecourse.

See also:
Doornkop, Battle of; Pretoria.
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Joiners

After the capitals of the Orange Free State and the Transvaal had been taken by the British in 1900,
Lord Roberts offered terms to Boers for their surrender. They were required to yield up their arms
and to take an oath not to renew the fight. Men who did this and stood by their oath were known as
hands-uppers, and suffered the contempt of those who fought on. Hate was reserved for those who
enlisted with the British as active troops, the joiners.

Christiaan De Wet tells of his last conversation with his brother Piet, also a general, on 19 July
1900. Piet asked if Christiaan still saw any chance of being able to continue the struggle. "The
question made me very angry, and I did not try to hide the fact. 'Are you mad?' I shouted, and with that
[ turned on my heel and entered the house, quite unaware that Piet De Wet had at that very moment
mounted his horse, and ridden away to follow his own course." Piet subsequently served in the
Orange River Colony Volunteers, a British formation. Christiaan writes of this on page 170 of his
book, and in the remaining pages, up to 519, the only mention of Piet is in the index.

See also:
Cronj€, Vecht-general Andries P. J.; De Wet, Vecht-general Piet D.; Hands-uppers.
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Joubert, Commandant-General Petrus (Piet) Jacobus ,

1831-1900

Piet Joubert was an outstanding leader against the British in the First Boer War and led the invasion
of Natal in the Second. His health suffered and he was succeeded by Louis Botha.

Born in the Cape in 1831, Piet Joubert took part in the Great Trek at the age of seven. His family
were with Piet Retief's party heading for Natal. They subsequently moved to the Transvaal. Joubert
became known as "Slim Piet", meaning "cunning Piet". He became Commander-in-Chief of the
Transvaal forces in the First Boer War or the War for Freedom of 1880—81, a post he retained after
the war, putting him in a position to purchase large numbers of the obsolescent Martini-Henry rifle in
the 1890s. When the next war broke out he commanded the expedition into Natal, but his distaste for
giving clear orders or expressing a strong opinion led to a slackness of control that reduced the
effectiveness of his forces.

As the investment of Ladysmith developed Joubert was felt by his own people to be too
leisurely. Deneys Reitz reports seeing Christiaan De Wet on 30 October 1899 looking down on the
scene outside the town after the victory at Nicholson's Nek, as the British fell back into the town, and
muttering "Los jou ruiters. . ." —loose your horsemen. Joubert's retort to his critics was that if the
Lord extends a finger, do not take the whole hand. He was content with the victory as it stood. Joubert
went further south and was at Willow Grange on 23 November, but after that set-back decided they
should go no further. Shortly thereafter he suffered a fall from his horse and, injured and ill, returned
to Pretoria, leaving the young Louis Botha in command, a blessing for the Boers. Joubert died in
March 1900, soon after the defeat at Paardeberg, further depressing Boer morale. Before he died he
advised a change of strategy which led to the start of guerrilla warfare.

See also:
Guerrilla War; Ladysmith, Siege of; Lombards Kop, Battle of; Majuba, Battle of; Nicholson's
Nek, Battle of; Willow Grange, Battle of.
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Journalists



The presence of numerous, professional war correspondents in South Africa during the war was a
source of irritation to the British and, for the Boers, a means of broadcasting their defiance. Problems
of how the press should be treated and controlled vexed the British then much as the same problems
exercise armies today. The impact the journalists had on public opinion outside South Africa was
significant and the resulting political decisions important. The replacement of Sir Redvers Buller as
British Commander-in-Chief by Lord Roberts was largely the result of the
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Kaffir

A name used by the Boers, taken from the early Arab traders' word for an unbeliever, to designate a
black African person. It was adopted by other white people, including the British. It is now perceived
as being extremely derogatory, but it was not taken in that sense at the time of the Boer War and
contemporary documents should be read in this light.

Karri Davies, Major Walter,

1867-1926

Walter Karri Davies was an Australian, educated at Scotch College, Melbourne, resident in
Johannesburg at the time of the Jameson Raid, Cecil Rhodes's attempt to overthrow the Boer
government in December 1895. He traded in timber imported from Western Australia and took the
name of his import as part of his own name. Karri Davies became a member of the Reform Committee
which was set up to take over the administration and, together with Aubrey Wools-Sampson, was
arrested when the raid failed and sentenced to two years' imprisonment. They were released by
President Paul Kruger under an amnesty to celebrate Queen Victoria's Diamond Jubilee on 22 June
1897. On the outbreak of the Boer War in 1899 he, with Wools-Sampson, who was South African-
born, raised the Imperial Light Horse of 500 picked men in Pietermaritzburg. The regiment's strength,
drawn from uitlanders,was to rise to 1,500 men during the course of the war. He fought at
Elandslaagte in 1899 and at Wagon Hill in 1900. He was among the first to enter Mafeking when the
siege was raised and continued to serve, without pay or preferment, until the end of the war.

He became an adviser to Lord Milner after the war before returning to Australia. In 1915 he
offered to serve once more and, with the rank of Honorary Colonel in the British Army, headed a
liaison office in California, United States. He died in London on 28 November 1926.

See also:
Elandslaagte, Battle of; Ladysmith, Siege of; Mafeking, Siege of.
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Kekewich, Lieutenant-Colonel Robert George,

1854-1914

Robert Kekewich joined the British army in 1874 and served in the East Kent Regiment (the Buffs),
taking part in the Perak Expedition of 1874 and the Nile Expedition of 1885; he was also present at
Suakin in the Sudan in 1888. He was promoted as a major in the Inniskilling Fusiliers in 1890. He
became commander of the 1st Loyal North Lancashire Regiment in 1898. Under the directions of Sir
Alfred Milner he investigated the defensive potential of Kimberley in 1899 and, on reporting it as
negligible, was sent with half his battalion to set matters to rights. The work was scarcely complete,
with the mining waste heaps converted into redoubts and signalling systems established, when war
broke out and, on 14 October 1899, the town was besieged. Kekewich had to employ immense tact to
deal with the ill-founded criticism thrown at him by Cecil Rhodes in order to maintain good order
and military discipline within Kimberley and suffered unwarranted insults afterwards. He
subsequently distinguished himself further as a field commander, fighting off a determined attack
under Assistant Commandant-general Koos De la Rey and Vecht-generaal J. C. G. Kemp at Moedwil
on 30 September 1901 and inflicting a decisive defeat on the Boers at Rooiwal on 11 April 1902.
Here the Boers attempted a mounted charge, but the British were not taken by surprise and took cover
in a field of mealies (maize) to open a heavy fire which stopped the 1,500 Boer attackers in their
tracks. Commandant F. J. Potgieter fell a mere seventy-five yards (70m) from the British line together
with fifty of his comrades.

By the end of the war Kekewich had been promoted to major-general. When, in 1914, his failing
health forced his retirement, he took his own life.

See also:
Kimberley, Siege of; Rooiwal, Battle of.
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Kelly-Kenny, Lieutenant-General Thomas,

1840-1914

Thomas Kelly-Kenny commanded the British 6th Division under Lord Roberts and, when Roberts
was 111, was the senior officer present when the Boers were surrounded at Paardeberg. Roberts's
second-in-command, Lord Kitchener, technically Kelly-Kenny's junior, over-ruled the siege approach
proposed by the more experienced general and considerable losses were sustained before Roberts
recovered and resumed command.

Kelly-Kenny joined the 2nd Foot, later the Queen's Royal Regiment, in 1858 and served in China
in 1860. He commanded a division of the Transport Train in the Abyssinian campaign of 1867—-68.
He was appointed Inspector-general of Auxiliary Forces and Recruiting in 1897. In addition to
Paardeberg, where Roberts adopted the tactics he had advocated, Kelly-Kenny was at the Battle of
Driefontein. When the advance from Bloemfontein began, Kelly-Kenny was left behind as General
Officer Commanding Orange River Colony, as it had then become.

See also:
Driefontein, Battle of; Paardeberg, Battle of.
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Khaki

The colour of British active foreign service uniforms, as ordered in 1896. Khaki was also the word
used by the Boers to refer to British soldiers. Khaki uniforms were first worn by the British in battle
in northern India at Sangao (now in Pakistan) on 11 December 1849, having been introduced into the
Indian Corps of Guides the previous year by Lieutenants H. Lumsden and W. S. R. Hodson. Khaki
uniforms were first worn generally in the Sudan Campaign of 1898.
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Khoikhoi, The

Known to Europeans as Hottentots, the Khoikhoi were indigenous to south-west Africa, the area that
became known as the Cape. White colonisation and settlement led to their destruction and
disappearance.

The assertion, often made, that South Africa was an empty land when the white man arrived is
evident nonsense. The purpose of the establishment of a staging point for ships of the Dutch East India
Company at the Cape of Good Hope was to acquire supplies of vegetables and cattle, the latter to be
purchased from local black Africans already residing there. The Khoikhoi were hunters and herdsmen
of fat-tailed sheep and longhorn cattle. By and large they lived in peace with neighbouring San and

Nguni peoples.
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The impact of the arrival of the Dutch in 1652 was not immediately to their disadvantage. A
famous Dutch hunter, van Meerhof, married a Christian Khoikhoi woman called Eva in the early days
of the new colony, and trade for meat and vegetables was, for a time, to the Africans' advantage.
Soon, however, the colony spread and intensive land use exhausted the pastures upon which the
Khoikhoi economy depended. The Dutch ploughed up what appeared to them empty land, or land
which they did not even consider might belong to someone else, and more pasture disappeared. In the
1660s the matter came to blows and the Khoikhoi lost the ensuing war. Jan van Riebeeck eventually
told them that they had lost their land and it now passed to the Dutch by right of conquest. A second
war from 1673—77 ended in the same way. An epidemic of fever in 1687 and of smallpox in 1713
completed the process. The survivors, their economic and social structures destroyed, became
servants and farm-workers. Their descendants are seen today in the Cape coloured population.

See also:
Africans, Black; Nguni People; San, The; Zulu, The.
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Kimberley, Siege of,

14 October 1899-15 February 1900

The siege of Kimberley lasted for four months. For most of the time the white inhabitants did not
suffer greatly as there was adequate food and water and the defences commanded by Lieutenant-
colonel Kekewich kept the Boers at a distance, content as they were to sit the British out and indulge
in a little shelling. The principal problem was within; Cecil Rhodes, whose commercial interests
were a partial cause of the war, attempted to have matters run his own way and even went as far as
implying that he would surrender the town to the Boers if the British did not make haste to relieve it.
Instead of advancing immediately on Bloemfontein, Lord Roberts sent Lieutenant-general Sir John
French to the relief with his cavalry division. The damage done to the cavalry as a result of their wild
ride was severe and proved a serious handicap to future operations. Of the white defenders of
Kimberley nine civilians and forty-two officers and men of the army had died. Of the black
population 483 people died, the majority of them children who succumbed to starvation and disease.
In 1899, as the threat of war grew greater, Sir Alfred Milner, Governor of Cape Colony, became
concerned for the safety of the diamond-mining centre of Kimberley and sent Lieutenant-colonel
Robert Kekewich to investigate. The verdict was that it was vulnerable in the extreme, so Kekewich
and half of his regiment, the 1st Loyal North Lancashires, were posted there to rectify matters. On 14



October, three days after the outbreak of war, the town was besieged by the Boers, with Cecil
Rhodes, the mining magnate, caught there as well. The defenders numbered 596 regular soldiers, 352
Cape Police and 5,500
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Kimberley, Relief of,

10-15 February 1900

The presence of Cecil Rhodes in Kimberley and his threat to yield up the town to the Boers forced
Lord Roberts to give the town's relief a greater importance than it deserved in strategic terms. The
dramatic and much admired cavalry operation that cut through Boer lines to achieve the relief caused
irreparable damage to the strength of the cavalry.

After the failure of Lord Methuen's attempt to relieve Kimberley and the other setbacks of
"Black Week", Lord Roberts was appointed Commander-in-Chief. He arrived in South Africa with
considerable reinforcements and got to Modder River Station on 10 February. While the Boers under
Commandant-general Piet Cronjé were distracted with actions such as that at Koedoesberg Drift, the
cavalry, under Lieutenant-general Sir John French, made a wide flanking march to cross the Riet
River to the southeast. At Waterval Drift Christiaan De Wet was deceived into thinking he faced a
much stronger force and withdrew while French pushed on north towards the Modder River at
Rondavel and Klip Drift. A feint to the east kept Commandant J. Lubbe's commando at Klip Kraal
Drift. Lieutenant-general Thomas Kelly-Kenny's 6th Division, with a remarkable forced march, came
up with French on the night of 14/15 February and French made for Kimberley the next day, brushing
aside a feeble attempt by the Boers to stop him. The horses were watered at Abon's Dam and rushed
onwards, slowing as they went, and increasing numbers collapsed. The force entered Kimberley at 6
p.m. on 15 February. When called upon to move to Paardeberg two days later, French could muster
only 1,500 of the 5,000 horses with which he began this operation.

See also:
Horses; Kimberley, Siege of; Paardeberg, Battle of; Waterval Drift, Action at.
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1999); Pakenham, Thomas, The Boer War (London, Weidenfeld & Nicolson, 1979; Abacus,
1992).

Kitchener, Major-General Frederick W.



Lord Kitchener's younger brother Frederick joined the West Yorkshire Regiment in 1876 at the age of
eighteen and served under Lord Roberts in the Afghan War of 1878—80. He served in Egypt and the
Sudan and became Governor of Khartoum in 1898. He commanded the 7th Brigade of the 4th
Division in the relief of Ladysmith, having succeeded Major-general A. S. Wynne. He fought at the
Battle of Bergendal and in the Lydenburg district. He was active in the

¥

i



Page 139

Transvaal during the guerrilla phase of the war and returned to England in November 1901.

See also:
Bergendal, Battle of; Kitchener, General the Rt Hon. Viscount, of Khartoum; Ladysmith, Siege

Tugela Heights, Battle of.

Kitchener, General The Rt Hon. Viscount, of Khartoum,

1850-1916

A man of enormous energy and little sensitivity, Herbert Horatio Kitchener is most widely
remembered as a relentless persecutor of Boer women and children and as the builder of the endless
lines of blockhouses intended to entrap Boer commandos. Although there are elements of truth in this,
it 1s too narrow a description to be satisfactory.

Kitchener joined the Royal Engineers in 1871. He worked on the surveys of Palestine (1874-78)
and Cyprus (1878-82) before becoming commander of the Egyptian Cavalry. He took part in the
attempt to rescue General Gordon from Khartoum. He became Sirdar (commander-in-chief) of the
Anglo-Egyptian army in 1892 and fought a number of actions intended to re-establish British
supremacy. His tactics in the field were unimaginative, but he made skilful use of modern technology
such as the telegraph and the railway.

When confidence in Sir Redvers Buller as Commander-in-Chief in South Africa faded in
December 1899 there were those who advocated Kitchener as his successor. However, Lord Roberts
was preferred, and any doubts about his suitability on the grounds of his age were overcome by
appointing the relatively young Kitchener as his Chief of Staff. Kitchener behaved more as a second-
in-command and was often away from headquarters. When Assistant Commandant-general Piet
Cronjé's army was surrounded at Paardeberg on the way to Bloemfontein, Roberts was 11l and
Kitchener assumed command. His field tactics were as unsophisticated as ever, and he ordered
repeated attacks against the skilled riflemen which were far more costly in terms of British casualties
than Buller's or Methuen's supposed mistakes had been. Fortunately Roberts soon recovered.
Kitchener was responsible for a major reorganisation of transport arrangements early in 1900. This




Page 140

might have been sensible in theory, but it failed in practice and for reasons he might have
foreseen if he had understood people better and been prepared to listen to others.

When Roberts returned to Britain in December 1900, supposing the war to be at an end,
Kitchener became Commander-in-Chief. He was energetic in devising drives or sweeps to round up
guerrilla bands of Boers but enjoyed small success at the outset. He developed Roberts's policy of
farm burning to deny the Boers supplies and, somewhat casually, thought the women and children
remaining should be looked after as refugees, though he took little interest in how that was to be done.
This lack of attention to a non-military issue led directly to the suffering in the concentration camps
but was an error of neglect rather than a calculated policy of cruelty. The responsibility rests,
nonetheless, with him. The public outcry against the camps led to an abandonment of the policy of
putting newly evicted Boers in camps and the burden of caring for them fell instead on their families,
eventually a factor in the Boers' surrender.

In order to create catchment areas to entrap the Boers Kitchener had a system of blockhouses and
barbed wire fences erected throughout the land. His methods, carried out with soulless determination,
reduced his enemies to poverty, despair and capitulation. In the peace negotiations he was equally
practical. Unmoved by thoughts of revenge, imperialism or economic and political domination, he
foresaw that reconciliation was needed if the land was to be occupied in peacetime by formerly
warring peoples. Unfortunately, like most men of his time, this liberalism did not extend to black
Africans and although Kitchener's flexibility promoted the peace agreement, it also helped to lay the
foundations of the colour bar which would later develop into apartheid.

Kitchener became Secretary of State for War in 1914 and foresaw that the fight against Germany
would be long and hard. He therefore launched a recruiting campaign whose success was vital in the
outcome of the war. He was drowned when the cruiser HMS Hampshirestruck a mine off the Orkneys
on 5 June 1916.

See also:
Blockhouses; Concentration Camps; Drives; Paardeberg, Battle of.
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Klerksdorp Conference,

9 April 1902



In an effort to promote the acceptance of defeat amongst the Boers and hasten fruitful peace talks, the
British facilitated the holding of a conference in Klerksdorp, a town in the South African Republic
(ZAR or Transvaal) south-west of Potchefstroom. Among those attending were Acting President
Shalk Burger of the ZAR, President Marthinus Steyn of the Orange Free
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State, and the military leaders Louis Botha, Barry Hertzog, Koos De la Rey and Christiaan De
Wet. They were informed by the British Commander-in-Chief, Lord Kitchener, of the correspondence
that had passed between the King of England and the Queen of the Netherlands about bringing the
warring parties together and, after two days' discussion, wrote to Kitchener to ask for a meeting at
which they could bring forward proposals. The meeting took place on 12 April in Pretoria.

See also:
Peace Negotiations.

Reference:
De Wet, Christiaan, Three Years War (London, Archibald Constable, 1902).

Kloof

A ravine.

Kock, Assistant Commandant-General J. H. M.,

1835-99

As a boy Kock was with his father when the Boers fought the British first at Zwartkopjes in April
1843 and then at Boomplats in September 1848. He became Landdrost (district magistrate) of
Potchefstroom in 1874 and a member of the Executive Council of the South African Republic
(Transvaal) in 1892. He led the Johannesburg Commando and the German Corps into Natal in 1899.
He allowed his forces to take the village of Elandslaagte rather than holding the hills and was
attacked and defeated there on 21 October. He was mortally wounded while leading a last attack on
the British.

See also:
Elandslaagte, Battle of.
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War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999); Knight, lan, Warrior Chiefs of
Southern Africa (Poole, Firebird, 1994).



Koedoesberg Drift, Battle of,

5-8 February 1900

The failure of Lord Methuen's attempt to relieve Kimberley, culminating in the British defeat at the
Battle of Magersfontein on 11 December 1899, and taken together with the other failures of so-called
"Black Week", led to the replacement of Sir Redvers Buller as Commander-in-Chief by General Lord
Roberts. Roberts arrived at Modder River Station in the second week of February 1900 with
substantial reinforcements. In order to distract the Boers from his true intentions — to move to the east
— he sent the Highland Brigade, now under General Hector MacDonald, along the Riet River
westwards to Koedoesberg Drift, near the Kimberley/Douglas road. Vecht-generaal Piet Cronjé sent
Christiaan De Wet with only 350 men to counter the move. An inconclusive fight to contest
occupation of the nearby hill went on for three days before both sides withdrew. On the British side
Lieutenant Freddie Tait, a champion golfer, was killed.
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See also:
Magersfontein, Battle of.

Reference:

De Wet, Christiaan, Three Years War (London, Archibald Constable, 1902); Marix Evans, Martin,
The Boer War: South Africa 1899-1902 (Oxford, Osprey Publishing, 1999).

Komatipoort

A railway station on the Delagoa Bay railway line close to the border with Portuguese East Africa
(Mozambique). The retreat of the Boers from the British culminated at Komatipoort on 11 September
1900 when President Paul Kruger left his country. Lieutenant-general R. Pole-Carew led the British
into the Komatipoort unopposed on 24 September, capturing some thirty locomotives and 1,500 trucks
full of supplies.

See also:
Bergendal, Battle of; Railway System.
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Jones, Huw M. and Meurig G. M. Jones, A Gazetteer of the Second Anglo-Boer War 1899—1902
(Milton Keynes, The Military Press, 1999).

Koornspruit, Battle of
See Sannaspos, Battle of.
Kop, Kopje

Literally a 'head', the term kop means a hill, typically but not Literally a 'head', the term kop means a
hill, typically but not exclusively the mesa or flat-topped hills found in the Orange Free State and
Transvaal veldt terrain. The diminutive, kopje or koppie, is used of a small hill.

Kraaipan, Action at,



12—-13 October 1899

The small garrison at the station on the Vryburg to Mafeking railway was withdrawn by Colonel
Robert Baden-Powell on 11 October, the day on which the Boer ultimatum ran out. The next day
Vecht-general Koos De la Rey arrived from the east with the Lichtenburg Commando, taking the
station and putting the railway out of commission. On 13 October the first action of the war took place
when De la Rey overcame an armoured train that arrived with twenty-six men of the Mashonaland
Police under Lieutenant R. C. Nesbitt taking two 7-pounder guns up to Mafeking.

See also:
Mafeking, Siege of.

Reference:
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Kraal

Either a cattle enclosure or a black African village.

Krantz

A valley.
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Krijgsraad

The 'all-burghers-are-equal' philosophy which underlay the operation of a commando inspired the
consultative meeting of the krijgsraad or kriegsraad, meaning 'council of war'. Tactics for a
forthcoming engagement were discussed and agreed, and those who did not agree might refrain from
taking part in the fight.

See also:
Boer Forces; Boer Forces, Discipline.

Kripvreter

A stall-fed horse as opposed to one that foraged on the veldt. The term was also applied to men, such
as Deneys Reitz, who had a supposedly privileged position on the staff of a Boer commander.

Reference:

Reitz, Deneys, Commando (London, Faber & Faber, 1929; Prescott, Arizona, Wolfe Publishing,
1994).

Kritzinger, Assistant Chief-Commandant P. H.,

1870-1935

Kritzinger was one of the most effective Boer leaders during the guerrilla phase of the war, operating
in Cape Colony with far more success than the much admired Christiaan De Wet.

Kritzinger joined the Rouxville Commando at the outbreak of the war. With Gideon Scheepers
he entered the Cape in December 1900 and caused considerable disturbance. After operating with De
Wet in the Orange Free State he was promoted and led another raid into the Cape in April 1901. His
third foray ended when he was wounded and in March 1902 the British put him on trial on four
charges of murder and one for damaging the railway, but he was found not guilty. In 1929 he became a
member of the Cape Provincial Council.

See also:
Cape Colony, Invasions of.
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Kroonstad, Council at

Kroonstad is a town in the northern Orange Free State to which the state government moved on 11
March 1900 after the British occupied Bloemfontein. A krijgsraad, or council of war, was held here
on 17 March at which President Marthinus Steyn and President Paul Kruger of the South African
Republic (Transvaal) were present. It was decided to continue the war but by new means. Piet
Joubert's proposal that wagon laagers were no longer relevant and that mobile warfare on horseback
should be adopted found favour. The town was surrendered to the advancing British on 12 May.

See also:
Bloemfontein, Advance from; Guerrilla War.
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Kruger, S. J. Paulus (Paul),

1825-1904

Paul Kruger was President of the South African Republic (Transvaal) in the years preceding the war
of 1899-1902. He feared that granting the vote to the uit/anderswould bring about foreign domination
of his country and was convinced that the British were bent on annexation, which was not far from the
truth. He had hopes that a pre-emptive strike would give the Boers victory in 1899, as it had in 1881.
However, he was forced to flee the country in 1900 and went to Europe to seek support, where he
found only empty words and no promise of action.

As a boy Kruger took part in the Great Trek and was present at the Battle of Vechtkop when,
under Henrdik Potgieter on 16 October 1836, the Boers fought the Ndebele. He attended the Sand
River Convention in 1852. In 1862 he helped quell an uprising of his fellow Boers in the Transvaal,
became involved in politics once more after the annexation of the Transvaal in 1877 and was one of
the governing Triumvirate during the First Boer War. In 1883 he was elected President of the South
African Republic (ZAR), a post to which he was reelected on a further three occasions.

When the pressure of the incomers flocking to the gold mines led to an attempted coup, which the
Jameson Raid was intended to spark, Kruger made good use of the political advantage offered to him
and while the tax
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revenues from the uitlanderstunded massive armament imports, diplomatic foot-dragging kept
the rights of the uitlandersunchanged. He was unable to find accommodation with either British
imperial ambition or the business and economic environment which had funded his arms buying.
Whereas President Marthinus Steyn of the Orange Free State still thought a modus vivendi could be
worked out with the British, Kruger saw nothing but a British determination to annex his country for a
second time. The inflexibility of his position was demonstrated when he issued an ultimatum to the
British which it was actually impossible for them to satisfy, and war ensued.

On 11 September 1900 he was finally forced to leave the country, having retreated before the
advancing British to the border with Mozambique. He sailed for Europe on the Dutch warship
Gelderlandand landed at Marseille on 22 November 1900. His reception in Paris was courteous but
unhelpful and a plan to go to Berlin was dropped when that received a frosty reception and he went to
the Netherlands instead. The countries that had been so vocal in their support for the Boers proved to
be of no practical assistance. He remained in the Netherlands until the end of the war, when he moved
to Switzerland where he died.

See also:
Steyn, President Marthinus.
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Kuruman, Siege of,

November 1899—January 1900

The garrison at Kuruman, about eighty-five miles (140km) south-west of Vryburg in the north of Cape
Colony, was ordered back to Kimberley on the outbreak of war but was unable to comply. Although a
relatively minor affair, their surrender soon after the disasters of "Black Week" — the defeats at
Colenso, Magersfontein and Stormberg — added to British woes.

There were thirty-five Cape Police under Captain A. Bates stationed at Kuruman in October
1899, to which Bates was able to add some ninety volunteers. A week-long siege in November by
about 200 Boers was fruitless but the siege resumed when more than twice that number of Boers
surrounded the town on 5 December. On 30 December the Boers brought a 7-pounder gun into action
and the garrison was forced to surrender on New Year's Day. The British retook Kuruman on 24 June



1900.

See also:
Kimberley, Siege of; Ladysmith, Siege of; Mafeking, Siege of.
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L

Laager

A camp. On the Great Trek a laager denoted a circle of wagons formed as a means of defence and
during the war of 1899-1902 the term laager was applied to a fortified camp with stone walls.

Laagte

A slope or shallow valley.
Labram, George Frederick,

1862-1900

George Labram, an American citizen, was born in Detroit, Michigan, United States. He became Chief
Engineer with the De Beers company in Kimberley in 1896, three years after his arrival in South
Africa. When the town was besieged on 14 October 1899 he turned his talents to solving problems
associated with war.

The water supply for the town was
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secured by pumping out the diamond mines and a position of vantage was made for Lieutenant-
colonel Robert Kekewich by making a conningtower (a commander's look-out point) out of the mine-
shaft winding gear. Labram then started making shells for the 7-pounder guns in the De Beers
workshops. His crowning achievement was the design and construction of "Long Cecil". The Boer
75mm gunfire had been causing a good deal of discomfort and danger, but the little 7-pounders
available to the British were too small to strike back. Labram therefore made a 4-inch gun and the
ammunition to fire from it. The range it attained was said to be 8,000 yards (7,300m). The Boer
reaction was to bring the Long Tom that had been damaged at Ladysmith, now repaired with a
shortened barrel and nick-named "The Jew", with which to counter the fire of Long Cecil. On the
evening of 9 February 1900 George Labram was changing for dinner in his hotel room when he was
killed by a Long Tom shell.

See also:
Artillery, Boer; Kimberley, Siege of.
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Labuschagnes Nek, Battle of,

4-5 March 1900

The road from Dordrecht northwards to Jamestown and thence to Aliwal North runs through a pass
called Labuschagnes Nek, through which Brigadier-general E. Y. Brabant attempted to cut off the
retreating Boer Commandant J. H. Olivier and his men in March 1900. The pass was held by some
1,200 Boers who had built a laager there and who held out for almost three days, permitting Olivier
to recross the Orange River into the Orange Free State.

See also:
Cape Colony, Invasions of.
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Ladybrand

Ladybrand overlooks the valley of the Caledon River on the eastern border of the Orange Free State.
It was garrisoned by the 2nd Worcesters on 21 July 1900 and besieged briefly at the end of August by
some 3,000 Boers under Commandant P. J. Fourie. A column under Lieutenant-colonel W. L. White
forced them to withdraw when it seized the Platberg, a hill dominating the town.

See also:
Brandwater Basin, Surrender at.
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Lady Grey

A small town in Cape Colony close to the border with the Orange Free State and east of Aliwal
North, Lady Grey was invaded by Boers under Commandant J. H. Olivier in November 1899. They
were opposed by the postmistress, Mrs Sarah Gluck, an Englishwoman who threw them off her
premises. When they hoisted their flag outside, she hauled i1t down and went on to rip up their posters
announcing the terms of their occupation. In spite of this some citizens joined Olivier, and the Boers
stayed until early January 1900. On resuming her duties Mrs Gluck received an enhanced salary. The
town was garrisoned by the British on 11 September 1901 when Major Lord Lovat brought a gun and
a squadron of Lovat's Scouts to protect it from attack by the commando of Assistant Commandant-
general Jan Smuts.

See also:
Cape Colony, Invasions of.
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Ladysmith

The Boer siege of Ladysmith upset the British strategy for the war. Sir Redvers Buller, the British
Commander-in-Chief at that time, had intended to
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(Milton Keynes, The Military Press, 1999); Chisholm, Ruari, Ladysmith (London, Osprey
Publishing, 1979); Griffith, Kenneth, Thank God We Kept the Flag Flying (London and New York,
Viking Press, 1974); Marix Evans, Martin, The Boer War: South Africa 1899-1902 (Oxford, Osprey
Publishing, 1999); Pakenham, Thomas, The Boer War (London, Weidenfeld & Nicolson, 1979;
Abacus, 1992); Sheen, C. C., "The Naval Brigade in Ladysmith" in Naval Brigades in the South
African War 1899—1900 (London, 1901; The London Stamp Exchange Ltd., no date).

Lang Reit

On 28 February 1902, at the end of a sweep in the south-eastern Transvaal, Lieutenant-general Lord
Kitchener rode out from the railway station at Albertina, between Harrismith and Ladysmith, to meet
Colonel Sir Henry Rawlinson and Lieutenant-colonel C. J. Briggs who had surrounded a laager at
Lang Reit the previous day. They had captured 778 burghers, 25,000 cattle, 2,000 horses and 200
wagons in the operation.

See also:
Blockhouses; Sweeps.
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Langs Nek

Often written as Laing's Nek, Langs Nek, a pass on the borders of Natal and the Transvaal, was the
scene of a key engagement in the First Boer War and was expected by the Boers to be of crucial
importance in the Second. In the event no engagement took place here as the British, under Sir
Redvers Buller, outflanked the Boer position with an attack on Botha's Pass and Alleman Nek in June
1900.

Langs Nek is a pass in the Drakensberg range through which the road between the South African
Republic (the Transvaal) and the British colony of Natal runs. The railway line also goes this way,
through a tunnel. On 28 January 1881 a British force consisting largely of the 58th Regiment (later the
2nd Northamptonshire) and the 3/60th Rifles carried out an attack on the Boer positions at Langs Nek
and were repulsed. It was the last occasion on which regimental colours, those of the 58th, were
carried into battle by a British formation.



After the relief of Ladysmith in February 1900, the British advanced northwards and the Boers
planned to hold them at Langs Nek, the place where they had enjoyed outstanding success in 1881.
The pass was under the command of Assistant Commandant-general C. Botha, brother to Louis Botha.
General Buller met Botha on 2 June to discuss possible peace terms, and a three-day armistice was
observed. However, the overtures came to nothing. Buller kept the Boers on the defensive there with
artillery fire and an infantry division to create the impression of an impending
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assault but, at the same time, bombarded and took first Botha's Pass to the west and then Alleman
Nek, threatening to take Langs Nek from the Boer rear. The Boers were thus forced to abandon their
position on 11 June 1900, having first blown up the entrance to the railway tunnel. It was reopened on
18 June.

See also:
Alleman Nek, Action at; Botha's Pass, Action at; Maps.
Reference:
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Lansdowne, Marquis of,

1845-1927

Lord Lansdowne was Secretary of State for War from 1895 to October 1900. Formerly Viceroy of
India, he was associated with the Indian faction of the British Army and thus favoured Lord Roberts
and his associates over the African faction represented by Field Marshal Lord Wolseley. The
existence of these rival factions in the army, and the association of the Secretary of State with one of
them, prevented objective management of the war in London.

Lansdowne's major contribution to the development of the army was the establishment of the
Royal Army Medical Corps in 1898 and he was also involved with the formation of the Central
British Red Cross Committee in January 1899. He was constrained to appoint Sir Redvers Buller as
Commander-in-Chief in South Africa, but then failed to include him in discussions and planning. The
post of Commander-in-Chief was, at that time, not clearly defined in its duties and powers, and
Lansdowne continued to act without proper consultation. For example, he appointed Lieutenant-
general Sir Charles Warren, a man with whom Buller was known to be at odds, to serve under him
and to be marked as Buller's successor should it be necessary. Lansdowne became Foreign Secretary
in 1900 and, in January 1902, rejected offers of mediation in the war by the Netherlands. He served
in the government in the First World War.

See also:
Buller, Sir Redvers; Warren, Sir Charles.
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Le Gallais, Lieutenant-Colonel P. W. J.,

1861-1900

Philip Le Gallais was born in Jersey, the Channel Islands, and joined the 8th (King's Royal Irish)
Hussars in 1881. When the Mounted Infantry Division was formed at Bloemfontein,
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he was appointed Assistant-Adjutant-general to Lieutenant-general Ian Hamilton and was later
given command of a mounted infantry column in the hunt for Christiaan De Wet. He nearly caught De
Wet and President Steyn at Bothaville on 6 November 1900, when the Boers were taken entirely by
surprise. Le Gallais himself was killed in the engagement. De Wet said his adversary was "without
doubt one of the bravest English officers I have ever met".

See also:
Bothaville, Action at.

Reference:

De Wet, Christiaan, Three Years War (London, Archibald Constable, 1902; Wilson, H. W., With the
Flag to Pretoria (London, Harmsworth Brothers, 1900).

Leliefontein, Action at,

6—7 November 1900

In an attempt to secure control of the country south of the Delagoa Bay railway line east of Pretoria in
November 1900, a British column under Major-general Smith-Dorrien moved towards Carolina and
attacked the Boers on the Komati (Nkhomati) River. A Boer counter-attack the next day forced Smith-
Dorrien to make a fighting withdrawal, which was successful because of the courage of his Canadian
troops.

After the last set-piece battle at Bergendal on 27 August 1900 the Boer forces scattered to form
roving bands and the guerrilla phase of the war began in earnest. British tactics at first involved the
use of cumbersome columns of infantry, artillery and mounted infantry, in this instance the Gordon
Highlanders and the Shropshire Light infantry as well as the Royal Canadian Dragoons, Canadian
Mounted Rifles and two guns of the Royal Canadian Artillery. The capture of the Boer positions at
Leliefontein was costly and Smith-Dorrien, aware of his vulnerability to counter-attack, decided to
withdraw. As he did so the Boers attempted to envelop his flanks. The guns of D Battery, Royal
Canadian Artillery, withdrew turn and turn about, each holding the Boers off while the other, together
with the column, pulled back. These guns, and a Colt machine-gun, kept the Boers at bay. Lieutenants
Cockburn and Turner and Sergeant Holland of the Canadian Dragoons were awarded Victoria
Crosses. On the Boer side Assistant Commandant-general J. C. Fourie and Commandant H. F.
Prinsloo were killed. The action demonstrated that the traditional British column was woefully
vulnerable to mobile Boers.

See also:
Bergendal, Battle of; Drives.




Reference:

Jones, Huw M. and Meurig G. M. Jones, A Gazetteer of the Second Anglo-Boer War 1899—1902
(Milton Keynes, The Military Press, 1999); Marix Evans, Martin, The Boer War: South Africa
1899-1902 (Oxford, Osprey Publishing, 1999); Reid, Brian A., Our Little Army in the Field:
The Canadians in South Africa 1899—1902 (St Catharines Ontario, Vanwell, 1996).

Crrey )



Page 154

Leliefontein, Massacre at,

March 1902

The Methodist mission at Leliefontein, in Namaqualand in the northwestern Cape, was the location of
a black African settlement. Between twenty and thirty of the inhabitants were slaughtered when the
township was sacked by Senior Commandant S. G. (Manie) Maritz and his men.

Deneys Reitz came upon the scene soon after. He wrote: "We found the place sacked and gutted,
and, among the rocks beyond the burned houses, lay twenty or thirty dead Hottentots, still clutching
their antiquated muzzleloaders. This was Maritz's handiwork. He had ridden into the station with a
few men, to interview the European missionaries, when he was set upon by armed Hottentots, he and
his escort narrowly escaping with their lives. To avenge the insult, he returned next morning with a
stronger force and wiped out the settlement, which seemed to many of us a ruthless and unjustifiable
act. General Smuts said nothing, but I saw him walk past the boulders where the dead lay, and on his
return he was moody and curt, as was his custom when displeased."

See also:
Cape Colony, Invasions of.
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Jackson, Tabitha, The Boer War (London, Macmillan, 1999); Reitz, Deneys, Commando (London,
Faber & Faber, 1929; Prescott, Arizona, Wolfe Publishing, 1994); Warwick, Peter, Black
People and the South African War 1899-1902 (Cambridge, Cambridge University Press,
1983).

Lindley, Battle of,

31 May 1900

The town of Lindley, located between Bethlehem and Kroonstadt in the Orange Free State, provided a
commando for the Boer forces while resident Englishmen, such as Charlie Moses, took an oath of
neutrality and were allowed to remain. Moses reports that when Christiaan De Wet was collecting
men on 19 March 1900, he threatened to shoot any man who refused to be commandeered for service
and to deal similarly with any British neutral who spoke against the Boers. The town was taken on 17
May by Major-general R. G. Broadwood's 2nd Cavalry Brigade, but was left undefended when he



moved on three days later. It changed hands several times during the course of the war. On 27 May
the 13th (Irish) Imperial Yeomanry entered the town but soon retired to take positions on kopjes to the
north-west.

Instead of retreating to Kroonstadt, Lieutenant-colonel Basil Spragge decided to stay at Lindley
and sent messages to Lieutenant-general Sir Henry Colvile at Kroonstadt and to Lieutenant-general
Sir Leslie Rundle at Senekal for relief. The former continued his advance on Heilbron and the latter
undertook a diversionary action at Biddulphsberg. Spragge's unit had been raised by Lord
Donoughmore and was officered by titled volunteers from Ireland; Lords Longford, Ennismore and
Leitrim were among them, an extreme example of the landed gentry rallying to their country's cause.
There Vecht-general Piet De
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Wet caught them, fought them and overcame them. Eighty men from the Yeomanry were killed or
wounded before they surrendered. The site of the battle is known as Yeomanry Hill.

The town was garrisoned by Major-general A. H. Paget on 5 June and Piet De Wet layed siege
to it. The Boer force was changed and relieved a number of times, but they gave up by the end of the
month. During the guerrilla phase of the war the town was a British centre of operations.

See also:
Biddulphsberg, Battle of.
Reference:

Jones, Huw G. and Meurig G. M. Jones, 4 Gazetteer of the Anglo-Boer War 1899—1902 (Milton
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Nicolson, 1979; Abacus, 1992); Smith, [ain R. and Franzjohan Pretorius, Eds., "The Diary of
Charlie Moses", History Today,May 1998.

Lombard's Kop, Action at,

30 October 1899

As 14,000 Boers approached Ladysmith, the British realised that, with some 3,000 fewer troops,
their best chance lay in breaking the developing encirclement. By 28 October a 155mm Creusot gun, a
seriously heavy weapon, had been installed on Pepworth Hill by Assistant Commandant-general
Erasmus and therefore Pepworth Hill was the objective of the British attack. The real battle,
however, took place to the east of Ladysmith near Lombard's Kop where the British were surprised
by Boer forces. Here, and at Nicholson's Nek, the British were defeated and the survivors forced
back into the town, facing the certainty of a siege. The day was named Mournful Monday.

Pepworth Hill lies some four miles (6.5km) north-east of Ladysmith to the west of the railway
and the road to Dundee. As seen from Ladysmith, Long Hill is to its right on the other side of the
tracks, then comes a shallow valley with the river of Modder Spruit running left to right in front of
some low kopjes until, due east of the town and also four miles distant, the abrupt hump of Lombard's
Kop rises with a lesser one, Gun Hill, in front of it. As the country was well overlooked by Boer
positions, Lieutenant-general Sir George White decided that his forces should move into positions for
attack during Sunday night. Colonel G. G. Grimwood was to secure Long Hill with the 8th Brigade
(1st King's Royal Rifles, Royal Dublin Fusiliers, 1st King's Liverpool and 1st Leicestershires) so that
Colonel Ian Hamilton could use the 7th Brigade (1st Devonshire, 1st Manchester, 2nd Gordon
Highlanders, 5th Dragoon Guards, 18th Hussars and the Imperial Light Horse) first in reserve and
then to take Pepworth Hill. Six field batteries were left in support, and the left flank would be



protected by a force moving towards Nicholson's Nek, while the right was the responsibility of
Major-general Sir John French's Cavalry Brigade (5th Lancers, 19th Hussars and Natal Carbineers).

In the deployment in the early hours of Monday 30 October two of Grimwood's battalions, the
Liverpools and the Dublins, mistakenly followed
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the artillery, leaving Grimwood with only half his men. At dawn the artillery came under heavy
fire from the Boers on Pepworth Hill, and had to be repositioned in order to bring the enemy within
range. Grimwood was then surprised by fire from his rear where Lucas Meyer's men were located on
the other side of Modder Spruit. In fact, Meyer himself was no longer there. He was taken ill and his
command was taken over by Louis Botha who gave here the first indication of his genius as a military
leader.

French moved his men onto Lombard's Kop to support the infantry and they, in turn, had to
endure heavy fire. Hamilton was forced to act in support and soon it became clear that the original
objective of taking Pepworth and Long Hills could not be achieved. To persist here would be to
throw men away needlessly, and so the order to withdraw was given. As the retreat began the Navy
arrived in the form of men of HMS Powerfulwith both heavy and field guns. Three of the latter, 12-
pounders, were on carriages made up from carts under Captain Percy Scott's direction. It was clear to
the sailors that something was going on. As Chief Engineer Sheen remarked, ". . .from the continual
stream of ambulances wagons and dhoolies full of wounded coming down this road from the fight . . .
if a victory was being won, it was at a somewhat heavy price". The naval guns were brought into
action and contributed to the silencing, for the time being, of the Boer guns. The withdrawal was
orderly, but depressing. The action at Nicholson's Nek had been yet more disastrous. It was, indeed,
Mournful Monday for the British and the last chance to forestall a siege at Ladysmith had gone.

See also:
Ladysmith; Nicholson's Nek, Action at.
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London Convention, The,

1884

After the cessation of hostilities at the end of the First Boer War or First War of Independence,
Britain's control of the foreign affairs of the Transvaal was secured by treaty in the London
Convention of 27 February 1884 while the Transvaal retained full internal independence. President



Kruger made it clear that he was signing the treaty under protest.

See also:
Boer War, First.
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Long, Colonel C. J.,

1849-1933

Charles Long became a lieutenant in the Royal Artillery in 1870. He served in the Afghan War of
1878-80 and was commander of the Egyptian Artillery at the Battle of Omdurman in 1898.

Colonel Long was appointed to command the artillery in the Natal Field Force at the outbreak of
the war but when he arrived at Estcourt, was switched to Lines of Communication. He was thus the
man in command of the armoured train in which Winston Churchill was travelling when the Boers
ambushed it and took him prisoner. Long had been satisfied to send the train out unescorted.

At the Battle of Colenso he commanded General Sir Redvers Buller's artillery on the right of the
line. Behaving entirely in accord with the conventions of the day and the tactical manual, he took his
guns well forward and came under devastating fire. He and his men, unwisely holding their ground,
fought gallantly but their casualties were severe and they lost ten 15-pounder guns, for which Buller
removed him from command. Commandant-general Louis Botha, however, commented that in placing
himself between British forces in Colenso Village and the Boers on their right flank, Long had
forestalled a Boer victory. In November 1900 Long commanded a column in the hunt for Christiaan
De Wet. In the First World War he became an inspector of remounts.

See also:
Armoured Train Incident; Colenso, Battle of.
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Lotter, Commandant J. C.

A businessman in Naauwpoort, Cape Colony, before the war, J. C. Lotter led a commando and rode
with Assistant Chief-commandant P. H. Kritzinger. In May 1901 they entered Cape Colony from the
Orange Free State to join Commandant W. D. Fouche. Lotter was wounded at Jackalsfontein, south-
west of Cradock, in an encounter with Lieutenant-colonel E. M. S. Crabbe's column. On 4 September
1901 Lotter's commando was surprised and attacked by Lieutenant-colonel Henry J. Schobell's
column and taken after a brisk fight. Lotter was considered a rebel by the British, who declined to
recognise his claim to recently acquired citizenship of the Orange Free State and produced his



registration as a voter in the Colesberg district to support their view. They tried him on eight charges,
including the murder of unarmed black scouts and treason, and he was found guilty on all counts. He

was taken to Middelburg where sentence was pronounced on 11 October and he was hanged the next
day.

See also:
Scheepers, Commandant Gideon J.
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Press, 1999); Jones, Huw G. and Meurig G. M., 4 Gazetteer of the Anglo-Boer War 1899—1902
(Milton Keynes, The Military Press, 1999).

Lynch, Arthur,

1861-1934

An Australian of Irish extraction, Arthur Lynch led a colourful life which included fighting for the
Boers, being sentenced to death and serving as a Member of Parliament in England.

The Lynch family emigrated from Ireland to Australia during the Gold Rush era and Arthur was
born at Smythesdale, near Ballarat, Victoria. He graduated from Melbourne University with a degree
in engineering and then went to England where he became a journalist. He covered the Ashanti
campaign in West Africa in 1896 and set off for South Africa soon after the outbreak of the Boer War.
Having been commissioned to write for journals in Paris, London and New York, he sailed on the
German vessel Hertzogwhich was stopped at sea by a British warship outside Durban. Lynch was
questioned by the British but then he and the Hertzogwere permitted to proceed to Lourenco Marques.

Commandant-general Louis Botha, whom Lynch met in Johannesburg, told him that his scheme to
report from behind Boer lines was not a practical proposal and Lynch then formed the 1dea of raising
a second Irish Brigade to fight on the Boer side. President Kruger gave his approval and put Lynch in
charge of the Brigade with the rank of colonel. In January 1900 Lynch led his brigade, with French
and German volunteers as the majority of its officers, to join the Boer forces besieging Ladysmith.
The action they saw took place after the town was liberated by the British in February 1900 and as
Buller advanced to the north. They fought at Helpmekaar alongside the Piet Retief commando when
Buller attacked the Boer left flank on 13 May and at Waschbank in the hills between Elandslaagte and
Glencoe on 16 May 1900 against Lieutenant-general Hildyard's 11th infantry brigade. On both
occasions they were compelled to retreat. They then formed part of the force under Assistant
Commandant-general Christiaan Botha holding Langs Nek, a position that was turned by Buller with a
surprise flanking attack at Botha's Pass on 8 June 1900. By this time Lynch's force was taking part in
the defence of Johannesburg, blowing up the bridge at Vereeniging in the face of the advancing
Victorian Mounted Rifles on 26 May and afterwards falling back to the Klipriviers Berg, a range of
hills south-west of Johannesburg. This position had to be abandoned as it was outflanked by the
successful British attack on Doornkop to the west on 29 May. Lynch's depleted force disbanded after
the fall of Pretoria on 5 June 1900.

Lynch went to the United States to promote the Boer cause and then settled in Paris. From there,
in 1901, he stood as candidate for Parliament for the Irish constituency of Galway. His Boer
connections found favour with the electorate and he won, but as there was a warrant issued for his
arrest, he was unable to take up his
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seat. As soon as the war was over Lynch decided to return to England and wrote a letter to The
Timesnewspaper to say so. On 11 June 1902 he was arrested at Dover and charged with treason. It
was said that in January 1903 he achieved the doubtful distinction of being the last man in England to
be sentenced to death by hanging, drawing and quartering; in fact, he was merely to be hanged, a
sentence that was later commuted to life imprisonment. He served only a year of his sentence and
stood for Parliament once more, becoming the member for West Clare. He lost his seat in 1918,
having become thoroughly unpopular in his attempts to recruit Irish troops for service in the First
World War, and died in London in 1934.
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Lyttleton, Major-General Neville G.,

1845-1931

Neville Gerald Lyttleton was one of the few generals to emerge from the Second Boer War with an
enhanced reputation. He took over the command of British troops in South Africa from Lord
Kitchener in 1902.

Lyttleton joined the Rifle Brigade in 1865 and saw active service in India and Egypt. In
September 1898 he commanded one of the two infantry brigades under Kitchener in the Sudan. He
was given command of the 4th Brigade, a brigade of rifle regiments, under Sir Redvers Buller in
Natal. At the Battle of Spioenkop he pressed forward on his own initiative to take Twin Peaks, the
height on the British right from which the Boers were shelling the hilltop. He was ordered to
withdraw when the main hill was abandoned. At the Battle of Vaalkrans his brigade took the first
objective and held it, but was again ordered to withdraw when it became clear that enfilading Boer
shellfire from a Long Tom (Creusot 155mm) jeopardised the position. In the advance to Ladysmith he
commanded the 2nd Division and was thereafter active in the guerrilla phase of the war.

After the war, in the reorganisation of the army high command, he became the first Chief of the
General Staff and promoted training in fieldcraft and marksmanship for both infantry and cavalry,
thereby helping to make the British Regulars a force effective beyond their size in the First World
War.

See also:
Colenso, Battle of; Ladysmith, Siege of; Spioenkop, Battle of, Vaalkrans, Battle of.

Reference:



Hall, Darrell, ed. Fransjohan Pretorius and Gilbert Torlage, The Hall Handbook of the Anglo-Boer
War (Pietermaritzburg, University of Natal Press, 1999).




Page 160

M
MacBride, John,

1865-1916

John MacBride was born in Westport, County Mayo, Ireland and was involved in the anti-British
Fenian movement before moving to South Africa in 1896. On the outbreak of the war he suggested to
President Kruger that he form an Irish Brigade as there were many men of Irish extraction in the South
African Republic (Transvaal). The command of the unit was offered to MacBride, but he declined,
judging himself too inexperienced, and the American former army officer J. Y. F. Blake became
colonel. The Irish fought in Natal in the first part of the war and were then part of the force that
resisted the British advance from Bloemfontein in May 1900. MacBride demonstrated his prowess
with explosives by blowing up every railway bridge between Bloemfontein and Johannesburg. The
Irish took part in the resistance all the way to the eastern border of the Transvaal, their last major
fight being at Bergendal on 27 August 1900, and MacBride left South Africa with many others in
September. He then visited America to promote the Boer cause before taking up residence in Paris
where, on 21 February 1903, he married the Irish actress and radical nationalist, Maude Gonne.
MacBride took part in the Easter Rising against the British in Dublin in 1916, and was captured. He
was executed at 3.47 a.m. on 5 May.

See also:
Blake, Colonel J. Y. F.; Irish.
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Macdonald, Major-General Hector A.,

1853-1903

Hector MacDonald became known to the British public as Fighting Mac. He was summoned to
command the Highland Brigade after its traumatic defeat in December 1899 at the Battle of
Magersfontein and led it successfully for the next year. Soon after taking up a new command in



Ceylon (Sri Lanka), he was accused of homosexual activities and he committed suicide.

Of humble parentage, MacDonald joined the 92nd Gordon Highlanders as a private soldier and
so distinguished himself in the Afghan War of 1879—80 that he was commissioned. It was as a
lieutenant that he fought at Majuba in the First Boer War, eventually resorting to using his fists and
thus gaining the respect of the Boers

¥
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who spared his life. He was summoned from India to assume command of the Highland Brigade
after the death of Major-general Wauchope at the Battle of Magersfontein. He led his brigade at the
Battles of Paardeberg, Sannaspos and in the Brandwater Basin. He left for Ceylon in December 1900.

See also:
Brandwater Basin, Surrender at; Koedoesberg Drift, Battle of; Paardeberg, Battle of; Sannaspos,

Battle of.
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Machadodorp

A town on the Delagoa Bay Railway east of Pretoria, Machadodorp was the seat of the government of
the South African Republic (the Transvaal) from 5 June to 27 August 1900. It then became a British
base. It was attacked without success by Boer commandos under Assistant Commandant-generals B.
J. Viljoen and Tobias Smuts on 7 January 1901.

See also:
Bergendal, Battle of.
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Mafeking, Siege of,

14 October 1899-17 May 1900

Mafeking was a British township from which the Bechuanaland Protectorate was administered,
located on the railway between Cape Colony and Southern Rhodesia, a few miles from the border
with the South African Republic (Transvaal). Its siege was of immense interest in Britain and went
down in history as an example of outstanding British heroism. The events here were, in fact, of small
military significance and the British success owed far more to the black African participation than the
self-promoting and alleged hero of the affair, Colonel R. S. S. Baden-Powell, cared to admit.



However, Baden-Powell was not the ogre that later commentators portray.

In 1899 Mafeking had a population of some 1,500 whites and the adjacent "stadt" or "native"
township of Mafikeng was home to about 5,000 black Africans of the Baralong people. Baden-
Powell had been organising forces in the northern Cape just before the war and when the railway line
was cut at Kraaipan, south of the town, forces there comprised the Protectorate Regiment under
Colonel C. B. Vyvyan and some police, about 700 men, to whom were added about 300 civilians as
the Town Guard. To supplement them about 750 Baralong, Mfengu and others from the black refugees
were recruited. The latter were known as the Black Watch. The only artillery was a pair of 7-pounder
guns. Supplies had been guaranteed
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Weidenfeld & Nicolson, 1979; Abacus, 1992); Plaatje, Sol T., Mafeking Diary (Cambridge,
Meridon, 1990);
Plaatje, Sol T., Native Life in South Africa (London, 1916); Willan, Brian, "The Siege of Mafeking",
in The South African War,ed. Peter Warwick (Harlow, Longman, 1980).

Mafikeng

The black African town adjacent to the white settlement of Mafeking. Both towns were besieged in
what became known as the siege of Mafeking, 1899-1900. The modern town on the site is called
Mafikeng.

Magaliesberg Mountains

The Magaliesbergs run west from Pretoria in the western South African Republic (Transvaal). At the
western end the hills are cut by Olifant's Nek, south of the town of Rustenburg. To the south of the
range, between Johannesburg and Mafeking, stands the Witwatersrand range of hills. The topography
of the region was expertly exploited by the Boers during the guerrilla phase of the war, especially by
Assistant Commandant-general Koos De la Rey and by Chief-commandant Christiaan De Wet.

In August 1900 De Wet was north of the range and, having met President Steyn, intended to
return to the Orange Free State to continue the guerrilla war in his home territory. Olifant's Nek, the
pass by which he had come north, was far to the west and Commando Nek, on the road to Pretoria,
was occupied by the British. On 18 August, as his force rode towards Wolhuterskop, nine miles
(15km) south-west of Brits, they saw the English at a distance and, when two miles away from the
kop, ran into English scouts. They were boxed in against the mountains. De Wet made enquiries of a
black African rousted out of his hut and learned that the mountains had been crossed nearby in the
distant past. They clambered up, leading their horses, slipping on the bare rock, but finally attained
the watershed and were down the other side before dark. A Queensland officer with the British
afterwards claimed to have used this path on the day the British entered Pretoria when carrying
despatches for General French: ". . .I on more than one occasion reported that a regiment could easily
cross there in single file, and with very little delay".

See also:
Nooitgedacht, Battle of; Olifant's Nek.
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Magerstontein, Battle of,

11 December 1899

The defeat of British Lieutenant-general Lord Methuen's forces at Magersfontein prevented the raising
of the siege of Kimberley and was one of three defeats, the others being the battles of Colenso and
Stormberg, that earned this period the name of "Black Week". The battle was a notable example of the
British failure, at this stage of the war, to adapt to modern warfare, but even so was a much less easy
victory for the Boers than many suppose. The resulting furore in the British newspapers led to the
replacement of Sir Redvers Buller as Commander-in-Chief by Lord Roberts. The battle was also an
outstanding demonstration of the effectiveness of high-velocity rifle fire at point-blank range, to the
satisfaction of the Boers and the desolation of the British.

After successful, though unexpectedly costly, actions at Belmont (23
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Seaforths and the adjustment of the latter's position to meet the threat was interpreted by others
as the start of a British withdrawal, though how they thought they could do that under fire 1s hard to
understand. As they started to move back Boer fire intensified, the movement quickened and soon
became a flight. The British had endured hours under a roasting sun and under Boer fire and could do
no more. The Boers made no attempt to exploit the opportunity and the Scots Guards plugged the gap
in the face of the second concentrated Boer artillery fire of the day, the first having been Major
Albrecht's bombardment of Moss Drift to prevent a flanking movement by the British. As evening
approached some Boers shouted to the Highlanders that the wounded were free to go, which they did,
without further harm.

The next day the Boers were still there, as were the British guns and their protecting troops.
Cronj¢é proposed a truce to collect the wounded and bury the dead which lasted until noon, when the
last of the British withdrew. Methuen's force had suffered some 239 men killed, of whom 202 were
Highlanders, 663 wounded (including 496 Highlanders) and 75 taken prisoner. On the Boer side, the
best estimates suggest 87 killed, 149 wounded and 18 taken prisoner. The British settled in on the
Modder and the Boers set about enhancing their positions at Magersfontein. They were to stay there
until, fearing envelopment by Lord Roberts's army in February 1900, they moved east towards
Paardeberg.

See also:
Belmont, Battle of; Colenso, Battle of; Graspan, Battle of; Kimberley, Siege of, Modder River,

Battle of; Paardeberg, Battle of; Rifles; Stormberg, Battle of; Trenches.
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Military Press, 1999); Carver, Michael, The NAM Book of the Boer War (London, Sidgwick &
Jackson, 1999); Duxbury, G. R., The Battle of Magersfontein (Kimberley, McGregor Museum,
1997); Marix Evans, Martin, The Boer War, South Africa 1899—1902 (Oxford, Osprey
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Majuba Hill, Battle of,

27 February 1881

The Boer victory at Majuba, the Hill of Doves, in the First Boer War brought that conflict to a swift
and satisfactory end for the citizens of the South African Republic (Transvaal). This success was
what they sought to repeat when they invaded Natal, passing that battlefield, in October 1899.

The First War Of Independence, as it became known to Afrikaners, was precipitated by matters



of taxation which brought to a head the question of the legitimacy of the British annexation of 1877
and the undertakings given at that time. The British responded to Boer attacks in the Transvaal by
sending forces to Natal and operations in the north of the British colony commenced under Major-
general Sir George Pomeroy-Colley. The war concluded with the defeat of a British force of some
400 men which had occupied the mountain to the west of the pass, Langs Nek, between Natal and the
Transvaal to the north. They were
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attacked and defeated by an equal or marginally greater number of Boers who exploited their
mobility and marksmanship, the memory of which would fade from British minds before the next war.
The losses appeared massive to people back in Britain, although they numbered eighty-six dead and
120 wounded which is not, by modern standards, impressive. Public opinion was in favour of
revenge, but the British government negotiated a peace granting a substantial measure of
independence to the republic.

See also:
Boer War, First.

Reference:

Castle, lan, Majuba 1881 (London, Osprey, 1996);
www.battlefields.c0.za/history/I1st war_of independence

Maps

A major difficulty faced by the British in fighting the Boers was the lack of adequate mapping of the
territory. The Boers were often, quite literally, on home ground and had no need of maps whereas
their enemies were frequently deluded by a false crest of a hill, ignorant of an important ford or drift
or mistaken about distances. This was not an unfamiliar difficulty for soldiers of the Empire, used to
operating by eye and binoculars, but it was nonetheless a problem.

Even in the British colonies, the Cape and Natal, mapping was largely insufficient for military
purposes. The principal aim of what maps there were, cadastral maps, was to record land ownership
and property boundaries rather than topographical features. The huge investment of time and money
needed to do more than this had not been undertaken. The limited amount of military surveying,
producing written descriptions and sketch maps, which was carried out resulted in the publication of
Military Notes on the Dutch Republics of South Africain June 1898, but the most striking
achievement was the work of Major S. C. N. Grant, Royal Engineers, in 1896. Together with that of
Captain W. S. Melville, Leicestershire Regiment, and Captain H. R. Gale, R. E., his work led to the
publication by the Intelligence Department, War Office, of IDWO Number 1223, Military Sketch of
the Biggarsberg and of the Communications in Natal,21 sheets in colour on a scale of one inch to
the mile (1:63,360) in April 1897. The quality of the mapping is good and uses precise contours
instead of the more usual vague shading. Nonetheless, it was, in retrospect, fatally limited as it
covered the area north of Ladysmith as far as Langs Nek on the Transvaal border, and Ladysmith
itself, on sheet 16, is shown in the top left corner with the rest of the sheet blank. Sheet 17 appears to
have been entirely blank. In general, the detail along the roads and railways is good, but the further
away from those one looks, the more vague the information becomes. Moreover, the territory covered
was all taken by the invading Boers in a matter of days in October 1899. Even the field where the


http://www.battlefields.c0.za/history/1st_war_of_independence

Battle of Elandslaagte (21 October 1899) took place was missing, being too far, at two or three miles
from the railway, to be other than a blank. Other maps were produced, almost
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Foulkes was to be responsible for the British work on the development of poison gas as a
weapon.

After the capture of Pretoria in June 1900 Major H. M. Jackson, Royal Engineers, commanding
the mapping section of the Field Intelligence Department, acquired access to the archives of the South
African Republic's surveyor-general. He was therefore able to produce a new map, IDWO No. 1495,
to accompany Lord Roberts's report of 14 August 1900, after the Battle of Diamond Hill (or
Donkerhoek). This was the first of a series of 62 maps covering the Transvaal and the Orange Free
State as well as parts of the British colonies, published in monochrome on a scale of 2.35 miles to the
inch (1:148,000), actually 1,000 Cape Roods to the inch. They were something of an improvement on
the IDWO No. 1367 series, but remained fairly primitive even for strategic planning and were useless
for tactical work. Further developments followed, such as the production of a companion series to the
Imperial Map of South Africacovering Cape Colony undertaken by No. 2 Survey Section in May
1900.

Contemporary British descriptions of events relate closely to the IDWO No. 1367 or IDWO No.
1495 maps, including the spelling of place-names. The maps used in the official British history of the
war were the product of Nos. 3 and 4 Survey Sections which arrived in 1902. Since then many
changes have taken place, particularly as a result of the standardisation of Afrikaans spelling in the
1950s. In the 1980s and 1990s the rendering of place-names often reverted to the original language,
although local signs and modern maps may still retain earlier versions.

See also:
Bergendal, Battle of; Colenso, Battle of; Diamond Hill, Battle of; Magaliesberg Mountains;
Magersfontein, Battle of; Modder River, Battle of; Talana, Battle of; Vaalkrans, Battle of.
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Martial Law

Sir Alfred Milner's eagerness to achieve political control of the former Boer republics as head of a
civil administration was frustrated by the flowering of the guerrilla war and the necessity of
maintaining a military presence, and thus martial law, throughout the land.

As the British occupied the Boer republics the territories came under martial law. In May 1900
Sir Alfred Milner ceased to be governor of Cape Colony and assumed the post of governor of the
Transvaal in order to impose British political control and bring back refugees to resume their



occupations in the gold mines. This brought him into conflict, none the less real for being conducted
with courtesy, with the British Commander-in-Chief, Lord Roberts. On 10 May Milner sought to open
discussions of the civil power taking over
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the policing of the Transvaal, but guerrilla warfare was starting, keeping the whole land a war
zone. The British need to retain the services of local volunteers could not be squared with allowing
others in to do their former jobs, while, at the same time, the refugees not in military service could not
see why they should be prevented from returning. The formation of the South African police force, the
South African Constabulary, was mooted in July 1900 and began later that year under the command of
the hero of Mafeking, Colonel Baden-Powell. In the event it was employed as an arm of the military
power, leaving Milner as frustrated as ever.

See also:
Guerrilla War.
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Surridge, Keith, Managing the South African War 1899-1902: Politicians v. Generals (London,
The Royal Historical Society/The Boydell Press, 1998).

Mashonaland

The area in what became Rhodesia occupied by the Shona people. They were obliged to share this
area with the migrating Ndebele who established themselves in what became known as Matabeleland.
After the failure of Dr Starr Jameson's raid on Johannesburg in 1895, the Shona and the Ndebele rose
up and killed many settlers. Whereas Cecil Rhodes negotiated a form of peace with the Ndebele, the
Shona proved less amenable and fought on. They were forced into unconditional surrender and their
chiefs killed.

Reference:
Troup, Freda, South Africa: An Historical Introduction (London, Eyre Methuen, 1972).

Matabeleland

The area in Southern Rhodesia that was settled by the Ndebele under a former subordinate of Shaka,
the Zulu leader. Mzilikazi left Shaka in 1822, moving into what became the Eastern Transvaal. He
added Mguni and Sotho refugees to his following and moved as pressures from the Griqua and the
Voortrekkers bore down on him. The country was the target of expansion and exploitation by Cecil
Rhodes and his friend Dr Starr Jameson carried out a raid there in 1893. After Jameson's abortive
raid on Johannesburg in 1895 the Ndebele and the Shona rose up and massacred many settlers.
Rhodes managed to defuse the situation at a great conference in the Matopo hills and a form of



consultative government was established.

Reference:
Troup, Freda, South Africa: An Historical Introduction (London, Eyre Methuen, 1972).

Maxim, Sir Hiram,

1840-1916

The American-born inventor, Hiram Maxim, was the creator of the weapon that did most to change
the nature of warfare in the early 20th century — a reliable machine-gun.

Hiram Stevens Maxim was born on 5 February 1840 in Sangerville, Maine, United States. He
was an inventor of
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genius, taking out a patent, for example, on the carbon filament for the electric light in 1880. He
was sent to Europe as Chief Engineer for the US Electric Lighting Company in 1881. In Vienna a
friend advised the American that, if he wanted to become rich, he should "invent something that will
enable these Europeans to cut each other's throat with greater facility". Maxim set up offices and
works at 57D Hatton Garden, London, and by July 1883 had registered his second patent on a gun, the
first true machine-gun. The next year, he set up the Maxim Gun Company with a steel-maker, Albert
Vickers and they supplied the first reliable guns to the British army in March 1887. These were 0.45-
inch calibre, water-cooled weapons, weighing some 601b (27.25kg).

In July 1888 he amalgamated with the firm of Thorsten Nordenfelt, a Swede, who was building a
handcranked gun designed by Helge Palmcrantz in works on the Thames at Erith, east of Greenwich.
It was not a happy relationship and Nordenfelt resigned from the Maxim Nordenfelt Guns &
Ammunition Company in 1890, but the acquisition of manufacturing capacity continued and by 1893
the company had works at Erith, Crayford, Dartford and Birmingham in England as well as in
Stockholm in Sweden and Placentia in Spain. The firm changed its name to Vickers, Sons and Maxim
Limited on 1 October 1897, but guns were still being stamped Maxim-Nordenfeltlater that year and
possibly into the next. Maxim became a British citizen in 1900 and was knighted in 1901. He became
more interested in his heavier-than-air, steam-powered flying machine, which flew earlier than that of
the Wright brothers, and eventually retired in 1911, upon which the company name was changed to
Vickers Limited. Sir Hiram Maxim died in Streatham, London on 24 November 1916.

See also:
Maxim-Nordenfelt Pom-Pom; Maxim-Vickers Machine-gun.
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Maxim-Nordenfelt Pom-Pom

The 1-pounder (1.457-inch/3.7cm) gun that became known, because of the noise of its steady rate of
fire, as the Pom-Pom was descended from the hand-cranked guns principally intended for use by the
navy. The British soldier was to regret his own army's lack of interest when he encountered the
weapon in the hands of the Boers. They recognised its handiness and mobility in difficult country and
used it, after the British had discovered the wisdom of taking cover, less to inflict damage than to
restrict movement and prevent the return of fire.

The guns manufactured by the French factory of the American designer Hotchkiss and by the
British factory of the Swedish inventor Nordenfelt were turned by hand and thus were vulnerable to,
at best, jamming or, at worst, exploding should a round fail to go off promptly. The guns were,
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lutely at all times under the control of the officer commanding the battalion."

See also:
Maxim, Sir Hiram; MaximVickers Machine-gun.
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Office to Additional Questions on Machine Guns and Pom-Poms asked in Army Orders in
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Maxim-Vickers Machinegun

The invention of the fully automatic quick-firing gun by Hiram Maxim followed an appreciation of the
limitations of existing hand-cranked weapons. It reached the zenith of its effectiveness in the close
conditions of trench warfare during the First World War, but the first opportunity to demonstrate its
powers came in South Africa where it was used mainly as a support weapon for attacking infantry. Its
potential in defence was recognised but the conditions to use it were rarely available.

The first practical machine-gun was the invention of Dr Richard Jordan Gatling, an American
inventor who offered it to his government in 1863. Another American, Hotchkiss, made the next gun
of note and went to France to manufacture it. The guns by Nordenfelt and Gardner followed. These
were all hand operated, three by a crank and one, the Nordenfelt, by a lever like a pump. However,
this method of operation disturbed the aim, and they were all fed from magazines of limited capacity.
Furthermore, because cartridges could not be relied upon to go off at precisely the same interval after
the firing-pin struck them, it was possible for the operator to be caught in the act of extracting a "hang-
fire" cartridge, that is, one that is in the process of exploding. The result is that part of it gets driven
into the breech, jamming the gun, and part can set off the rounds while still in the magazine. Maxim's
gun harnessed the recoil automatically to eject the spent cartridge, chamber a new one, close the
breech block and fire the weapon. A "hang fire" would merely slow the action fractionally. It was an
advance of immense practical importance.

The first true machine-gun was the subject of Hiram Maxim's Patent No. 3493 of 16 July 1883
and he was supplying the British army with his guns by March 1887. These were 0.45-inch water-
cooled weapons, weighing 601b (27.25kg). At the same time, smokeless powder was replacing black
powder in the wake of the French decision to adopt the new propellant in 1885. Maxim's re-design
produced the .45 calibre "world standard" version of which 120 were delivered in 1890. The calibre
of the chamber was influenced by that of the guns already in use. The Royal Navy, for example, had
been using, and was still using, .45 Gardners and Nordenfelts, and so had .45 ammunition. The
Maxims were therefore similarly chambered. In 1891 the British adopted the "small" .303 bullet with



smokeless powder. The Maxim of the same calibre came into production at Enfield in July 1893 and
the older guns were converted from February 1899.
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The rate of fire was 500 rounds a minute, but as the belts had 250 rounds and as firing had to be
in bursts to avoid overheating, this figure is somewhat academic.

The weapon attracted considerable interest. When the Chinese Ambassador to London, Li Hung
Chang, wanted to see a demonstration, Maxim rented the estate of Mrs Beeton, of cookery book fame,
in order to have trees to cut down with machine-gun fire. In 1891 John Moses and Matthew Browning
patented what was manufactured as the Colt air-cooled gas-hammer machine-gun which Maxim did
his best to discredit. At the same time he designed his own air-cooled lightweight model, the "Extra
Light" which weighed 271b (12,25kg) by itself and 44.51b (20kg) with tripod. It was not a great
success.

The evaluation of the Maxim by the army was generally favourable. The Reports on Equipment
from South Africa: Machine Guns (57/Cape/8122) was a compilation of replies to set questions.
There was consistent complaint of jamming, probably the result of dirt and dust or of faulty
ammunition, and of maladjustment of the spring, which suggests insufficient training of the men. The
Colt and Hotchkiss found favour because, being air-cooled, they were light, and, overall, the tripod
and pack-horse configuration was preferred to the Dundonald carriage which was unstable. Almost
all commentators pointed out the machinegun's power as a defensive weapon, a message that, by the
First World War, was forgotten.

See also:
Maxim, Sir Hiram; Maxim-Nordenfelt Pom-Pom.
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Maximov, Colonel Yevgeny Yakovlevich,

1849-1904

Maximov was an example of the restless adventurers who divided their time between military service
and quixotic expeditions. He served briefly in the war on the side of the Boers, but, like the majority
of foreign volunteers, achieved little of significance although he left behind a good story.

Yevgeny Maximov was born in St Petersburg, Russia and joined the Life Guards Mounted
Grenadier Regiment in 1869. His varied career included a period of service in the Russian
Gendarmerie from 1881 to 1884, which would lead many of his countrymen to treat him with
suspicion. In 1896 he was denied entry into Ethiopia with a Russian Red Cross mission but contrived



to get there anyhow. He then threw himself into the conflict between Turks and Greeks on the side of
the latter. He went to South Africa to support the Boers and attempted to raise a force of volunteers,
but failed. In March 1900 he was offered the post of second-in-command of the European Legion by
Colonel Count Georges de Villebois-Mareuil and Maximov had started to perform his duties when
Villebois-Mareuil was killed at the Battle of Boshof on 5 April. The European
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Legion broke up and Maximov took command of the Hollander Corps. On 30 April they were
engaged at Thaba 'Nchu and Maximov was seriously wounded. Declared unfit for further service, he
left the country at the end of May. Maximov was killed in the war between Russia and Japan.

See also:
Boer Forces; Thaba 'Nchu; Villebois-Mareuil, Colonel Count Georges de.
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Medical Services

The medical facilities in support of both British and Boer armies in the formal, set-piece phase of the
war were excellent. The wounded were usually removed to field hospitals quite quickly and aseptic
surgery and general anaesthetics were employed. However, in the mobile warfare of the guerrilla
period treatment was often delayed and the Boers were not able to support their men with medical
help, so they left their wounded behind, confident that they would be treated by the British, as they
were. The problem the British found far more difficult to deal with was the outbreak of enteric or
typhoid fever caused by polluted water. Twice as many British died of disease as fell to Boer action.

The British Royal Army Medical Corps was established in 1898 under the aegis of Lord
Lansdowne, Secretary of State for War. There were twenty-eight field ambulances or hospitals, that
is, mobile units, five stationary hospitals and sixteen general hospitals in which 22,000 troops were
treated for wounds or injuries. The wounded were brought in by stretcher-bearers (among whom
were the men of the Indian Ambulance Corps) and subjected to the process of triage. This divided
them into three groups: those lightly wounded who could wait for treatment; those severely wounded
and unlikely to survive who were given pain relief; and those badly wounded but possible to save
who received immediate attention.

X-rays were used to locate bullets in the body and flesh wounds were usually successfully
handled, but chest and abdominal wounds were less so. Shock was not understood and blood
transfusions could not be performed as the discovery of blood groups came only in 1902.

The Boer forces were supported for the first part of the war by their existing civilian hospitals
and by the volunteer ambulance units sent from overseas. Later in the war some formations had a
doctor of their own, such as Dr von Rennenkampf who treated the wounded Lord Methuen when Koos
De la Rey defeated him at Tweebosch on 7 March 1902. Others relied on the British to look after
their wounded.

See also:



Conan Doyle, Arthur; Indian Ambulance Corps.

Reference:

Lee, Emmanoel, 7o the Bitter End (London, Viking, 1985); Treeves, Frederick, The Tale of a Field
Hospital (London, Cassell, 1900).




Page 182

Methuen, Lieutenant-General Lord,

1845-1932

Paul Sanford, third Baron Methuen, joined the Scots Guards in 1864 and served in the Ashanti
Expeditionary Force in 1874 and the Bechuanaland Expedition of 1884—85. In November 1899 he
arrived to assume command of the 1st Army Corps in the western theatre and fought, in swift
succession, the Battles of Belmont, Graspan, Modder River and Magersfontein. The latter was a
failure, one of the defeats of "Black" Week, as the British press called it. He was active throughout
the guerrilla phase of the war, defeating the European Legion at Boshof on 5 April 1900 and being
defeated by Koos De la Rey at Tweebosch on 7 March 1902. He became friends with De la Rey after
the war. In 1908 he became General Officer Commanding forces in South Africa.

See also:
Belmont, Battle of; Boshof, Battle of; Graspan, Battle of; Magersfontein, Battle of; Modder
River, Battle of; Tweebosch, Battle of.
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Meyer, General Lucas,

18461902

In 1884 Lucas Johannes Meyer became President of the New Republic, a territory of some 3,000
square miles (7,500 sq km) granted to the Boers by the Zulu chief Dinzulu in recognition of Boer help
against the Mandhlakazi. Britain recognised the republic two years later, but in 1888 it merged with
the Transvaal. Meyer was well disposed to the uitlandersand opposed the policies of President
Kruger, but when war broke out he fought for the Boers. He fought at the Battle of Talana but fell i1l
outside Ladysmith within the next two weeks and thereafter played only a modest part in affairs.

See also:
Lombard's Kop, Action at; Talana, Battle of.
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Middelburg, Conference at,

28 February 1901

The peace discussions at Middelburg produced concrete proposals that were approved by the British
Government in London. The position of black Africans was to be more to the Boer liking, but their
allies in the British colonies were left in jeopardy and the terms were therefore rejected. However,
they were used as a benchmark in later talks.

After a series of overtures starting in November 1900, a meeting was finally arranged in the
town of Middelburg on the Delagoa Bay railway east of Pretoria, between the British Commander-in-
Chief, Lord Kitchener
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and one of the Boer leaders, Commandant-general Louis Botha. Peace terms were discussed,
including an ex gratiapayment of one million pounds to the Boers and a general amnesty associated
with Crown Colony status for the former republics. There was no question of a grant of
independence. In his letter of 7 March, summarising the terms as modified by the Colonial Secretary,
Joseph Chamberlain, Kitchener also wrote: "As regards the extension of the franchise to Kaffirs in the
Transvaal and Orange River Colony, it is not the intention . . . to give such franchise before
representative government is granted to those Colonies, and if then given will be so limited as to
secure the just predominance of the white race. The legal position of coloured persons will, however,
be similar to that which they hold in Cape Colony." On 16 March he received a message from Botha
rejecting the terms, apparently because the Boers the British regarded as rebels in Cape Colony were
not subject to the amnesty.

See also:
Peace Negotiations; Documents: The Middelburg Proposals.
Reference:

Pakenham, Thomas, The Boer War (London, Weidenfeld & Nicolson, 1979; Abacus, 1992).

Military Attachés

The war attracted considerable attention from the military of other countries. Attachés from America,
France, Germany and Japan accompanied both British and Boer forces and Norway and Russia had
men with the Boer armies. The Germans went as far as publishing their own account of the war, but
only to the end of 1900, thereby neglecting the guerrilla phase.
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Great General Staff, Berlin, translated by Hubert du Cane and W. H. H. Waters, The War in South
Africa (London, John Murray, 1902; New York, Negro Universities Press, 1969).

Milner, Lord,

1854-1924

In 1897 the then Sir Alfred Milner was appointed Governor of the Colony of the Cape of Good Hope
and High Commissioner for South Africa. He promoted the crisis that led to war in 1899 in order to
make a union of South African colonies ruled by Britain possible, and acted to influence peace



proposals accordingly. He was an unashamed, indeed a proud, imperialist.

Alfred Milner was born in Germany and educated there and in England. He was a brilliant
scholar at Oxford and became a lawyer. He had experience in government in Egypt, and after the
fiasco of the Jameson Raid which ended in triumph for the Boers in 1896, the British required a man
of strong vision and political reliability in South Africa. In order to undermine President Kruger's
power, he pressed the cause of the uit/landers,the foreigners who had flooded into the South African
Republic after the discovery of gold and now found themselves without the vote and heavily taxed. At

the Bloemfontein Conference in 1899 he stood firm against any pro
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posals that might receive Kruger's approval and when the war came at last, he welcomed it.
Milner was fully aware of the fighting ability of the Boers and was prepared to endure the cost of the
war. He was created Baron Milner of St James's and of Capetown by the King on 24 May 1901
during a visit to England.

During the final peace negotiations Milner attempted to keep the British Commander-in-Chief,
Lord Kitchener in check as the latter was keen to negotiate an agreement that would promote
reconciliation between the white peoples of South Africa. Neither paid any attention to the original
contention that the war was, to some extent at least, intended to protect the civil rights of other
sections of the population. After the war Milner was instrumental in restoring the broken economy of
South Africa, but was undone by another crisis in the gold mines. The need for underground workers
was met by the importation of Chinese indentured labourers, who were so much resented by the
uitlandersthat Boer and British found a common political cause in a racial issue and united against
the colonial power. The Chinese were flogged "like Africans" which raised a storm in London. Beset
from both sides, Milner resigned in 1905. He returned to government in 1914 to serve on various
committees concerned with the conduct of the First World War and became a member of the War
Council in 1916. He